
Philip Bostock, Chief Executive 

Bindu Arjoon, Assistant Chief Executive  

 

Civic Centre, Paris Street, Exeter, EX1 1JN 

Tel: 01392 277888        www.exeter.gov.uk 

Direct dial: 01392 265110 

Fax: 01392 265265 

email: rowena.whiter@exeter.gov.uk 

Our ref:  

Your ref: 

 

 

To the Chair and Members  

of the Executive 
 

 

 

 

A meeting of the EXECUTIVE will be held in the Rennes Room, Civic Centre, Paris Street, Exeter at 

5.30 pm on MONDAY 11 FEBRUARY 2008 to consider the following business.  If you have an 

enquiry regarding any items on this agenda, please contact Rowena Whiter, Member Services 

Manager on Exeter 265110. 

 

Entry to the Civic Centre can be gained through the Customer Service Centre, Paris Street.  

 

 Pages 

 A G E N D A 

 

 Part I: Items suggested for discussion with the press and public present 

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (MINUTE 13) 

 

 

 Councillors are reminded of the need to declare personal and prejudicial interests, 

including the nature and extent of such interests, in relation to business on the 

agenda, before any discussion takes place on the item.  Councillors requiring 

clarification should seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer prior to the day of 

the meeting.  

 

 

2. LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 - 

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

 

 

 It is considered that the Committee would be unlikely to exclude the press and 

public during consideration of any of the items on the agenda, but if it should wish 

to do so, the following resolution should be passed:- 

 

RECOMMENDED that, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 

1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the consideration of 

the particular item(s) on the grounds that it (they) involve(s) the likely disclosure 

of exempt information as defined in the relevant paragraphs of Part 1, Schedule 

12A of the Act 

  

 

 



 

3. GENERAL FUND REVENUE ESTIMATES AND CAPITAL 

PROGRAMME 2008/09 TO 2010/11(MINUTE 14) 

 

 

 To consider the report of the Head of Treasury Services. 

 

Scrutiny Committee – Resources considered the proposed estimates and capital 

programme at their meeting on 23 January 2008 and their comments will be 

reported. 

 

 (Estimates and Fees and Charges to be circulated separately to Members) 

 

 (Report circulated)  

 

1 - 36 

4. ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY 2008-2009 (MINUTE 15) 

 

 

 To consider the report of the Head of Treasury Services. 

 

Scrutiny Committee – Resources considered the report at their meeting on 23 

January 2008 and their comments will be reported. 

 

 (Report circulated)   

 

37 - 42 

5. THE PRUDENTIAL CODE FOR CAPITAL FINANCE IN LOCAL 

AUTHORITIES (MINUTE 16) 

 

 

 To consider the report of the Head of Treasury Services. 

 

 (Report circulated)  

 

43 - 62 

6. REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL'S GENERAL POLICY IN RESPECT OF 

HEALTH AND SAFETY AT WORK (MINUTE 17) 

 

 

 To consider the report of the Head of Environmental Health Services and the Head 

of Human Resources. 

 

Scrutiny Committee – Resources considered the report at their meeting on 23 

January 2008 and their comments will be reported. 

 

 (Report circulated)  

 

63 - 80 

7. DRAFT SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT - HOUSEHOLDER 

EXTENSIONS DESIGN GUIDE (MINUTE 18) 

 

 

 To consider the report of the Head of Planning Services. 

 

 (Report circulated)  

81 - 110 



 

8. ADOPTION OF SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE - STUDENT 

ACCOMMODATION DEVELOPMENTS IN RESIDENTIAL AREAS 

(MINUTE 19) 

 

 

 To consider the report of the Head of Planning Services. 

 

 (Report circulated) 

  

 

111 - 126 

9. REPORT OF PANEL - DRAFT REGIONAL SPATIAL STRATEGY FOR 

THE SOUTH WEST (MINUTE 20) 

 

 

 To consider the report of the Director Economy and Development. 

 

 (Report circulated)   

 

127 - 136 

10. AUTHORISED SIGNATORIES FOR AFFORDABLE HOUSING 

SCHEMES (MINUTE 21) 

 

 

 To consider the report of the Head of Housing Services. 

 

 (Report circulated)   

 

137 - 138 

11. COUNCILLORS ALLOWANCES 2008/09 (MINUTE 22) 

 

 

 To consider the report of the Assistant Chief Executive. 

 

 (Report circulated)  

 

139 - 152 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING  

 

 The next scheduled meeting of the Executive will be held on Tuesday 18 

March 2008 at 5.30 pm in the Civic Centre.  

 

 

 

 

A statement of the executive decisions taken at this meeting will be produced and made available as 

soon as reasonably practicable after the meeting. It may be inspected on application to the 

Customer Service Centre at the Civic Centre or by direct request to the Member Services Manager 

on 01392 265110.  Minutes of the meeting will also be published on the Council’s web site as soon 

as possible. 

 

 

Membership - 

Councillors Edwards (Chair), D Baldwin, Boyle, Dixon, Mrs Henson, Mrs Morrish, Sheldon, 

Shepherd and P A Smith 

 



 

 

Find out more about Exeter City Council services by looking at our web site 

http://www.exeter.gov.uk.  This will give you the dates of all future Committee meetings and tell you 

how you can ask a question at a Scrutiny Committee meeting.  Alternatively, contact the Member 

Services Officer on (01392) 265115 for further information. 

 

Individual reports on this agenda can be produced in large print on 

request to Member Services on 01392 265111. 
 



  

EXETER CITY COUNCIL 

 

EXECUTIVE  

11 FEBRUARY 2008 

 

GENERAL FUND REVENUE ESTIMATES AND CAPITAL PROGRAMME FOR 

2008/09 TO 2010/11 

 

 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

 

1.1 To approve the General Fund revenue estimates for 2008/09 and to recommend the 

Band D level of Council Tax for 2008/09. This report also includes the proposed 

Capital Programme for 2008/09 and future years, and a note of the proposals in 

respect of the Housing Revenue Account. 

 

2. BACKGROUND 

 

2.1 At its meeting of 20 November 2007, the Executive approved a budget strategy based 

upon key assumptions including the likely level of available resources and the 

proposed new revenue bids and other identified spending pressures. This strategy, 

including the revised medium term financial plan, indicated that the Council can 

afford to fund its proposed spending plan in the short term to medium term by 

utilising some of its balances and reserves. However there are a number of spending 

pressures that the Council needed to be made aware of. In particular the impact of 

borrowing to fund the Council’s future capital programme will add more pressure to 

the revenue budget in future years. Implicit within the budget strategy and medium 

term financial plan is the requirement to identify ongoing cashable efficiency savings.  

  

2.2 The latest Comprehensive Spending Review (CSR07) has indicated a tough financial 

settlement for Local Government for the next three years. There will be an aggregate 

increase in external grant funding of 4.2% in 2008/09, 3.5% in 2009/10, and 3.45% in 

2011/12. This amounts to a real terms increase of 1.5%, 0.8%, and 0.7% over the CSR 

period. Given that the Government’s priorities will continue to be for Education and 

Social Care, the actual grant increases for district council services are considerably 

less than this. The CSR07 has also indicated a significant reduction in the Local 

Authority Business Growth incentive (LABGI) grant funding from £1 billion in 

CSR04 to £150 million in CSR07. There will be total LABGI funding available of 

£50 million for 2009/10 and £100 million available in 2010/11, with no funding 

outlined for 2008/09. To date Exeter City Council has benefited greatly from this 

funding having received £465,108 for 2005/06, £923,941 for 2006/07, and the current 

budget estimates a further £1.5 million for this (2007/08) financial year. 

 

2.3 The assumptions made in the budget strategy with regard to the Formula Grant 

support from the Government were over optimistic. The Government has now 

announced the final local government finance settlement for 2008/09.  For Exeter the 

guideline figure is as follows: 

 

• Formula Grant  £11,892,916 (increase 1.4 % against ‘adjusted’ 2007/08 grant ) 

 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



  

 The provisional settlement now indicates that in cash terms our grant will increase by 

£164,109 against the adjusted 2007/08 grant amount of £11,728,807. 

 

3. KEY BUDGET ASSUMPTIONS  

 

3.1 In producing the Council’s medium term financial plan and annual revenue budget a 

number of factors have to be taken into consideration. Economic factors outside our 

control such as inflation, interest rates, and economic growth etc. can have a huge 

impact upon the Council’s overall financial position. Consequently it is necessary to 

make a number of assumptions on such issues so that a meaningful financial plan can 

be produced.  

 

3.2 The revenue estimates for 2008/09 include the following assumptions: 

 

• Pay    2.5% 

• General Inflation  Nil (see para 3.3 below) 

• Income    3.0% 

• Interest on Investments 5.75%  

 

3.3 As a means of finding efficiency savings many non-pay budgets will not be fully 

increased for inflation. There will be some exceptions to this in particular where there 

are ongoing contractual arrangements in place and where the Council has to meet the 

full price increase e.g. insurance, fuel and electricity. The Retail Price Index (RPI) for 

November 2007 was 4.3% whilst in the same month the Consumer Price Index (CPI) 

was 2.1%. Although the Government no longer produce targets for the RPI it is still 

used to determine increases in pensions, benefits and pay negotiations. The 

Government’s current target for CPI is 2%. 

  

3.4 With regard to interest rates the UK base rate has gradually increased from 4.75% in 

August 2006 to 5.75% in July 2007 before reducing to 5.5% in December 2007. 

Although the overall growth and interest rate expectations of the United Kingdom 

economy remain uncertain most analysts are now predicting further decreases in 

interest rates next year. Based upon the Council achieving a 5.75% return on its cash 

investments next year, this will yield around £1.3 million in the Council’s General 

Fund budget. A small change of only 0.1% either way from this assumption would 

lead to either an increase or reduction of income of around £23,000.  

 

4. LOCAL GOVERNMENT FINANCE SETTLEMENT 2008/09 
 

4.1 As indicated above the final grant settlement includes a notification of our likely grant 

for next year. The City Council’s final grant settlement for 2008/09 is £11.893 million 

and this represents an overall cash increase of £0.229 million (2.0%) compared to the 

current year (£11.664 million). The Council’s adjusted formula grant for 2007/08 to 

enable a like for like comparison is £11.729 million. On this basis our grant settlement 

for 2008/09 equates to a year-on-year cash increase of £0.164 million (1.4%).  

 

4.2 This final grant settlement is less than we were originally forecasting and it would 

appear to be a very disappointing settlement for the City Council in comparison with 

recent years’ grant settlements. The provisional grant settlement figures for 2009/10 

and 2010/11 were also announced at the same time. They indicate an even tougher 

Page 2



  

settlement with yearly grant increases of only 0.9% and 0.8% respectively. The 

attached Appendix 1 shows as a comparison the grant settlement figures for all Devon 

authorities covering this latest spending review period.  

 

5. CONCESSIONARY TRAVEL 

 

5.1 The grant allocations for concessionary travel have also been announced. Exeter will 

receive £647,000, £663,000, and £681,000 respectively for the next 3 years. Although 

this is slightly better than the ‘worst case’ scenario (£408,000) of funding options it is 

also far from the best case option for Exeter of an extra £1.2 million grant. At the 

moment it is hoped that this extra grant will cover the costs of the new national 

concessionary travel scheme that takes affect from April 2008. 

 

6. FURTHER ISSUES TO BE CONSIDERED 

 

6.1 Before any final recommendations could be made about the level of council tax a 

number of other issues have required consideration as follows: -  

 

• Central Government advice on the level of Council Tax 

• Future spending pressures and review of the medium term financial planning 

process 

• The level of reserves and balances 

 

7. COUNCIL TAX  

 

7.1 Council tax in England increased by an average of 4.2% in 2007/08 compared to 4.5% 

in 2006/07. In comparison with this Exeter City Council increased its band D council 

tax in 2007/08 from £106.93 to £110.03, an increase of £3.10 (2.9%). This meant that 

Exeter had set the 4
th
 lowest council tax out of all the other (238) English District 

Councils.  

 

7.2 The Government has already stated its intention of keeping council tax increases to 

low single figures and have previously used their capping powers to restrict local 

authorities’ budgets. This has been taken into account when formulating the Council’s 

Medium Term Financial Plan. The latest Budget Strategy approved by Executive in 

November 2007 now includes an assumption that council tax will increase by no more 

than 4.5% for the next 3 financial years. 

 

8. FUTURE SPENDING PRESSURES AND REVIEW OF THE MEDIUM TERM 

FINANCIAL PLANNING PROCESS (APPENDIX 2) 

 

8.1 The Council has a medium term financial strategy that forms an integral part of its 

formal financial planning processes. The key elements of this strategy form part of the 

overall Budget Strategy that is approved by Council each year.  As a brief reminder 

the Medium Term Financial Strategy contains the following key points: 

 

• It sets out a 4 year revenue financial plan (covering the period to 2010/11) 

• Identifies the likely level of grant support from the government 

• Sets out the likely level of future council tax increases 

• Identifies future service cost variations 

Page 3



  

• Identifies level of future investment income 

• Takes into account the revenue consequences of our Capital Strategy 

• Identifies the future amount of efficiency savings/cost reductions required for a 

balanced budget  

 

8.2 An updated revenue financial plan covering the period 2007/08 to 2010/11 is attached 

in Appendix 2. 

 

8.3 Although the Council is required to approve an annual revenue budget it does also 

need to take into account future spending pressures and the likely level of available 

resources covered by its medium term financial plan. The medium term position has 

worsened since the earlier strategy that was presented to the Executive in November 

due to the less favourable grant settlement. In the medium term, assuming that there 

are no major changes in service delivery, the Council will need to identify significant 

ongoing efficiency savings in order to deliver a balanced budget within its overall 

available resources. The revised plan indicates that efficiency savings of £700,000 in 

2009/10 and £1 million in 2010/11 will need to be identified and delivered in order to 

have an overall balanced budget position in the medium term. This level of efficiency 

savings will be very challenging to achieve and therefore work has already 

commenced at looking at more efficient ways of working including mobile working 

technology.      

 

8.4 Looking to the longer term there are a number of uncertainties and factors that could 

affect the future financial position. These include: the amount of grant support from 

central government, the level of future years’ pension contributions, potential costs 

arising from the review of service plans, the cost of any new statutory functions, and 

additional borrowing and revenue costs in respect of any new capital programme 

commitments. Any additional revenue costs that are not currently identified within the 

medium term financial plan will have to be met from either additional savings or the 

use of the General Fund Balance.  

 

9. BALANCES AND RESERVES 

 

9.1 Previous advice to members has indicated that the General Fund Balance should 

equate to at least 15% of Exeter’s revenue budget. The latest estimated position of the 

General Fund Balance is that it will be about £4.864 million as at 31 March 2008, 

equivalent to 28.2% of Exeter’s net revenue budget. The council’s revised medium-

term financial plan (Appendix 2) indicates that the General Fund Balance will be 

reduced to around 25% by the end of 2010/11. At the moment it is felt prudent to 

maintain the General Fund Balance above the minimum level to safeguard against any 

future unforeseen budgetary pressures and act as protection against any potential 

shortfall of efficiency savings. In addition, the government is currently reconsidering 

all aspects of the approach used to distribute the remaining resources available for 

Year 3 of the LABGI scheme. As mentioned already in the background of this report, 

the City Council’s current budget includes estimated LABGI funding of £1.5 million 

for the current (2007/08) financial year. This estimate was based upon the likely 

economic growth and the current methodology used to distribute the LABGI 

resources. However if the review of LABGI results in significantly less resources 

being available, the City Council may instead have to consider using a compensating 

amount from its balances to meet the potential shortfall. 

Page 4



  

 

9.2 The Council’s other reserves have been earmarked for specific purposes. In particular, 

the Superannuation Reserve has been earmarked to offset any potential increased 

revenue commitments in respect of our Pension Fund contributions. The Pension 

Fund is revalued every three years with the results of the latest revaluaution due at the 

end of this financial year. However it is currently anticipated that as a result of 

changes that are being made to the Local Government Pension Scheme from next 

year, the Council’s employers contribution rate is not expected to rise significantly.   

 

10. ASSET IMPROVEMENT AND MAINTENANCE (AIM) 

 

10.1  The General Fund budget for 2008/09 includes an overall allowance of £1,750,250 for 

AIM expenditure in order to maintain and service the Council’s non-housing 

properties.  Of this amount £1,292,670 will be allocated to meet on-going revenue 

commitments and £457,580 for high priority service requirements. 

 

11. DEBT RECOVERY 

 

11.1 The City Council is responsible for collecting substantial amounts of money each year 

through council tax, business rates, council house rents and sundry debtors. There are 

robust and efficient recovery processes in place to ensure that the Council maximises 

the collection of all its debt. Performance is also measured and monitored against in-

year collection performance indicators. During 2006/07 (the last complete financial 

year), the in-year collection rates were 97.1% for council tax, 99.0% for business rates 

and 98.8% for housing rents. There is no in-year collection target in respect sundry 

debt. The Council eventually collects more than 99% of all the income that it is due. 

The total amount of debt that was written-off during 2006/07 was £722,906 of which 

£26,430 was for housing rents, £36,247 was in respect of sundry debt, £299,137 was 

for business rates and £431,175 was in respect of council tax. The total amount of 

debt that was due for all these areas in 2006/07 was £125.3 million and the write-offs 

are equivalent to 0.6% of this amount. With regard to council tax in particular, 

£343,581 was in respect of debt that was more than 3 years old. There are no 

significant budgetary implications in respect of these write-offs as the Council has 

previously made adequate provision for bad debts. 

 

12. REVENUE ESTIMATES FOR 2008/09 (APPENDIX 3) 

 

12.1 In total, Service Committee Expenditure for 2008/09 is £18,401,830, which is only 

£149,820 more than the current year. This increase in Service Committee Expenditure 

is summarised below: - 

           £000’s 

 

Service Committee Budget – 2007/08      18,253 

 Increases due to Inflation                 519 

  Service Developments             678 

Increase in housing benefit payments not met by subsidy         483 

 Additional revenue from car parks and commercial properties    (483)       

  Efficiencies and other savings        (1,048) 

  Service Committee Budget – 2008/09       18,402 

Page 5



  

12.2 In addition there are other items to be taken into account that do not form part of the 

individual service controllable budgets that are referred to as ‘below the line’. These 

include an estimate of £1,300,000 for net interest in respect of our overall positive 

cash balances and transfers in respect of balances and reserves. The Council’s total 

General Fund Expenditure budget requirement for 2008/09 is planned to be 

£16,215,173, an increase of £471,243 (3.0%) compared to 2007/08. 

 

13. COUNCIL TAX BUDGET REQUIREMENT 2008/09 (APPENDIX 4) 

 

13.1 When the Formula Grant of £11,892,916 is taken into account the resultant net 

expenditure to be financed from council tax payers is £4,322,257 (as indicated in 

Appendix 3), an increase of £242,257 (5.9%) compared to 2007/08. The resultant 

increase for council tax payers will however be less than this due to the increase in the 

tax base used in the calculation. 

 

13.2 Each year the Council must estimate the likely surplus or deficit position on its 

Collection Fund and any such amounts must be taken into account when determining 

the band D Council Tax amount for 2008/09. For next year the amount that must be 

taken into account by the City Council is a surplus of £8,278.  

 

13.3 As indicated above it is proposed that the net expenditure to be funded by council tax 

payers for 2008/09 is £4,322,257. The surplus of £8,278 must be deducted from this 

amount to give a revised amount to be funded of £4,313,979. When the tax base of 

37,520 divides this amount, the proposed band D council tax for 2008/09 will be 

£114.98, an increase of £4.95 (4.5%) compared with the 2007/08 band D amount of 

£110.03.   

 

14. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA) 

 

14.1 The Government has increased Exeter’s average rent, collected over 52 weeks, by 

£3.02 from £53.05 to £56.07 (5.7%).  The increase reflects a general increase of 3.9% 

together with the continuation of the phased implementation of the Government’s rent 

restructuring policy, which will converge the rents of all social landlords by 2016/17.   

 

14.2 The rent is calculated using a formula linked to 1999 property values in the area 

relative to the national average, local earnings relative to the national average and the 

number of bedrooms in the property. The full effect of the rent convergence is being 

phased in over the period to 2016/17 in order to reduce the impact on individual 

tenants.  

 

14.3 The Exeter City Council HRA Subsidy determination for 2008/09 has been increased 

by the following in line with the number and types of dwellings as at 1
st
 April 2008: 

 

• Maintenance          0.00% 

• Management            2.74% 

• Major Repairs Allowance                   -1.48% 

• Rent (average)         5.22% 

 

 

Page 6



  

In net terms, the subsidy payment to the Department of Communities and Local 

Government has increased by some £897k to £4.426m, this includes the cessation of 

the Rental Constraint Allowance of £211k, which the government paid as 

compensation for limiting the rent increase to 5%. 

 

An additional £4 per dwelling per year has been built into the Management allowance 

per dwelling to fund the production of the Energy Performance certificates for local 

authority stock. The government’s intention is that this is not a one-off allowance for 

2008/09 but it will form a continuing constituent part of the allowance for at least the 

next decade, as certificates will be valid for 10 years. 

 

15.      CAPITAL PROGRAMME RESOURCES (APPENDIX 5) 

 

15.1 The annual capital programme is financed from Government allocated grants together 

with money from the Council’s own capital receipts and capital reserves. However the 

funding from these sources is reducing and from 2008/09 onwards the Council will 

have to use borrowing instead to fund part of its proposed capital programme.  This 

will also have an ongoing impact on the Council’s revenue budget. The current 

revenue cost of borrowing consisting of interest and loan repayments, is about 

£85,000 for each £1 million that is borrowed. The Council must ensure that any 

borrowing decisions remain affordable and to this end, has to adopt a number of 

prudential indicators, which are set out in the Prudential Code for Capital Finance in 

Local Authorities developed by CIPFA.  A separate report to this meeting of the 

Executive sets out the Council’s Prudential Indicators for approval by members.  

 

15.2 The Council will carry forward into 2008/09 approximately £8.4 million of unapplied 

capital receipts, comprising of £7.1 million in respect of the General Fund, and £1.3 

million for the Housing Revenue Account. It is anticipated that further capital funds 

totalling £11.8 million will be received during 2008/09. The Council will therefore 

have capital funds totalling £20.2 million of which £14.4 million will be available for 

General Fund capital scheme and the remaining £5.8 million available for the Housing 

Revenue Account. Appendix 5 sets out the forecast use of the resources available for 

both the General Fund and the Housing Revenue Account and the likely amounts of 

borrowing that will be necessary to fund part of the capital programme. 

 

16. GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME (APPENDIX 6) 

 

16.1 The proposed capital programme is set out in Appendix 6.  The new / previously 

approved schemes total £22.307 million in 2008/09. The capital programme has been 

set out in line with the Council’s strategic objectives, in order to demonstrate how the 

Council’s capital priorities help to contribute towards their achievement. Although a 

number of schemes contribute to the achievement of more than one strategic 

objective, they have been placed under the objective to which it is considered the 

scheme contributes the most. 

 

16.2 In order to help improve overall delivery and monitoring of the capital programme, 

schemes have been placed within two categories, C1 and C2.  Category C1 is for 

those schemes that the Council is committed to and reasonably certain of being able to 

deliver within the planned timescales.  Conversely, Category C2 is for those schemes 

that the Council is committed to but is less certain of being able to deliver due 

Page 7



  

primarily to factors outside of the control of the Council.  It is also acknowledged that 

some schemes would have elements within both categories. 

 

17. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT CAPITAL PROGRAMME (APPENDIX 7) 

 

17.1 For 2008/09 the medium term financial strategy provides for a HRA capital 

programme of £5.802 million. This is funded from: 

• Major Repairs Allowance £3.122 million 

• Revenue Contributions to Capital £0.797 million 

• Capital Receipts £1.883 million 

 

18. RISK ASSESSMENT 

 

18.1 It has already been mentioned above in this report that our financial forecasts are 

based on a number of assumptions including the level of inflation, interest rates, 

income levels, support from the Government and general prevailing economic 

conditions. In addition there are a number of uncertainties that could affect the 

financial position either now or in the future 

 

18.2 Although the Council faces risks from the assumptions and uncertainties outlined in 

this report these have been mitigated by the following: - 

 

• Adopting a prudent approach to financial forecasting which involves obtaining 

information from external professional sources 

 

• Continuous monitoring and review of the key factors together with regular 

reports to Members on any key issues 

 

• Regular stewardship meetings with budget mangers to ensure that budget 

pressures are identified at the earliest opportunity 

 

• The adoption of robust financial management arrangements including option 

appraisal, risk assessment and financial monitoring 

 

• Retaining a prudent level of reserves and balances 

 

18.3 As part of the general budget-setting process the Council needs to also consider the 

risks inherent in the budgets set and the adequacy of the measures put in place to 

manage the potential risks. A risk assessment has been undertaken of the main volatile 

budget areas and this formed part of the budget strategy approved by Executive in 

November. 

 

19. STATEMENT OF THE ROBUSTNESS OF ESTIMATES AND ADEQUACY 

OF RESERVES 

 

19.1 There is a requirement under Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 that 

requires the chief finance officer of a local authority to formally report to its members 

on the robustness of the estimates and the adequacy of its reserves when it is 

considering its budget and council tax. 

 

Page 8



  

19.2 I have already outlined above in this report the key assumptions that have been made 

in the budget proposals for next year including an assessment of the risks and 

mitigating factors. As the chief finance officer for this Council I therefore consider 

that the budget estimates for 2008/09 that have been prepared are both robust and 

achievable.  

 

19.3 With regard to the adequacy of reserves previous advice to members has indicated 

that the General Fund Balance should equate to at least 15% of Exeter’s revenue 

budget. For 2008/09 this would require a balance of about £2.432 million based upon 

a General Fund Expenditure budget of £16,215,173. The latest estimated position of 

the General Fund Balance is that it will be about £4.439 million as at 31 March 2009, 

equivalent to 27.2% of Exeter’s budget. The revenue proposals for 2008/09 indicate 

that a contribution of £424,727 can be made from the Council’s General Fund 

Balance. This will ensure that during the medium term financial plan the General 

Fund Balance remains above the 15% level whilst at the same time ensuring 

prudential financial planning arrangements are in place to alleviate future revenue 

budget pressures.   

 

19.4 The Council’s financial strategy recognises the need to maintain a General Fund 

Balance to provide stability for both medium and longer term planning and to provide 

a contingency against unforeseen events. In setting this amount at 15% of the net 

budget the following have been taken into account: - 

 

• The size of the authority 

• The volatility of some income and expenditure budgets 

• The risks faced by the Council with regard to funding unforeseen events 

• The financial risks inherent in partnerships, outsourcing deals and as 

accountable body for external funding 

 

19.5 The Council’s estimated revenue Reserves are as follows: - 

  

 

 

 

Earmarked 

 

31/03/2007 

£’000 

 

31/03/2008 

£’000 

31/03/2009 

£’000 

Economic Regeneration 206 75 20 

Property Maintenance 782 673 673 

Other earmarked reserves 2,307 2,137 1,730 

Superannuation Reserve 1,761 1,761 1,761 

Total Earmarked Reserves 5,056 4,646 4,184 

 

 

Non-Earmarked 

 

   

General Fund Balance 

 

4,997 4,864 4,439 

 

 

 

Page 9



  

20. PRECEPTS 

 

20.1 Devon County Council, the Devon and Cornwall Police Authority and the Devon and 

Somerset Fire Authority will all precept separately upon the council tax payers in 

Exeter. At this stage their precepts for Band D are recommendations and subject to 

final approval. The County Council, Police Authority and Fire Authority will meet on 

the 14th, 15th and 11th February respectively. The recommendations are: 

 

 2007/08 

£ 

2008/09 

£ 

Change 

      £                 % 

Devon County Council 

Devon and Cornwall Police 

Devon and Somerset Fire Authority 

 

 1,023.93 

    131.73 

      63.45 

 

x,xxx.xx 

xxx.xx 

xx.xx 

  xx.xx           x.xx 

    x.xx           x.xx 

     x.xx          x.xx 

 

Total Precept 1,219.11 1,219.11   54.83           4.71 

 

  

21. FINAL POSITION  

 

21.1 Based upon the recommendations above the aggregate requirements of Exeter City 

Council, Devon County Council, Devon and Cornwall Police Authority and the 

Devon and Somerset Fire Authority will result in a council tax for the City of Exeter 

for 2008/09 of £x,xxx.xx per Band D property.  

  

21.2 This is an overall increase of £xx.xx (x.xx%) on the amount of £x,xxx.xx levied for 

2007/08. 

 

21.3 The detailed figures are: - 

 

  

Band Exeter 

£ 

DCC 

£ 

Police 

£ 

Fire 

£ 

Total 

£ 

A 

B 

C 

D 

E 

F 

G 

H 

  76.65 

  89.43 

102.20 

114.98 

140.53 

166.08 

191.63 

229.96 

 

        

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 10



  

22. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

It is recommended that: 

 

22.1 the Council’s overall spending proposals in respect of both its revenue and capital 

budgets are approved; 

 

22.2 the council tax for each Band be recommended to the Council as set out in section 

21.3, subject to Devon County Council, Devon and Cornwall Police Authority and the 

Devon and Somerset Fire Authority confirming their Band D levels respectively; 

 

22.3 when the actual council tax amounts for Devon County Council, Devon and Cornwall 

Police Authority, and the Devon and Somerset Fire Authority are set then the revised 

council tax levels be submitted to Council on 19 February 2008 for approval; 

 

22.4 Members note the Statement given by the chief finance officer as required under 

Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003.  

 

 

HEAD OF TREASURY SERVICES 

 

     CORPORATE SERVICES DIRECTORATE 

 

 

 

 

 
Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 (as amended) 

Background papers used in compiling this report: 
 
None 

 

Page 11



Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 1

F
O

R
M

U
L

A
 G

R
A

N
T

 I
N

C
R

E
A

S
E

S
 -

 D
E

V
O

N
 A

U
T

H
O

R
IT

IE
S

A
d

ju
s
te

d
 

P
ro

v
is

io
n

a
l

P
ro

v
is

io
n

a
l

P
ro

v
is

io
n

a
l

G
ra

n
t 

In
c
re

a
s
e

G
ra

n
t

G
ra

n
t

G
ra

n
t

G
ra

n
t

2
0
0
7
/0

8
 -

 2
0
1
0
/1

1

A
u

th
o

ri
ty

2
0
0
7
/0

8
2
0
0
8
/0

9
In

c
re

a
s
e

2
0
0
9
/1

0
In

c
re

a
s
e

2
0
1
0
/1

1
In

c
re

a
s
e

£
m

£
m

%
£
m

%
£
m

%
£
m

%

D
e
v
o
n

1
3
5
.4
3
1

1
4
5
.6
3
5

7
.5
%

1
5
3
.3
3
4

5
.3
%

1
6
1
.4
4
7

5
.3
%

2
6
.0
1
6

1
9
.2
%

P
ly
m
o
u
th

9
6
.9
3
3

1
0
0
.7
2
9

3
.9
%

1
0
3
.5
2
0

2
.8
%

1
0
6
.0
6
4

2
.5
%

9
.1
3
1

9
.4
%

T
o
rb
a
y

4
9
.1
2
7

5
3
.3
6
5

8
.6
%

5
6
.3
1
2

5
.5
%

5
9
.1
4
7

5
.0
%

1
0
.0
2
0

2
0
.4
%

E
a
s
t 
D
e
v
o
n

7
.7
2
6

7
.8
1
0

1
.1
%

7
.9
4
8

1
.8
%

8
.1
5
7

2
.6
%

0
.4
3
1

5
.6
%

E
x
e
te

r
1
1
.7

2
9

1
1
.8

9
3

1
.4

%
1
1
.9

9
9

0
.9

%
1
2
.0

8
9

0
.8

%
0
.3

6
0

3
.1

%

M
id
 D
e
v
o
n

5
.8
1
8

5
.9
3
8

2
.1
%

6
.0
5
9

2
.0
%

6
.1
8
6

2
.1
%

0
.3
6
8

6
.3
%

N
o
rt
h
 D
e
v
o
n

7
.7
5
0

7
.9
2
5

2
.3
%

8
.1
0
3

2
.2
%

8
.2
8
7

2
.3
%

0
.5
3
7

6
.9
%

S
o
u
th
 H
a
m
s

5
.3
9
8

5
.4
5
2

1
.0
%

5
.4
8
0

0
.5
%

5
.5
4
9

1
.3
%

0
.1
5
1

2
.8
%

T
e
ig
n
b
ri
d
g
e

9
.4
1
0

9
.5
6
4

1
.6
%

9
.7
2
2

1
.7
%

9
.9
0
5

1
.9
%

0
.4
9
5

5
.3
%

T
o
rr
id
g
e

5
.8
9
7

6
.0
7
6

3
.0
%

6
.2
5
8

3
.0
%

6
.4
3
3

2
.8
%

0
.5
3
6

9
.1
%

W
e
s
t 
D
e
v
o
n

4
.1
3
7

4
.2
0
1

1
.5
%

4
.2
6
6

1
.5
%

4
.3
4
0

1
.7
%

0
.2
0
3

4
.9
%

Page 13



Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank



M
ed

iu
m

T
er

m
R

ev
en

u
e

P
la

n
(2

0
0
7
/0

8
-

2
0
1
0
/1

1
)

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
2

2
0

0
7

-0
8

2
0

0
8

-0
9

2
0

0
9

-1
0

2
0

1
0

-1
1

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

R
es

o
u

rc
es C
en

tr
al

G
o

v
er

n
m

en
t

S
u

p
p

o
rt

1
1

,6
6

4
1

1
,8

9
3

1
1

,9
9

9
1

2
,0

8
9

L
o

ca
l

A
u

th
o

ri
ty

B
u

si
n

es
s

G
ro

w
th

In
ce

n
ti

v
e

G
ra

n
t

1
,5

0
0

0
1

0
0

2
0

0

C
o

u
n

ci
l

T
ax

(4
.5

%
)

4
,0

8
0

4
,3

2
2

4
,5

7
6

4
,8

5
3

L
ik

el
y

re
so

u
rc

es
1

7
,2

4
4

1
6

,2
1

5
1

6
,6

7
5

1
7

,1
4

2

E
x

p
en

d
it

u
re

S
er

v
ic

e
ex

p
en

d
it

u
re

C
o

m
m

it
te

e
ex

p
en

d
it

u
re

b
as

e
b

u
d

g
et

1
6

,4
1

2
1

8
,2

5
3

1
8

,4
0

2
1

7
,8

7
7

In
fl

at
io

n
5

4
9

5
1

9
5

2
3

5
0

8

In
cr

ea
se

in
se

rv
ic

e
co

st
s

1
,7

1
2

1
,1

6
1

2
0

9
9

8
6

Id
en

ti
fi

ed
S

av
in

g
s

/
ad

d
it

io
n

al
in

co
m

e
(4

2
0

)
(1

,5
3

1
)

(5
5

7
)

(6
)

A
d

d
it

io
n

a
l

re
d

u
ct

io
n

s
re

q
u

ir
ed

(7
0

0
)

(1
,0

0
0

)

1
8

,2
5

3
1

8
,4

0
2

1
7

,8
7

7
1

8
,3

6
5

S
u

p
p

le
m

en
ta

ry
B

u
d

g
et

s
1

,0
8

6

Q
tr

2
U

n
d

er
sp

en
d

(5
5

)

R
ev

en
u

e
C

o
n

tr
ib

u
ti

o
n

to
C

ap
it

al
2

0

A
IM

5
8

L
G

R
T

ra
n

si
ti

o
n

al
C

o
st

s
1

8
6

1
9

,5
4

8
1

8
,4

0
2

1
7

,8
7

7
1

8
,3

6
5

O
th

er
fu

n
d

in
g

In
v
es

tm
en

t
in

te
re

st
(1

,3
4

0
)

(1
,3

0
0

)
(1

,2
0

0
)

(1
,1

0
0

)

C
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
to

/
(f

ro
m

)
ea

rm
ar

k
ed

re
se

rv
es

(8
3

1
)

(4
6

2
)

0
0

C
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
to

/
(f

ro
m

)
b

al
an

ce
s

-
O

th
er

5
3

(4
2

5
)

(2
)

(1
2

3
)

C
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
to

/
(f

ro
m

)
b

al
an

ce
s

-
L

G
R

(1
8

6
)

0

U
se

o
f

S
u

p
er

an
n

u
at

io
n

re
se

rv
e

0
0

0
0

(2
,3

0
4

)
(2

,1
8

7
)

(1
,2

0
2

)
(1

,2
2

3
)

T
o

ta
l

N
et

B
u

d
g

et
1

7
,2

4
4

1
6

,2
1

5
1

6
,6

7
5

1
7

,1
4

2

0
0

(0
)

(0
)

O
p

en
in

g
G

en
er

al
F

u
n

d
B

al
an

ce
4

,9
9

7
4

,8
6

4
4

,4
3

9
4

,4
3

7

C
lo

si
n

g
G

en
er

al
F

u
n

d
B

al
an

ce
4

,8
6

4
4

,4
3

9
4

,4
3

7
4

,3
1

4

B
al

an
ce

as
a

p
er

ce
n

ta
g
e

o
f

b
u

d
g
et

2
8

.2
%

2
7

.4
%

2
6

.6
%

2
5

.2
%

Page 15



Page 16

This page is intentionally left blank



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 3

 

D
R

A
F

T
 2

0
0

8
/0

9
 G

E
N

E
R

A
L

 F
U

N
D

 E
S

T
IM

A
T

E
S

2
0
0
7
/0

8
2
0
0
8
/0

9

B
U

D
G

E
T

B
U

D
G

E
T

£
£

£
%

S
c
ru

ti
n

y
 -

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

1
4
,2

8
4
,6

7
0

1
6
,6

7
7
,7

9
0

2
,3

9
3
,1

2
0

S
c
ru

ti
n

y
 -

 E
c
o
n

o
m

y
7
0
8
,5

8
0

1
,5

4
3
,8

2
0

8
3
5
,2

4
0

S
c
ru

ti
n

y
 -

 R
e

s
o

u
rc

e
s

5
,3

9
8
,2

2
0

5
,7

3
3
,9

9
0

3
3
5
,7

7
0

L
e

s
s
 n

o
ti
o
n

a
l 
c
a

p
it
a

l 
c
h

a
rg

e
s

(2
,8

7
7
,4

8
0
)

(2
,9

3
2
,1

9
0
)

(5
4
,7

1
0
)

F
R

S
 1

7
 P

e
n
s
io

n
 A

d
ju

s
tm

e
n

t
7
3
8
,5

6
0

6
8
8
,2

4
0

(5
0
,3

2
0
)

D
e

fe
rr

e
d

 C
h
a

rg
e
s

(3
,3

0
9
,8

2
0
)

(3
,3

0
9
,8

2
0
)

S
E

R
V

IC
E

 E
S

T
IM

A
T

E
S

  
T

O
T

A
L

1
8
,2

5
2
,5

5
0

1
8
,4

0
1
,8

3
0

1
4
9
,2

8
0

0
.8

%

N
e

t 
In

te
re

s
t

(1
,3

8
0
,0

0
0
)

(1
,3

0
0
,0

0
0
)

8
0
,0

0
0

B
u

s
in

e
s
s
 G

ro
w

th
 I
n

c
e
n
ti
v
e
 G

ra
n

t
(1

,5
0
0
,0

0
0
)

0
1
,5

0
0
,0

0
0

S
E

R
V

IC
E

 E
S

T
IM

A
T

E
S

  
N

E
T

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

1
5
,3

7
2
,5

5
0

1
7
,1

0
1
,8

3
0

1
,7

2
9
,2

8
0

1
1
.2

%

T
ra

n
s
fe

r 
to

/(
fr

o
m

) 
w

o
rk

in
g
 b

a
la

n
c
e

6
3
1
,1

2
0

(4
2
4
,7

2
7
)

(1
,0

5
5
,8

4
7
)

T
ra

n
s
fe

r 
to

/(
fr

o
m

) 
e
a

rm
a

rk
e

d
 r

e
s
e
rv

e
s

(2
5
9
,7

4
0
)

(4
6
1
,9

3
0
)

(2
0
2
,1

9
0
)

G
E

N
E

R
A

L
 F

U
N

D
 E

X
P

E
N

D
IT

U
R

E
1

5
,7

4
3
,9

3
0

1
6
,2

1
5
,1

7
3

4
7
1
,2

4
3

3
.0

%

F
o

rm
u

la
 G

ra
n
t

(1
1

,6
6
3
,9

3
0
)

(1
1
,8

9
2
,9

1
6
)

(2
2
8
,9

8
6
)

2
.0

%

C
O

U
N

C
IL

 T
A

X
 N

E
T

 E
X

P
E

N
D

IT
U

R
E

4
,0

8
0
,0

0
0

4
,3

2
2
,2

5
7

2
4
2
,2

5
7

5
.9

%

C
H

A
N

G
E

Page 17



Page 18

This page is intentionally left blank



A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 4
  

E
X
E
T
E
R
 C
IT
Y
 C
O
U
N
C
IL

2
0
0
8
/0
9
 C
O
U
N
C
IL
 T
A
X
 -
 S
U
M
M
A
R
Y

2
0
0
7
/0
8

2
0
0
8
/0
9

C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
 B
a
s
e

3
6
,9
2
7

3
7
,5
2
0

T
o
ta
l

B
a
n
d
 D

T
o
ta
l

B
a
n
d
 D

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x

E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x

£
£

£
£

G
e
n
e
ra
l 
F
u
n
d
 B
u
d
g
e
t

4
,0
8
0
,0
0
0

1
1
0
.4
9

4
,3
2
2
,2
5
7

1
1
5
.2
0

C
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 F
u
n
d
 (
C
o
u
n
c
il 
T
a
x
)

-1
6
,8
2
3

-0
.4
6

-8
,2
7
8

-0
.2
2

T
O
T
A
L

4
,0
6
3
,1
7
7

1
1
0
.0
3

4
,3
1
3
,9
7
9

1
1
4
.9
8

Page 19



Page 20

This page is intentionally left blank



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 5

G
E

N
E

R
A

L
 F

U
N

D
2
0
0
7
-0

8
2
0
0
8
-0

9
2
0
0
9
-1

0
2
0
1
0
-1

1
2
0
1
1
-1

2
T

O
T

A
L

£
£

£
£

£
£

C
A

P
IT

A
L

 R
E

S
O

U
R

C
E

S
 A

V
A

IL
A

B
L

E

U
sa
b
le
 R
ec
ei
p
ts
 B
ro
u
g
h
t 
F
o
rw

ar
d

1
1
,6
2
7
,6
7
7

1
1
,6
2
7
,6
7
7

G
F
 c
ap
it
al
 r
ec
ei
p
ts

1
,4
8
9
,5
0
0

5
0
0
,0
0
0

5
2
0
,0
0
0

5
0
0
,0
0
0

5
0
0
,0
0
0

3
,5
0
9
,5
0
0

G
F
 c
ap
it
al
 r
ec
ei
p
ts
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e 
ca
n
al
 b
as
in
 r
ed
ev
el
o
p
m
en
t

3
5
2
,4
2
3

1
,3
9
9
,6
7
9

0
0

0
1
,7
5
2
,1
0
2

U
se
 o
f 
ca
n
al
 b
as
in
 c
ap
it
al
 r
ec
ei
p
ts
 f
o
r 
ca
p
it
al
 f
in
an
ci
n
g

(1
2
7
,4
2
3
)

(2
5
2
,6
7
9
)

3
8
0
,1
0
2

0
0

0

D
is
ab
le
d
 F
ac
il
it
ie
s 
G
ra
n
t

2
4
8
,0
0
0

2
4
8
,0
0
0

2
4
8
,0
0
0

2
4
8
,0
0
0

2
4
8
,0
0
0

1
,2
4
0
,0
0
0

O
th
er
 -
 G
ra
n
ts
/E
x
te
rn
al
 F
u
n
d
in
g
/R
es
er
v
es
/S
ec
ti
o
n
 1
0
6

1
,7
5
7
,5
9
3

1
,1
4
1
,5
9
2

4
9
4
,4
0
7

8
6
,0
1
6

0
3
,4
7
9
,6
0
8

P
ri
v
at
e 
S
ec
to
r 
R
en
ew

al
 -
 c
ap
it
al
 g
ra
n
t

1
,1
4
7
,5
2
0

6
4
6
,6
9
2

4
5
0
,8
1
0

5
5
9
,0
0
4

5
5
9
,0
0
4

3
,3
6
3
,0
3
0

H
er
it
ag
e 
L
o
tt
er
y
 F
u
n
d

6
2
6
,3
7
8

3
,1
1
2
,1
5
6

4
,0
1
8
,4
7
6

1
,1
6
4
,9
9
0

0
8
,9
2
2
,0
0
0

L
A
B
G
IG

 -
 S
ci
en
ce
 P
ar
k

0
7
5
0
,0
0
0

0
0

0
7
5
0
,0
0
0

T
ra
n
sf
er
s 
fr
o
m
 S
o
ci
al
 H
o
u
si
n
g
 P
o
t 
to
 H
R
A

(1
0
1
,7
6
0
)

(1
0
0
,0
0
0
)

0
0

0
(2
0
1
,7
6
0
)

L
es
s 
ri
n
g
fe
n
ce
d
 c
ap
it
al
 g
ra
n
t 
fo
r 
p
ri
v
at
e 
se
ct
o
r 
re
n
ew

al
(7
3
,9
3
1
)

(1
4
4
,0
1
5
)

0
0

0
(2
1
7
,9
4
6
)

L
es
s 
ri
n
g
fe
n
ce
d
 f
o
r 
D
is
ab
le
d
 F
ac
il
it
y
 G
ra
n
ts

0
0

0
(2
4
8
,0
0
0
)

(2
4
8
,0
0
0
)

(4
9
6
,0
0
0
)

T
o
ta

l 
R

e
so

u
r
c
e
s 

a
v
a
il
a
b
le

1
6
,9
4
5
,9
7
7

7
,3
0
1
,4
2
5

6
,1
1
1
,7
9
5

2
,3
1
0
,0
1
0

1
,0
5
9
,0
0
4

3
3
,7

2
8
,2

1
0

G
E

N
E

R
A

L
 F

U
N

D
 C

A
P

IT
A

L
 

P
R

O
G

R
A

M
M

E
 

C
o
m
m
it
te
d
 c
ap
it
al
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e

1
4
,1
1
7
,7
7
7

1
9
,2
8
4
,6
3
1

7
,3
7
7
,5
5
8

3
1
1
,2
4
9

0
4
1
,0
9
1
,2
1
5

P
ro
p
o
se
d
 N
ew

 B
id
s

0
3
,0
2
2
,4
0
0

5
,3
7
8
,3
0
0

5
,0
1
0
,0
0
0

2
,0
9
0
,0
0
0

1
5
,5
0
0
,7
0
0

T
o
ta

l 
G

e
n
e
r
a
l 
F

u
n
d

1
4
,1

1
7
,7

7
7

2
2
,3

0
7
,0

3
1

1
2
,7

5
5
,8

5
8

5
,3

2
1
,2

4
9

2
,0

9
0
,0

0
0

5
6
,5

9
1
,9

1
5

E
S
T

IM
A

T
E

D
 S

P
E

N
D

 I
N

 Y
E

A
R

9
,8

8
2
,4

4
4

1
9
,8

5
0
,2

5
5

1
5
,6

2
1
,2

1
0

7
,5

5
1
,6

3
2

3
,0

5
9
,3

7
5

5
5
,9

6
4
,9

1
5

U
N

C
O

M
M

IT
T

E
D

 C
A

P
IT

A
L

 R
E

S
O

U
R

C
E

S
:

C
ap
it
al
 R
ec
ei
p
ts
 B
ro
u
g
h
t 
F
o
rw

ar
d

1
1
,6
2
7
,6
7
7

7
,0
6
3
,5
3
3

0
0

0
1
1
,6
2
7
,6
7
7

R
es
o
u
rc
es
 i
n
 Y
ea
r

5
,3
1
8
,3
0
0

7
,3
0
1
,4
2
5

6
,1
1
1
,7
9
5

2
,3
1
0
,0
1
0

1
,0
5
9
,0
0
4

2
2
,1
0
0
,5
3
3

L
es
s 
E
st
im

at
ed
 S
p
en
d
 i
n
 Y
ea
r

(9
,8
8
2
,4
4
4
)

(1
9
,8
5
0
,2
5
5
)

(1
5
,6
2
1
,2
1
0
)

(7
,5
5
1
,6
3
2
)

(3
,0
5
9
,3
7
5
)

(5
5
,9
6
4
,9
1
5
)

L
es
s 
C
o
m
m
it
te
d
 S
p
en
d
 i
n
 F
u
tu
re
 Y
ea
rs

(6
2
7
,0
0
0
)

(6
2
7
,0
0
0
)

B
o
rr
o
w
in
g
 R
eq
u
ir
em

en
t

5
,4
8
5
,2
9
7

9
,5
0
9
,4
1
5

5
,2
4
1
,6
2
2

2
,6
2
7
,3
7
1

2
2
,8
6
3
,7
0
5

U
n
co
m
m
it
te
d
 C
ap
it
al
 R
ec
ei
p
ts
 

7
,0
6
3
,5
3
3

0
0

0
0

0

Page 21



Page 22

This page is intentionally left blank



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 5

H
O

U
S

IN
G

 R
E

V
E

N
U

E
 A

C
C

O
U

N
T

2
0
0
7
-0

8
2
0
0
8
-0

9
2
0
0
9
-1

0
2
0
1
0
-1

1
2
0
1
1
-1

2
T

O
T

A
L

£
£

£
£

£
£

C
A

P
IT

A
L

 R
E

S
O

U
R

C
E

S
 A

V
A

IL
A

B
L

E

U
sa
b
le
 R
ec
ei
p
ts
 B
ro
u
g
h
t 
F
o
rw

ar
d

3
,2
7
3
,2
8
3

3
,2
7
3
,2
8
3

O
th
er
 H
R
A
 S
al
es

2
9
6
,5
0
0

1
0
0
,0
0
0

1
0
0
,0
0
0

1
0
0
,0
0
0

1
0
0
,0
0
0

6
9
6
,5
0
0

R
T
B
 s
al
es

5
6
8
,0
0
0

4
0
0
,0
0
0

2
5
0
,0
0
0

2
5
0
,0
0
0

2
5
0
,0
0
0

1
,7
1
8
,0
0
0

M
aj
o
r 
R
ep
ai
rs
 A
ll
o
w
an
ce

3
,1
7
9
,2
3
0

3
,1
2
2
,0
3
0

3
,1
2
2
,0
0
0

3
,1
2
2
,0
0
0

3
,1
2
2
,0
0
0

1
5
,6
6
7
,2
6
0

R
ev
en
u
e 
C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 
to
 C
ap
it
al

1
,0
7
9
,5
1
0

7
7
2
,6
0
0

9
0
0
,0
0
0

9
0
0
,0
0
0

9
0
0
,0
0
0

4
,5
5
2
,1
1
0

T
ra
n
sf
er
 f
ro
m
 G
F
 r
e 
S
o
ci
al
 H
o
u
si
n
g
 P
o
t

1
0
1
,7
6
0

1
0
0
,0
0
0

0
0

0
2
0
1
,7
6
0

E
x
te
rn
al
 c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 
fr
o
m
 u
ti
li
ty
 c
o
m
p
an
y

1
7
3
,3
9
0

0
0

0
0

1
7
3
,3
9
0

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s 
fr
o
m
 w
o
rk
in
g
 b
al
an
ce

0
2
4
,4
8
7

7
2
7
,1
7
5

5
9
1
,5
0
6

0
1
,3
4
3
,1
6
8

T
o
ta

l 
R

es
o
u

rc
es

 a
v
a
il

a
b

le
8
,6
7
1
,6
7
3

4
,5
1
9
,1
1
7

5
,0
9
9
,1
7
5

4
,9
6
3
,5
0
6

4
,3
7
2
,0
0
0

2
7
,6

2
5
,4

7
1

C
A

P
IT

A
L

 P
R

O
G

R
A

M
M

E
 

H
O
U
S
IN

G
 R
E
V
E
N
U
E
 A
C
C
O
U
N
T

M
R
A
 e
x
p
en
d
it
u
re

3
,1
7
9
,2
3
0

3
,1
2
2
,0
3
0

3
,1
2
2
,0
0
0

3
,1
2
2
,0
0
0

3
,1
2
2
,0
0
0

1
5
,6
6
7
,2
6
0

H
R
A
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e 
- 
ad
d
it
io
n
al
 e
x
p
en
d
it
u
re

3
,8
8
2
,5
4
0

2
,2
8
8
,9
9
0

1
,5
8
6
,1
7
5

1
,5
7
6
,6
7
5

1
,5
2
1
,1
9
0

1
0
,8
5
5
,5
7
0

F
ee
s

3
2
6
,4
9
0

3
9
1
,5
1
0

3
9
1
,0
0
0

3
9
1
,0
0
0

3
9
1
,0
0
0

1
,8
9
1
,0
0
0

T
o
ta

l 
H

o
u

si
n

g
 R

ev
en

u
e 

A
cc

o
u

n
t

7
,3

8
8
,2

6
0

5
,8

0
2
,5

3
0

5
,0

9
9
,1

7
5

5
,0

8
9
,6

7
5

5
,0

3
4
,1

9
0

2
8
,4

1
3
,8

3
0

U
N

C
O

M
M

IT
T

E
D

 C
A

P
IT

A
L

 R
E

S
O

U
R

C
E

S
:

U
sa
b
le
 R
ec
ei
p
ts
 B
ro
u
g
h
t 
F
o
rw

ar
d

3
,2
7
3
,2
8
3

1
,2
8
3
,4
1
3

0
0

0
3
,2
7
3
,2
8
3

R
es
o
u
rc
es
 i
n
 Y
ea
r

5
,3
9
8
,3
9
0

4
,5
1
9
,1
1
7

5
,0
9
9
,1
7
5

4
,9
6
3
,5
0
6

4
,3
7
2
,0
0
0

2
4
,3
5
2
,1
8
8

L
es
s 
E
st
im

at
ed
 S
p
en
d

(7
,3
8
8
,2
6
0
)

(5
,8
0
2
,5
3
0
)

(5
,0
9
9
,1
7
5
)

(5
,0
8
9
,6
7
5
)

(5
,0
3
4
,1
9
0
)

(2
8
,4
1
3
,8
3
0
)

B
o
rr
o
w
in
g
 R
eq
u
ir
em

en
t

1
2
6
,1
6
9

6
6
2
,1
9
0

7
8
8
,3
5
9

U
n
co
m
m
it
te
d
 C
ap
it
al
 R
es
o
u
rc
es

1
,2
8
3
,4
1
3

0
0

0
0

0

W
O

R
K

IN
G

 B
A

L
A

N
C

E
 R

E
S

O
U

R
C

E
S

:

B
al
an
ce
 B
ro
u
g
h
t 
F
o
rw

ar
d

2
,8
4
3
,1
6
8

2
,8
4
3
,1
6
8

2
,8
1
8
,6
8
1

2
,0
9
1
,5
0
6

1
,5
0
0
,0
0
0

2
,8
4
3
,1
6
8

U
se
d
 i
n
 Y
ea
r 
fo
r 
C
ap
it
al
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e

0
2
4
,4
8
7

7
2
7
,1
7
5

5
9
1
,5
0
6

0
1
,3
4
3
,1
6
8

B
al
an
ce
 C
ar
ri
ed
 F
o
rw

ar
d

2
,8
4
3
,1
6
8

2
,8
1
8
,6
8
1

2
,0
9
1
,5
0
6

1
,5
0
0
,0
0
0

1
,5
0
0
,0
0
0

1
,5
0
0
,0
0
0

Page 23



Page 24

This page is intentionally left blank



A
P
P
E
N
D
I
X
 6

S
C
H
E
M
E
S
 L
IS
T
E
D
 W

IT
H
IN
 K
E
Y
 S
T
R
A
T
E
G
IC
 T
H
E
M
E
S

L
e
a
d

F
u
tu
re

O
ff
ic
e
r

C
a
te
g
o
ry

2
0
0
8
/0
9

2
0
0
9
/1
0

2
0
1
0
/1
1

Y
e
a
rs

£
£

£
£

W
h
a
t 
is
 t
h
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 t
ry
in
g
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
e

A
P
R
O
S
P
E
R
O
U
S
 C
IT
Y

1
B
a
s
in
 /
 Q
u
a
y
s
id
e

 D
P

C
2

1
,1
4
7
,0
0
0
#

1
,2
6
9
,6
5
0

#

T
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
th
e
 r
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 Q
u
a
y
s
id
e
 b
y
 

fu
n
d
in
g
 e
s
s
e
n
ti
a
l 
in
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 

a
n
d
 l
a
n
d
 a
c
q
u
is
it
io
n

2
C
e
n
tr
a
l 
S
ta
ti
o
n
 G
a
te
w
a
y
 E
n
h
a
n
c
e
m
e
n
t

R
S

C
2

1
1
8
,2
6
0
#

1
1
8
,2
6
0

#

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 t
o
 j
o
in
t 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 w
it
h
 N
e
tw
o
rk
 R
a
il 

a
n
d
 D
e
v
o
n
 C
o
u
n
ty
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
to
 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
 t
h
e
 

C
e
n
tr
a
l 
S
ta
ti
o
n
 f
o
re
c
o
u
rt

3
M
e
t 
O
ff
ic
e
 R
e
lo
c
a
ti
o
n

J
R

C
1

8
,7
5
0
#

F
u
n
d
s
 t
h
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
e
n
h
a
n
c
e
d
 b
u
s
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

to
 t
h
e
 S
o
w
to
n
 A
re
a
 a
s
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 f
o
r 
u
n
d
e
r 
a
 

le
g
a
l 
a
g
re
e
m
e
n
t

4
S
c
ie
n
c
e
 P
a
rk

R
B

C
2

8
4
9
,9
1
0
#

T
o
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 t
h
e
 e
x
p
a
n
s
io
n
 o
f 
s
c
ie
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 

te
c
h
n
o
lo
g
y
 i
n
 t
h
e
 C
it
y
 a
n
d
 t
o
 a
tt
ra
c
t 
in
w
a
rd
 

in
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t,
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 c
re
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
 s
c
ie
n
c
e
 

p
a
rk

S
u
b
 T
o
ta
l 
- 
P
ro
s
p
e
ro
u
s
 C
it
y

2
,1
2
3
,9
2
0

1
,3
8
7
,9
1
0

0
0

B
A
C
C
E
S
S
IB
L
E
 C
IT
Y

1
E
q
u
a
l 
O
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts

P
M

C
1

3
0
,0
0
0
#

3
0
,0
0
0

#
T
o
 a
llo
w
 d
is
a
b
le
d
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 b
e
 

c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 
to
 v
a
ri
o
u
s
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s

2
Im
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 
W
a
lk
in
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y

D
H

C
2

1
5
,0
0
0
#

3
0
,0
0
0

3
0
,0
0
0

3
0
,0
0
0

3
N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
C
y
c
le
 N
e
tw
o
rk
 -
 E
x
e
 E
s
tu
a
ry

D
H

C
1

3
0
,0
0
0

T
o
 c
o
m
p
le
te
 w
o
rk
 o
n
 a
 h
ig
h
 q
u
a
lit
y
 c
y
c
le
 r
o
u
te
 

fr
o
m
 L
im
e
k
iln
s
 t
o
 S
w
a
n
s
 N
e
s
t 
c
a
r 
p
a
rk
 i
n
 

c
o
n
ju
n
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 D
e
v
o
n
 C
o
u
n
ty
 C
o
u
n
c
il

4
R
iv
e
rs
id
e
 V
a
lle
y
 P
a
rk
 E
n
h
a
n
c
e
m
e
n
t

P
M

C
2

1
0
0
,0
0
0
#

A
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
s
 b
e
in
g
 

u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 t
o
 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
 a
c
c
e
s
s
, 
la
n
d
s
c
a
p
e
 

v
a
lu
e
 a
n
d
 b
io
d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 o
f 
th
is
 a
re
a

5
S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 S
ig
n
a
g
e
 -
 P
h
a
s
e
 2

R
S

C
2

2
3
2
,1
9
0
#

7
5
,0
0
0

#

R
e
p
la
c
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 f
in
g
e
r 
p
o
s
t 
s
y
s
te
m
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 i
n
s
ta
lla
ti
o
n
 o
f 
2
0
 n
e
w
 m
o
n
o
lit
h
s
 t
o
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
 t
h
e
 c
it
y
 c
e
n
tr
e
 s
ig
n
a
g
e
 p
ro
je
c
t 
a
n
d
 t
o
 

lo
c
a
te
 s
ig
n
s
 a
t 
o
th
e
r 
k
e
y
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 

th
e
 P
a
rk
 a
n
d
 R
id
e
 s
it
e
s

S
u
b
 T
o
ta
l 
- 
A
c
c
e
s
s
ib
le
 C
it
y

4
3
7
,1
9
0

1
3
5
,0
0
0

3
0
,0
0
0

0

G
E
N
E
R
A
L
 F
U
N
D
 -
 C
A
P
IT
A
L
 P
R
O
G
R
A
M
M
E
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 A
N
D
 F
U
T
U
R
E
 Y
E
A
R
S

P
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
a
 n
e
tw
o
rk
 o
f 
w
a
lk
in
g
 r
o
u
te
s
 

a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 C
it
y
 t
o
 h
e
lp
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 t
h
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 

w
a
lk
in
g
 t
o
 k
e
y
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
. 
 T
h
e
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 w
ill
 a
llo
w
 

a
 p
h
a
s
e
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 
w
o
rk
 i
n
 c
o
n
ju
c
ti
o
n
 

w
it
h
 D
e
v
o
n
 C
o
u
n
ty
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 S
u
s
tr
a
n
s

1

Page 25



A
P
P
E
N
D
I
X
 6

S
C
H
E
M
E
S
 L
IS
T
E
D
 W

IT
H
IN
 K
E
Y
 S
T
R
A
T
E
G
IC
 T
H
E
M
E
S

L
e
a
d

F
u
tu
re

O
ff
ic
e
r

C
a
te
g
o
ry

2
0
0
8
/0
9

2
0
0
9
/1
0

2
0
1
0
/1
1

Y
e
a
rs

£
£

£
£

W
h
a
t 
is
 t
h
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 t
ry
in
g
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
e

G
E
N
E
R
A
L
 F
U
N
D
 -
 C
A
P
IT
A
L
 P
R
O
G
R
A
M
M
E
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 A
N
D
 F
U
T
U
R
E
 Y
E
A
R
S

C
E
L
E
C
T
R
O
N
IC
 C
IT
Y

1
A
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
M
o
d
u
le
 t
o
 H
R
 R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
lin
k
 S
y
s
te
m

S
S

C
1

1
4
,8
0
0

T
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
a
lit
y
 o
f 
th
e
 H
u
m
a
n
 

R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 s
y
s
te
m
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 a
 n
e
w
 m
o
d
u
le
 f
o
r 

d
e
a
lin
g
 w
it
h
 e
x
p
e
n
s
e
s
, 
w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 f
a
c
ili
ta
te
 o
n
-

lin
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
in
g
 o
f 
e
x
p
e
n
s
e
s

2
A
u
th
e
n
ti
c
a
ti
o
n
 M
o
d
u
le

P
E

C
2

2
5
,0
0
0
#

T
o
 e
n
a
b
le
 s
e
c
u
re
 o
n
-l
in
e
 t
ra
n
s
a
c
ti
o
n
s
 

(h
o
u
s
in
g
, 
p
la
n
n
in
g
, 
b
e
n
e
fi
ts
) 

3
C
o
n
ti
n
u
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
G
IS
 S
tr
a
te
g
y

J
S

C
1

7
,5
0
0
#

4
0
,0
0
0

4
C
o
n
tr
a
c
t 
M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
S
y
s
te
m

P
M

C
1

1
,1
0
0
#

E
n
h
a
n
c
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
s
y
s
te
m
 f
o
r 

g
ro
u
n
d
s
 m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
, 
re
p
a
ir
s
, 
h
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 a
n
d
 

c
le
a
n
s
in
g
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s

5
C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 N
e
tw
o
rk
 I
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re

P
E

C
1

3
0
,0
0
0

A
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

u
p
g
ra
d
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 n
e
tw
o
rk
 

in
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
, 
in
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 m
a
n
a
g
e
 t
h
e
 g
ro
w
th
 

in
 d
e
m
a
n
d
 o
f 
h
ig
h
 b
a
n
d
w
id
th
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s

6
C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 S
e
rv
e
r 
U
p
g
ra
d
e
s

P
E

C
1

2
0
,0
0
0

A
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 u
p
g
ra
d
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 i
n
 

o
rd
e
r 
to
 u
ti
lis
e
 n
e
w
 t
e
c
h
n
o
lo
g
ie
s
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
 

h
ig
h
 c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 s
to
ra
g
e
 s
y
s
te
m
, 
w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 

p
ro
v
id
e
 f
a
s
t 
a
n
d
 r
e
lia
b
le
 d
a
ta
 r
e
c
o
v
e
ry

7
D
a
ta
 A
rc
h
iv
in
g
 a
n
d
 S
to
ra
g
e
 S
y
s
te
m
s

P
E

C
1

4
0
,0
0
0

T
o
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 
a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
d
a
ta
 a
rc
h
iv
in
g
 a
n
d
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
d
 s
to
ra
g
e
 s
y
s
te
m
s
 t
o
 c
o
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 
th
e
 

c
u
rr
e
n
t 
S
to
ra
g
e
 A
re
a
 N
e
tw
o
rk
 (
S
A
N
) 

in
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
, 
in
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 h
e
lp
 m
e
e
t 
d
e
m
a
n
d
 

fo
r 
th
e
 s
to
ra
g
e
 o
f 
s
c
a
n
n
e
d
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
ts
, 

p
h
o
to
g
ra
p
h
ic
 i
m
a
g
e
s
 a
n
d
 e
m
a
ils

8
E
le
c
tr
o
n
ic
 D
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 R
e
c
o
rd
s
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
(E
D
R
M
)

J
S

C
1

4
2
,0
0
0

T
o
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 p
u
t 
in
 p
la
c
e
 a
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 E
D
R
M
 

s
y
s
te
m
 s
o
 t
h
a
t 
a
ll 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 m
a
y
 b
e
 

p
ro
v
id
e
d
 w
it
h
 a
 s
y
s
te
m
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 

c
re
a
ti
o
n
, 
s
to
ra
g
e
, 
a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
, 
c
o
n
tr
o
l 
a
n
d
 

d
is
p
o
s
a
l 
o
f 
th
e
ir
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 r
e
c
o
rd
s
 

9
F
IM
S
 R
e
p
la
c
e
m
e
n
t 

A
S

C
1

1
3
1
,2
7
0
#

A
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
fu
n
d
in
g
 t
o
 r
e
p
la
c
e
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 
le
d
g
e
r 
(F
IM
S
) 
w
it
h
 a
 n
e
w
 s
y
s
te
m
, 
in
 

o
rd
e
r 
to
 p
ro
v
id
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
d
 f
in
a
n
c
ia
l 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

T
o
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
h
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 
c
re
a
ti
n
g
 a
 

c
e
n
tr
a
l 
d
a
ta
b
a
s
e
 o
f 
a
ll 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
d
a
ta
 r
e
la
te
d
 t
o
 

la
n
d
 a
n
d
 p
ro
p
e
rt
y
, 
in
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 e
n
s
u
re
 a
c
c
u
ra
te
 

a
d
d
re
s
s
 d
a
ta
 f
o
r 
a
ll 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s

2

Page 26



A
P
P
E
N
D
I
X
 6

S
C
H
E
M
E
S
 L
IS
T
E
D
 W

IT
H
IN
 K
E
Y
 S
T
R
A
T
E
G
IC
 T
H
E
M
E
S

L
e
a
d

F
u
tu
re

O
ff
ic
e
r

C
a
te
g
o
ry

2
0
0
8
/0
9

2
0
0
9
/1
0

2
0
1
0
/1
1

Y
e
a
rs

£
£

£
£

W
h
a
t 
is
 t
h
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 t
ry
in
g
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
e

G
E
N
E
R
A
L
 F
U
N
D
 -
 C
A
P
IT
A
L
 P
R
O
G
R
A
M
M
E
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 A
N
D
 F
U
T
U
R
E
 Y
E
A
R
S

C
E
L
E
C
T
R
O
N
IC
 C
IT
Y
 (
C
O
N
T
)

1
0
H
ig
h
 A
v
a
ila
b
ili
ty
 S
e
rv
e
r

P
E

C
1

7
5
,0
0
0

R
e
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
c
o
re
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 d
a
ta
 a
n
d
 s
y
s
te
m
s
 

v
ia
 a
 S
to
ra
g
e
 A
re
a
 N
e
tw
o
rk
 (
S
A
N
) 
in
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 d
is
a
s
te
r 
re
c
o
v
e
ry
 a
n
d
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
it
y

1
1
In
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 e
L
e
a
rn
in
g

S
S

C
2

1
7
,0
0
0

T
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 p
re
s
e
n
t 
C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 s
ta
ff
 

in
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 t
ra
in
in
g
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 w
it
h
 a
n
 i
n
tr
a
n
e
t 

b
a
s
e
d
 e
-l
e
a
rn
in
g
 i
n
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e

1
2
In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 A
s
s
e
t 
R
e
g
is
te
r

J
S

C
1

2
,0
0
0
#

In
tr
o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
n
 o
n
-l
in
e
 r
e
g
is
te
r 
o
f 
a
ll 

in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 h
e
ld
 b
y
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il,
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 d
e
a
l 
w
it
h
 F
re
e
d
o
m
 o
f 

In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 r
e
q
u
e
s
ts
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
tl
y
 a
n
d
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly

1
3
IT
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
S
ta
ff
 R
e
c
h
a
rg
e
s

P
E

C
1

2
0
0
,0
0
0

T
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 c
o
s
t 
o
f 
IT
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
e
rs
, 
w
h
ic
h
 

w
ill
 b
e
 d
ir
e
c
tl
y
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 

o
f 
c
o
m
p
u
te
r 
s
o
ft
w
a
re
, 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
n
e
w
 

s
y
s
te
m
s
 a
n
d
 q
u
a
lif
y
 a
s
 c
a
p
it
a
l 
e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
4
IT
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 D
e
s
k
 U
p
g
ra
d
e

P
E

C
1

4
5
,0
0
0

T
o
 u
p
g
ra
d
e
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
IT
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 H
e
lp
d
e
s
k
 

s
y
s
te
m
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 

a
n
d
 i
n
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 i
n
d
u
s
tr
y
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 t
o
 m
a
n
a
g
e
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
 c
o
n
tr
o
l,
 f
a
u
lt
 r
e
s
o
lu
ti
o
n
, 
s
y
s
te
m
 

c
o
n
fi
g
u
ra
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 a
s
s
e
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t

1
5
L
a
g
a
n
 S
e
lf
-S
e
rv
ic
e
 P
o
rt
a
l

J
S

C
2

2
5
,0
0
0

T
h
e
 p
u
rc
h
a
s
e
 o
f 
L
a
g
a
n
's
 S
e
lf
-S
e
rv
ic
e
 P
o
rt
a
l 
to
 

e
x
te
n
d
 t
h
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 
C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
R
e
la
ti
o
n
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
to
 t
h
e
 w
e
b
 c
h
a
n
n
e
l 
a
n
d
 e
n
a
b
le
 

c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 t
o
 m
a
k
e
 r
e
q
u
e
s
ts
 f
o
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 o
n
-

lin
e
 a
n
d
 t
ra
c
k
 t
h
e
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 e
n
q
u
ir
y

1
6
P
a
rk
in
g
 F
in
e
s
 S
y
s
te
m

R
C

C
2

5
0
,0
0
0
#

In
tr
o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
 p
a
rk
in
g
 e
n
fo
rc
e
m
e
n
t 
s
y
s
te
m
 

to
 m
a
n
a
g
e
 t
h
e
 'l
if
e
 c
y
c
le
' o
f 
th
e
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
 

c
h
a
rg
e
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
, 
in
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 m
o
d
e
rn
is
e
, 

s
tr
e
a
m
lin
e
 a
n
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 o
f 
th
e
 

s
e
rv
ic
e

1
7
P
C
 R
e
p
la
c
e
m
e
n
t 
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e

P
E

C
2

5
0
,0
0
0
#

2
0
,0
0
0

1
8
R
A
M
M
 W

e
b
 2
.0
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts

A
C

C
2

5
0
,0
0
0

T
o
 e
x
p
lo
it
 t
h
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
o
f 
n
e
w
 w
e
b
 

te
c
h
n
o
lo
g
ie
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
 m
u
s
e
u
m
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 

p
ro
m
o
te
 w
id
e
r 
c
it
iz
e
n
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
th
ro
u
g
h
 

in
te
ra
c
ti
v
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n

1
9
R
e
p
la
c
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
T
 R
e
p
a
ir
s

P
M

C
2

8
5
,0
0
0

T
o
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
 a
 m
o
d
e
rn
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
to
r 
IT
 s
y
s
te
m
 

w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 e
n
a
b
le
 m
o
re
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
w
o
rk
in
g
 a
n
d
 

re
p
o
rt
in
g
 f
o
r 
th
e
 B
u
ild
in
g
 E
le
c
tr
ic
a
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

T
e
a
m

T
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
 r
o
lli
n
g
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 

re
p
la
c
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 u
p
g
ra
d
e
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il'
s
 

P
C
s

3

Page 27



A
P
P
E
N
D
I
X
 6

S
C
H
E
M
E
S
 L
IS
T
E
D
 W

IT
H
IN
 K
E
Y
 S
T
R
A
T
E
G
IC
 T
H
E
M
E
S

L
e
a
d

F
u
tu
re

O
ff
ic
e
r

C
a
te
g
o
ry

2
0
0
8
/0
9

2
0
0
9
/1
0

2
0
1
0
/1
1

Y
e
a
rs

£
£

£
£

W
h
a
t 
is
 t
h
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 t
ry
in
g
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
e

G
E
N
E
R
A
L
 F
U
N
D
 -
 C
A
P
IT
A
L
 P
R
O
G
R
A
M
M
E
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 A
N
D
 F
U
T
U
R
E
 Y
E
A
R
S

C
E
L
E
C
T
R
O
N
IC
 C
IT
Y
 (
C
O
N
T
)

2
0
S
in
g
le
 S
ig
n
 O
n

P
E

C
1

1
5
,0
0
0

T
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
a
n
d
 s
e
c
u
re
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 

m
u
lt
ip
le
 b
a
c
k
 o
ff
ic
e
 s
y
s
te
m
s
 v
ia
 a
 's
in
g
le
 s
ig
n
 

o
n
' w

h
ils
t 
m
a
in
ta
in
in
g
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
s
e
c
u
ri
ty
 a
n
d
 

a
u
th
e
n
ti
c
a
ti
o
n
 m
e
a
s
u
re
s

2
1
W
e
b
s
it
e
 a
n
d
 I
n
tr
a
n
e
t 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t

P
E

C
1

2
0
,0
0
0

T
o
 f
a
c
ili
ta
te
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

e
n
h
a
n
c
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 w
e
b
s
it
e
 a
n
d
 

in
tr
a
n
e
t 

S
u
b
 T
o
ta
l 
- 
E
le
c
tr
o
n
ic
 C
it
y

1
,0
0
5
,6
7
0

0
0

0

D
C
U
L
T
U
R
A
L
 A
N
D
 F
U
N
 P
L
A
C
E
 T
O
 B
E

1
B
ro
m
h
a
m
s
 F
a
rm

 -
 R
e
fu
rb
is
h
 C
h
a
n
g
in
g
 R
o
o
m
s

P
M

C
2

7
4
,8
0
0
#

R
e
fu
rb
is
h
 c
h
a
n
g
in
g
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s

2
C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 t
o
 R
A
M
M
 r
e
 H
L
F
 P
a
rk
s
 B
id

P
M

C
1

1
7
6
,8
0
0

T
o
 r
e
p
la
c
e
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 b
id
 t
o
 t
h
e
 H
e
ri
ta
g
e
 

L
o
tt
e
ry
 F
u
n
d
 i
n
 r
e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
H
is
to
ri
c
 P
a
rk
s
, 
in
 

o
rd
e
r 
to
 a
llo
w
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 r
e
a
r 
o
f 
th
e
 

m
u
s
e
u
m
 a
n
d
 R
o
u
g
e
m
o
n
t 
G
a
rd
e
n
s

3
E
n
h
a
n
c
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
C
h
ill
 Z
o
n
e

A
C

C
2

4
,0
0
0
#

Im
p
ro
v
e
d
 s
k
a
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
fa
c
ili
ti
e
s
 t
o
 

in
c
re
a
s
e
 r
e
c
re
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
u
s
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 1
0
 t
o
 2
5
 y
e
a
r 

a
g
e
 g
ro
u
p

4
E
n
h
a
n
c
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 E
x
e
te
r 
C
o
rn
 E
x
c
h
a
n
g
e

D
P

C
1

1
0
4
,5
0
0

7
6
,5
0
0

T
o
 e
n
a
b
le
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 b
e
 

m
a
d
e
 a
t 
th
e
 E
x
e
te
r 
C
o
rn
 E
x
c
h
a
n
g
e
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 

th
a
t 
it
 m
e
e
ts
 t
h
e
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 f
o
r 

m
o
d
e
rn
 v
e
n
u
e
s
 a
n
d
 k
e
e
p
s
 p
a
c
e
 w
it
h
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 o
th
e
r 
v
e
n
u
e
s
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 C
it
y

5
E
x
h
ib
it
io
n
 F
ie
ld
s
 -
 N
e
w
 S
to
ra
g
e
 S
h
e
d
s

A
C

C
2

1
3
4
,2
5
0
#

R
e
p
la
c
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 u
n
s
a
fe
 a
n
d
 i
n
s
e
c
u
re
 

b
u
ild
in
g
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 p
ro
v
id
e
 s
a
fe
 a
n
d
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 s
to
ra
g
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 e
q
u
ip
m
e
n
t 

e
s
s
e
n
ti
a
l 
to
 o
p
e
ra
te
 t
h
e
 A
th
le
ti
c
s
 A
re
n
a

6
F
lo
o
d
lig
h
ti
n
g

R
S

C
2

1
2
,0
0
0
#

T
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 f
o
r 
fl
o
o
d
lig
h
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 c
it
y
's
 h
is
to
ri
c
 

la
n
d
m
a
rk
 f
e
a
tu
re
s
, 
to
 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
 t
h
e
ir
 v
is
ib
ili
ty
 

a
n
d
 a
p
p
e
a
l 
to
 v
is
it
o
rs
 a
n
d
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 a
lik
e
 a
n
d
 

to
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 s
e
c
u
ri
ty
 f
o
r 
p
e
d
e
s
tr
ia
n
s
 a
n
d
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

b
u
ild
in
g
s
 t
h
e
m
s
e
lv
e
s
. 
 

7
H
a
m
lin
 L
a
n
e
 -
 R
e
fu
rb
is
h
 C
h
a
n
g
in
g
 R
o
o
m
s

P
M

C
2

2
9
6
,7
2
0
#

R
e
b
u
ild
 o
f 
o
b
s
o
le
te
 c
h
a
n
g
in
g
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s

8
L
e
is
u
re
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
C
o
n
tr
a
c
t

A
C

C
2

8
0
,0
0
0
#

T
o
 f
u
n
d
 m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 

le
is
u
re
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
, 
in
 a
c
c
o
rd
a
n
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 t
e
rm

s
 

o
f 
th
e
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
t 
e
x
te
n
s
io
n
 w
it
h
 D
C
 L
e
is
u
re

9
N
e
w
 S
w
im
m
in
g
 F
a
c
ili
ty

A
C

C
2

8
5
,0
0
0
#

3
,5
0
0
,0
0
0

3
,5
0
0
,0
0
0

T
o
 r
e
p
la
c
e
 t
h
e
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 P
y
ra
m
id
s
 S
w
im
m
in
g
 

a
n
d
 L
e
is
u
re
 C
e
n
tr
e
 w
it
h
 a
 n
e
w
 s
w
im
m
in
g
 

fa
c
ili
ty
 t
h
a
t 
w
ill
 m
e
e
t 
th
e
 g
ro
w
in
g
 n
e
e
d
s
 o
f 
th
e
 

c
it
ie
s
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts

4

Page 28



A
P
P
E
N
D
I
X
 6

S
C
H
E
M
E
S
 L
IS
T
E
D
 W

IT
H
IN
 K
E
Y
 S
T
R
A
T
E
G
IC
 T
H
E
M
E
S

L
e
a
d

F
u
tu
re

O
ff
ic
e
r

C
a
te
g
o
ry

2
0
0
8
/0
9

2
0
0
9
/1
0

2
0
1
0
/1
1

Y
e
a
rs

£
£

£
£

W
h
a
t 
is
 t
h
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 t
ry
in
g
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
e

G
E
N
E
R
A
L
 F
U
N
D
 -
 C
A
P
IT
A
L
 P
R
O
G
R
A
M
M
E
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 A
N
D
 F
U
T
U
R
E
 Y
E
A
R
S

D
C
U
L
T
U
R
A
L
 A
N
D
 F
U
N
 P
L
A
C
E
 T
O
 B
E
 (
C
O
N
T
)

1
0
O
ld
 P
a
p
e
r 
M
ill
 C
o
u
n
te
s
s
 W

e
ir

A
C

C
2

7
7
,7
2
0
#

T
o
 a
llo
w
 e
s
s
e
n
ti
a
l 
s
ta
b
ili
s
a
ti
o
n
 w
o
rk
s
 t
o
 b
e
 

c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 
to
 t
h
e
 r
o
o
f 
o
f 
th
is
 G
ra
d
e
 2
 l
is
te
d
 

b
u
ild
in
g

1
1
P
a
rk
s
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts

P
M

C
2

2
9
,0
0
0
#

3
0
,0
0
0

#

T
o
 a
llo
w
 e
s
s
e
n
ti
a
l 
re
p
a
ir
s
 t
o
 b
e
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 p
a
th
s
, 
g
a
te
s
 a
n
d
 

fe
n
c
e
s

1
2
P
la
y
 A
re
a
 R
e
fu
rb
is
h
m
e
n
ts

A
C

C
2

2
0
0
,0
0
0
#

8
0
,0
0
0

#
8
0
,0
0
0
#

C
o
n
ti
n
u
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 

c
h
ild
re
n
's
 p
la
y
 a
re
a
s

1
3
P
la
y
in
g
 F
ie
ld
s
 -
 G
e
n
e
ra
l 
Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts

P
M

C
2

5
5
,0
0
0
#

C
o
n
ti
n
u
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 p
la
y
in
g
 f
ie
ld
s
 

a
n
d
 c
h
a
n
g
in
g
 r
o
o
m
s

1
4
R
A
M
 M
u
s
e
u
m
 O
ff
 S
it
e
 S
to
re

A
C

C
1

7
3
,2
7
3
#

T
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
 p
u
rp
o
s
e
 b
u
ilt
 s
to
re
 f
o
r 
th
e
 R
o
y
a
l 

A
lb
e
rt
 M
e
m
o
ri
a
l 
M
u
s
e
u
m
 o
n
 l
a
n
d
 i
n
 E
x
to
n
 

R
o
a
d

1
5
R
A
M
 M
u
s
e
u
m
 R
e
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t

A
C

C
1

9
,0
3
7
,7
5
8
#

3
,2
8
9
,6
4
8

#
2
3
1
,2
4
9
#

M
a
jo
r 
p
ro
je
c
t 
u
s
in
g
 H
e
ri
ta
g
e
 L
o
tt
e
ry
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 t
o
 

e
n
a
b
le
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
m
o
d
e
rn
is
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 

M
u
s
e
u
m
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 i
m
p
ro
v
in
g
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

p
u
b
lic

1
6
R
e
fu
rb
is
h
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
B
M
X
 T
ra
c
k

A
C

C
1

3
0
,0
0
0

T
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
 s
a
fe
 t
ra
c
k
 a
n
d
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 l
o
c
a
l 

v
o
lu
n
te
e
rs
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 e
ff
o
rt
s
 t
o
 c
re
a
te
 a
 f
a
c
ili
ty
 f
o
r 

y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 f
ro
m
 a
ll 
o
v
e
r 
th
e
 C
it
y

1
7
R
o
o
f 
Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 R
e
a
r 
P
a
rt
 o
f 
T
o
p
s
h
a
m
 M
u
s
e
u
m

A
C

C
1

4
5
,0
0
0

T
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 g
a
lle
ry
 a
re
a
 i
s
 k
e
p
t 

w
a
te
rt
ig
h
t,
 t
o
 m
a
in
ta
in
 t
h
e
 s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 o
f 
th
e
 

G
ra
d
e
 I
I 
lis
te
d
 b
u
ild
in
g
 a
n
d
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 h
e
a
t 

re
te
n
ti
o
n

1
8
S
k
a
ti
n
g
 A
re
a
 E
x
h
ib
it
io
n
 F
ie
ld
s

A
C

C
2

1
6
,0
0
0
#

Im
p
ro
v
e
d
 s
k
a
ti
n
g
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 t
o
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 

re
c
re
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
u
s
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 1
0
 t
o
 2
5
 y
e
a
r 
a
g
e
 

g
ro
u
p

1
9
S
p
o
rt
s
 F
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 R
e
fu
rb
is
h
m
e
n
t

A
C

C
1

5
0
,0
0
0
#

5
0
,0
0
0

#

R
e
fu
rb
is
h
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
le
is
u
re
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 i
n
 

a
c
c
o
rd
a
n
c
e
 w
it
h
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
tu
a
l 
o
b
lig
a
ti
o
n
s
. 
 

R
e
p
la
c
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
it
e
m
s
 o
f 
p
la
n
t 
a
n
d
 m
a
c
h
in
e
ry
 

th
a
t 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
re
ta
in
s
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ty
 f
o
r

S
u
b
 T
o
ta
l 
- 
C
u
lt
u
ra
l 
a
n
d
 F
u
n
 P
la
c
e
 T
o
 B
e

1
0
,4
0
5
,0
2
1

7
,2
0
2
,9
4
8

3
,8
1
1
,2
4
9

0

E
S
T
R
O
N
G
 C
O
M
M
U
N
IT
IE
S

1
N
e
w
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 C
e
n
tr
e
 f
o
r 
C
o
u
n
te
s
s
 W

e
a
r

A
C

C
2

2
2
0
,0
0
0

#

T
o
 a
s
s
is
t 
th
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 g
ro
u
p
 i
n
 i
ts
 e
ff
o
rt
 t
o
 

im
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 i
n
 C
o
u
n
te
s
s
 

W
e
a
r

2
R
e
-c
la
d
d
in
g
 o
f 
P
a
p
e
rc
h
a
in
 S
to
re
 a
t 
th
e
 M
R
F

P
M

C
2

6
6
,1
0
0

T
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
 w
a
te
rt
ig
h
t 
s
h
e
ll 
fo
r 
s
to
ra
g
e
 b
y
 

P
a
p
e
rc
h
a
in
 a
n
d
 s
o
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
 

le
a
s
e
d
 f
a
c
ili
ty
 f
o
r 
th
is
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 s
e
rv
ic
e

S
u
b
 T
o
ta
l 
- 
S
tr
o
n
g
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

6
6
,1
0
0

2
2
0
,0
0
0

0
0

5

Page 29



A
P
P
E
N
D
I
X
 6

S
C
H
E
M
E
S
 L
IS
T
E
D
 W

IT
H
IN
 K
E
Y
 S
T
R
A
T
E
G
IC
 T
H
E
M
E
S

L
e
a
d

F
u
tu
re

O
ff
ic
e
r

C
a
te
g
o
ry

2
0
0
8
/0
9

2
0
0
9
/1
0

2
0
1
0
/1
1

Y
e
a
rs

£
£

£
£

W
h
a
t 
is
 t
h
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 t
ry
in
g
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
e

G
E
N
E
R
A
L
 F
U
N
D
 -
 C
A
P
IT
A
L
 P
R
O
G
R
A
M
M
E
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 A
N
D
 F
U
T
U
R
E
 Y
E
A
R
S

F
H
E
A
L
T
Y
 A
N
D
 A
C
T
IV
E
 C
IT
Y

1
D
is
a
b
le
d
 F
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 G
ra
n
ts

B
N

C
1

4
5
0
,0
0
0
#

4
5
0
,0
0
0

#

T
o
 m
e
e
t 
th
e
 l
e
g
a
l 
d
u
ty
 t
o
 p
a
y
 g
ra
n
ts
 t
o
 

e
n
a
b
le
d
 d
is
a
b
le
d
 p
e
o
p
le
 t
o
 r
e
m
a
in
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 

h
o
m
e
s

S
u
b
 T
o
ta
l 
- 
H
e
a
lt
h
y
 a
n
d
 A
c
ti
v
e
 C
it
y

4
5
0
,0
0
0

4
5
0
,0
0
0

0
0

G
E
N
V
IR
O
N
M
E
N
T
 C
A
R
E
D
 F
O
R

1
A
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
V
e
h
ic
le
 f
o
r 
G
a
rd
e
n
 a
n
d
 D
o
g
 W

a
s
te

B
N

C
1

3
0
,0
0
0

N
e
w
 v
e
h
ic
le
 t
o
 h
e
lp
 m
e
e
t 
th
e
 d
e
m
a
n
d
s
 o
f 
th
e
 

g
a
rd
e
n
 w
a
s
te
 c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 a
n
d
 

c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
s
 f
ro
m
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
d
 n
u
m
b
e
rs
 o
f 
d
o
g
 

b
in
s

2
C
e
m
e
te
ri
e
s
 a
n
d
 C
h
u
rc
h
e
s
 S
to
ra
g
e
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts

P
M

C
2

5
0
,0
0
0
#

C
a
rr
y
 o
u
t 
n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 

re
p
a
ir
s
 t
o
 v
e
h
ic
le
 a
n
d
 e
q
u
ip
m
e
n
t 
s
to
ra
g
e
 a
t 

H
ig
h
e
r 
C
e
m
e
te
ry
 a
n
d
 E
x
w
ic
k
 C
e
m
e
te
ry

3
C
it
y
 C
e
n
tr
e
 E
n
h
a
n
c
e
m
e
n
ts

J
R

C
2

2
0
0
,0
0
0
#

2
0
0
,0
0
0

#

T
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 c
it
y
 

c
e
n
tr
e
's
 p
e
d
e
s
tr
ia
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 

e
n
c
o
m
p
a
s
s
 L
o
w
e
r 
H
ig
h
 S
tr
e
e
t,
 C
ri
c
k
le
p
it
 a
n
d
 

P
a
ri
s
 S
tr
e
e
t

4
C
iv
ic
 C
e
n
tr
e
 C
o
n
v
e
rs
io
n
 o
f 
B
o
ile
r 
to
 D
u
a
l 
F
u
e
l

J
S

C
2

2
5
,4
0
0
#

T
o
 h
e
lp
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 e
n
e
rg
y
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 

C
iv
ic
 C
e
n
tr
e

5
C
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 A
re
a
 E
n
h
a
n
c
e
m
e
n
ts

R
S

C
2

3
1
,0
0
0
#

T
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 f
o
r 
a
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 

e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
e
n
h
a
n
c
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 f
if
te
e
n
 

d
e
s
ig
n
a
te
d
 c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 a
re
a
s

6
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 C
o
w
ic
k
 S
tr
e
e
t

R
S

C
1

1
0
0
,0
0
0

1
0
0
,0
0
0

T
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 

C
o
w
ic
k
 S
tr
e
e
t 
in
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
 t
h
is
 

e
n
tr
a
n
c
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 C
it
y
 a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 

s
h
o
p
s
 a
n
d
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 a
n
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 

th
e
 p
e
d
e
s
tr
ia
n
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t

7
E
x
e
te
r 
C
o
rn
 E
x
c
h
a
n
g
e
 -
 I
n
s
ta
ll 
W
o
o
d
 P
e
lle
t 
B
o
ile
r

D
P

C
1

8
0
,0
0
0

T
o
 r
e
p
la
c
e
 t
h
e
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 o
b
s
o
le
te
 o
il 
h
e
a
ti
n
g
 

b
o
ile
r 
w
it
h
 a
 w
o
o
d
 p
e
lle
t 
b
o
ile
r,
 w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 a
ls
o
 

h
e
lp
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il'
s
 c
a
rb
o
n
 d
io
x
id
e
 

e
m
is
s
io
n
s

8
E
x
w
ic
k
 R
e
ta
in
in
g
 W

a
lls

D
H

C
1

3
1
,0
0
0
#

P
ro
v
id
e
s
 f
o
r 
e
s
s
e
n
ti
a
l 
m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 t
o
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 

o
f 
re
ta
in
in
g
 w
a
lls
 i
n
 F
a
rm

 H
ill
, 
E
x
w
ic
k
 t
o
 

e
n
s
u
re
 p
u
b
lic
 s
a
fe
ty

9
F
o
re
 S
tr
e
e
t,
 H
e
a
v
it
re
e
 -
 E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
E
n
h
a
n
c
e
m
e
n
t

R
S

C
2

3
5
9
,6
4
0
#

T
o
 c
re
a
te
 a
 w
e
ll-
d
e
s
ig
n
e
d
 p
u
b
lic
 r
e
a
lm
 w
h
ic
h
 

m
e
d
ia
te
s
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 m
o
to
r 
v
e
h
ic
le
s
 a
n
d
 

p
e
d
e
s
tr
ia
n
s
 a
n
d
 w
h
ic
h
 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
s
 F
o
re
 S
tr
e
e
t 

a
s
 a
 p
la
c
e
 t
o
 v
is
it

6

Page 30



A
P
P
E
N
D
I
X
 6

S
C
H
E
M
E
S
 L
IS
T
E
D
 W

IT
H
IN
 K
E
Y
 S
T
R
A
T
E
G
IC
 T
H
E
M
E
S

L
e
a
d

F
u
tu
re

O
ff
ic
e
r

C
a
te
g
o
ry

2
0
0
8
/0
9

2
0
0
9
/1
0

2
0
1
0
/1
1

Y
e
a
rs

£
£

£
£

W
h
a
t 
is
 t
h
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 t
ry
in
g
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
e

G
E
N
E
R
A
L
 F
U
N
D
 -
 C
A
P
IT
A
L
 P
R
O
G
R
A
M
M
E
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 A
N
D
 F
U
T
U
R
E
 Y
E
A
R
S

G
E
N
V
IR
O
N
M
E
N
T
 C
A
R
E
D
 F
O
R
 (
C
O
N
T
)

1
0
G
e
n
e
ra
l 
O
p
e
n
 S
p
a
c
e
s
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts

P
M

C
1

1
0
0
,0
0
0
#

T
o
 a
llo
w
 e
s
s
e
n
ti
a
l 
re
p
a
ir
s
 a
n
d
 f
a
c
ili
ty
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 b
e
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 
w
it
h
in
 

a
llo
tm
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 p
u
b
lic
 o
p
e
n
 s
p
a
c
e
s

1
1
L
a
n
d
s
c
a
p
e
 D
e
s
ig
n
 P
ro
je
c
t 
a
t 
H
o
n
it
o
n
 R
o
a
d

R
S

C
2

2
0
,0
0
0

T
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
n
 a
tt
ra
c
ti
v
e
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 t
h
e
 C
it
y
 

fr
o
m
 t
h
e
 M
5
 b
y
 p
la
n
ti
n
g
 t
re
e
s
 a
n
d
 s
h
ru
b
s

1
2
L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 C
a
rb
o
n
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e

P
M

C
2

1
0
0
,0
0
0

1
0
0
,0
0
0

1
0
0
,0
0
0

2
0
0
,0
0
0

T
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
 a
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
c
il'
s
 c
a
rb
o
n
 d
io
x
id
e
 e
m
is
s
io
n
s
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

th
e
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 
e
n
e
rg
y
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
, 

re
n
e
w
a
b
le
 e
n
e
rg
y
 a
n
d
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 

in
it
ia
ti
v
e
s

1
3
N
e
w
 T
ra
d
e
 W

a
s
te
 R
e
c
y
c
la
b
le
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 V
e
h
ic
le

B
N

C
1

7
0
,0
0
0

T
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
 r
e
c
y
c
la
b
le
 c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
ra
d
e
 

c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 w
a
s
te
 g
o
in
g
 t
o
 

la
n
d
fi
ll 

1
4
N
e
w
 W

h
e
e
lie
 B
in
s

B
N

C
1

4
0
,0
0
0

T
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
ll 
h
o
m
e
s
 w
it
h
 w
h
e
e
lie
 b
in
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

re
c
y
c
le
 f
ro
m
 h
o
m
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 

p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
w
h
e
e
lie
 b
in
s
 t
o
 n
e
w
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ti
a
l 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts

1
5
P
la
n
n
in
g
 D
e
liv
e
ry
 G
ra
n
t 
S
c
h
e
m
e
s

R
S

C
2

4
0
,0
0
0
#

T
o
 a
llo
w
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 i
n
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 S
e
rv
ic
e

1
6
T
a
rm

a
c
 C
e
m
e
te
ry
 P
a
th
s

P
M

C
1

1
0
,0
0
0

1
0
,0
0
0

1
0
,0
0
0

2
0
,0
0
0

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 
ta
rm

a
c
in
g
 a
n
d
 k
e
rb
in
g
 

to
 r
a
is
e
 o
v
e
ra
ll 
s
ta
n
d
a
rd
 o
f 
c
e
m
e
te
ry
 r
o
a
d
s
 

a
n
d
 p
a
th
s
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
 s
a
fe
r 

e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t

1
7
U
p
g
ra
d
e
 o
f 
T
u
rf
 S
e
w
a
g
e
 T
re
a
tm
e
n
t 
P
la
n
t

A
C

C
2

1
0
,0
0
0

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 t
o
w
a
rd
s
 t
h
e
 u
p
g
ra
d
e
 o
f 
s
e
w
a
g
e
 

tr
e
a
tm
e
n
t 
p
la
n
t 
in
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 p
ro
v
id
e
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 

tr
e
a
tm
e
n
t 
o
f 
s
e
w
a
g
e
 a
n
d
 a
 r
e
lia
b
le
 s
u
p
p
ly
 o
f 

w
a
te
r

S
u
b
 T
o
ta
l 
- 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
C
a
re
d
 F
o
r

1
,2
9
7
,0
4
0

4
1
0
,0
0
0

1
1
0
,0
0
0

2
2
0
,0
0
0

H
S
A
F
E
 C
IT
Y

1
C
C
T
V
 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
n
c
y
 -
 E
n
h
a
n
c
e
m
e
n
ts

J
R

C
1

1
5
,0
0
0
#

1
5
,0
0
0

#

T
e
c
h
n
ic
a
l 
a
d
v
ic
e
 i
n
 r
e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
e
x
p
a
n
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 

e
x
is
ti
n
g
 C
C
T
V
 c
o
v
e
ra
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 C
it
y
 t
o
 t
a
rg
e
t 

id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 c
ri
m
e
 h
o
ts
p
o
ts
  
 

2
C
C
T
V
 S
y
s
te
m
 E
n
h
a
n
c
e
m
e
n
ts

B
N

C
1

2
5
,0
0
0

T
o
 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
 t
h
e
 c
o
v
e
ra
g
e
 a
n
d
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 o
f 

th
e
 C
it
y
's
 C
C
T
V
 t
o
 t
a
rg
e
t 
id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 c
ri
m
e
 

h
o
ts
p
o
ts
 a
n
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 s
a
fe
ty

3
In
c
re
a
s
e
d
 C
C
T
V
 C
o
v
e
ra
g
e
 a
t 
th
e
 C
iv
ic
 C
e
n
tr
e

J
S

C
1

2
5
,0
0
0

T
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 c
o
v
e
ra
g
e
 o
f 
a
ll 
v
u
ln
e
ra
b
le
 

a
re
a
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 C
iv
ic
 C
e
n
tr
e
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 p
ro
v
id
e
 

im
p
ro
v
e
d
 s
e
c
u
ri
ty
 f
o
r 
b
o
th
 s
ta
ff
 a
n
d
 v
is
it
o
rs

4
P
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
C
C
T
V
 a
t 
H
a
v
e
n
 R
o
a
d
 C
a
r 
P
a
rk
 &
 B
o
a
t 
S
to
ra
g
e
 A
re
a

R
C

C
2

6
0
,0
0
0
#

P
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
s
ix
 C
C
T
V
 c
a
m
e
ra
s
 a
n
d
 o
n
e
 h
e
lp
 

p
o
in
t 
s
ta
ti
o
n
 t
o
 h
e
lp
 g
iv
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
d
 s
e
c
u
ri
ty
 t
o
 

u
s
e
rs
 o
f 
th
e
 c
a
r 
p
a
rk
 a
n
d
 b
o
a
ty
a
rd
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s

5
P
u
rc
h
a
s
e
 T
w
o
 M
A
T
R
O
N
 N
o
is
e
 M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 S
y
s
te
m
s

B
N

C
1

1
4
,0
0
0

T
o
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 m
a
in
ta
in
 t
h
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
a
n
 

u
n
m
a
n
n
e
d
 o
u
t 
o
f 
h
o
u
rs
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 f
o
r 

n
o
is
e
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g

S
u
b
 T
o
ta
l 
- 
S
a
fe
 C
it
y

1
3
9
,0
0
0

1
5
,0
0
0

0
0

7

Page 31



A
P
P
E
N
D
I
X
 6

S
C
H
E
M
E
S
 L
IS
T
E
D
 W

IT
H
IN
 K
E
Y
 S
T
R
A
T
E
G
IC
 T
H
E
M
E
S

L
e
a
d

F
u
tu
re

O
ff
ic
e
r

C
a
te
g
o
ry

2
0
0
8
/0
9

2
0
0
9
/1
0

2
0
1
0
/1
1

Y
e
a
rs

£
£

£
£

W
h
a
t 
is
 t
h
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 t
ry
in
g
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
e

G
E
N
E
R
A
L
 F
U
N
D
 -
 C
A
P
IT
A
L
 P
R
O
G
R
A
M
M
E
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 A
N
D
 F
U
T
U
R
E
 Y
E
A
R
S

I
A
 L
E
A
R
N
IN
G
 C
IT
Y

1
Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
t 
th
e
 Q
u
a
y
 H
o
u
s
e
 V
is
it
o
r 
C
e
n
tr
e

R
B

C
1

5
3
,0
0
0

E
n
h
a
n
c
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 t
h
e
 c
e
n
tr
e
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 

m
a
in
ta
in
 i
ts
 p
o
s
it
io
n
 a
s
 a
 k
e
y
 v
is
it
o
r 

in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 p
o
in
t 
o
n
 E
x
e
te
r'
s
 h
is
to
ri
c
 q
u
a
y
s
id
e
.

S
u
b
 T
o
ta
l 
- 
A
 L
e
a
rn
in
g
 C
it
y

5
3
,0
0
0

0
0

0

J
H
O
U
S
IN
G
 I
N
 T
H
E
 C
IT
Y

1
S
o
c
ia
l 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 G
ra
n
ts

S
W

C
2

2
,5
1
2
,7
5
0
#

4
5
0
,0
0
0

#

1
,0
0
0
,0
0
0

1
,0
0
0
,0
0
0

1
,0
0
0
,0
0
0

1
,5
0
0
,0
0
0

2
R
e
n
o
v
a
ti
o
n
 G
ra
n
ts

B
N

C
1

7
5
0
,0
0
0
#

5
0
0
,0
0
0

#
T
o
 a
s
s
is
t 
in
 m
a
k
in
g
 p
ri
v
a
te
 s
e
c
to
r 
h
o
m
e
s
 f
it
 f
o
r 

h
a
b
it
a
ti
o
n

S
u
b
 T
o
ta
l 
- 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 i
n
 t
h
e
 C
it
y

4
,2
6
2
,7
5
0

1
,9
5
0
,0
0
0

1
,0
0
0
,0
0
0

1
,5
0
0
,0
0
0

K
A
C
H
IE
V
IN
G
 E
X
C
E
L
L
E
N
C
E
 I
N
 P
U
B
L
IC
 S
E
R
V
IC
E
S

1
B
e
lle
 I
s
le
 N
u
rs
e
ry
 V
a
ri
o
u
s
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts

P
M

C
2

7
2
,7
4
0
#

T
o
 c
a
rr
y
 o
u
t 
n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
 r
e
p
a
ir
s
 a
n
d
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 s
to
ra
g
e
 b
u
ild
in
g
s
, 
ro
a
d
w
a
y
s
 

a
n
d
 w
a
lk
w
a
y
s

2
C
a
p
it
a
lis
e
d
 S
ta
ff
 C
o
s
ts

A
S

C
1

3
7
0
,0
0
0

3
7
0
,0
0
0

3
7
0
,0
0
0

3
7
0
,0
0
0

T
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 c
o
s
t 
o
f 
c
e
rt
a
in
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
, 
w
h
ic
h
 w
ill
 b
e
 d
ir
e
c
tl
y
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 i
n
 

th
e
 c
o
n
s
tr
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
r 
a
c
q
u
is
it
io
n
 o
f 
a
s
s
e
ts
 a
n
d
 

q
u
a
lif
y
 a
s
 c
a
p
it
a
l 
e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 

e
n
g
in
e
e
rs
, 
a
rc
h
it
e
c
ts
 a
n
d
 s
u
rv
e
y
o
rs

3
C
iv
ic
 C
e
n
tr
e
 R
e
fu
rb
is
h
 L
in
k
 B
ri
d
g
e

J
S

C
1

1
0
,0
0
0
#

T
o
 r
e
p
la
c
e
 f
ir
e
 d
o
o
rs
 a
n
d
 c
a
rr
y
 o
u
t 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 w
o
rk
s

4
E
x
te
rn
a
l 
P
ro
fe
s
s
io
n
a
l 
S
u
p
p
o
rt
 -
 A
rc
h
it
e
c
ts
, 
S
u
rv
e
y
o
rs
 e
tc

P
M

C
2

1
0
0
,0
0
0
#

T
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 f
o
r 
a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
p
ro
fe
s
s
io
n
a
l 

re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 h
e
lp
 d
e
liv
e
r 
c
a
p
it
a
l 

s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 w
it
h
in
 p
la
n
n
e
d
 t
im
e
s
c
a
le
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 

e
x
te
rn
a
l 
a
rc
h
it
e
c
ts
, 
s
u
rv
e
y
o
rs
 a
n
d
 e
n
g
in
e
e
rs

5
E
x
w
ic
k
 C
e
m
e
te
ry
 -
 C
re
a
te
 N
e
w
 B
u
ri
a
l 
A
re
a

P
M

C
1

1
3
,5
0
0
#

T
o
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 f
o
r 
b
u
ri
a
ls
 a
t 

E
x
w
ic
k
 C
e
m
e
te
ry

6
P
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
a
 G
a
rd
e
n
 o
f 
R
e
m
e
m
b
ra
n
c
e
 a
t 
E
x
w
ic
k
 C
e
m
e
te
ry

B
P

C
1

1
5
,0
0
0

1
5
,0
0
0

T
o
 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 f
o
r 
th
e
 b
e
re
a
v
e
d
 

b
y
 o
ff
e
ri
n
g
 m
o
re
 o
p
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
b
u
ri
a
l 
a
n
d
 

m
e
m
o
ri
a
lis
a
ti
o
n

T
o
 f
a
c
ili
ta
te
 t
h
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 

in
 t
h
e
 C
it
y

8

Page 32



A
P
P
E
N
D
I
X
 6

S
C
H
E
M
E
S
 L
IS
T
E
D
 W

IT
H
IN
 K
E
Y
 S
T
R
A
T
E
G
IC
 T
H
E
M
E
S

L
e
a
d

F
u
tu
re

O
ff
ic
e
r

C
a
te
g
o
ry

2
0
0
8
/0
9

2
0
0
9
/1
0

2
0
1
0
/1
1

Y
e
a
rs

£
£

£
£

W
h
a
t 
is
 t
h
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 t
ry
in
g
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
e

G
E
N
E
R
A
L
 F
U
N
D
 -
 C
A
P
IT
A
L
 P
R
O
G
R
A
M
M
E
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 A
N
D
 F
U
T
U
R
E
 Y
E
A
R
S

K
A
C
H
IE
V
IN
G
 E
X
C
E
L
L
E
N
C
E
 I
N
 P
U
B
L
IC
 S
E
R
V
IC
E
S
 (
C
O
N
T
)

7
R
e
fu
rb
is
h
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
C
iv
ic
 C
e
n
tr
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
a
l 
A
re
a
s

J
S

C
1

4
7
6
,6
2
0
#

T
o
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
h
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 
re
fu
rb
is
h
in
g
 t
h
e
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
a
l 
a
re
a
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 C
iv
ic
 C
e
n
tr
e
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
, 

re
p
la
c
in
g
 f
ir
e
 d
o
o
rs
, 
re
fu
rb
is
h
 s
ta
ff
 t
o
ile
ts
, 

u
p
g
ra
d
e
 l
if
t 
lo
b
b
ie
s
 a
n
d
 u
p
g
ra
d
e
 m
in
i 
k
it
c
h
e
n
s

8
C
iv
ic
 C
e
n
tr
e
 R
e
p
la
c
e
 C
o
n
tr
o
l 
P
a
n
e
ls
 a
n
d
 D
ri
v
e
s
 i
n
 L
if
ts

J
S

C
1

4
8
,0
0
0
#

T
o
 r
e
p
la
c
e
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
tr
o
l 
a
n
d
 d
ri
v
e
 s
y
s
te
m
s
 o
f 

b
o
th
 l
if
ts
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
n
e
w
 t
e
c
h
n
o
lo
g
y
 

in
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
n
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
t,
 r
e
lia
b
le
 a
n
d
 f
u
ll 

s
e
rv
ic
e

9
R
e
p
la
c
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
T
ra
c
to
r 
S
h
e
d
s

P
M

C
1

9
9
,9
8
0
#

T
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
 p
u
rp
o
s
e
 b
u
ilt
 P
a
rk
s
 a
n
d
 O
p
e
n
 

S
p
a
c
e
s
 d
e
p
o
t 
a
t 
K
in
g
 G
e
o
rg
e
s
 F
ie
ld
 a
n
d
 t
o
 

d
e
m
o
lis
h
 t
h
e
 o
ld
 't
ra
c
to
r 
s
h
e
d
s
'. 
 T
h
is
 w
ill
 

e
n
a
b
le
 a
 n
e
w
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 r
o
a
d
 a
n
d
 b
u
s
 s
to
p
 t
o
 b
e
 

p
ro
v
id
e
d
 f
o
r 
th
e
 n
e
w
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 c
e
n
tr
e
 f
o
r 

C
o
u
n
te
s
s
 W

e
a
r

1
0
R
e
s
u
rf
a
c
e
 M
a
tt
h
e
w
s
 H
a
ll 
C
a
r 
P
a
rk

R
C

C
1

1
6
,0
0
0

T
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 s
u
rf
a
c
e
 o
f 
th
e
 c
a
r 
p
a
rk
 i
n
 

a
c
c
o
rd
a
n
c
e
 w
it
h
 h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 s
a
fe
ty
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 t
o
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 c
u
s
to
m
e
r 

s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n

1
1
V
e
h
ic
le
 R
e
p
la
c
e
m
e
n
t 
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e

P
M

C
1

8
4
5
,5
0
0
#

6
0
0
,0
0
0

#

T
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il'
s
 v
e
h
ic
le
s
 a
re
 

re
p
la
c
e
d
 s
o
 t
h
a
t 
a
 s
a
fe
 a
n
d
 r
e
lia
b
le
 f
le
e
t 
is
 

m
a
in
ta
in
e
d

S
u
b
 T
o
ta
l 
- 
A
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 E
x
c
e
ll
e
n
c
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 P
u
b
li
c
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s

2
,0
6
7
,3
4
0

9
8
5
,0
0
0

3
7
0
,0
0
0

3
7
0
,0
0
0

T
O
T
A
L
 G
E
N
E
R
A
L
 F
U
N
D
 C
A
P
IT
A
L
 P
R
O
G
R
A
M
M
E

2
2
,3
0
7
,0
3
1

1
2
,7
5
5
,8
5
8

5
,3
2
1
,2
4
9

2
,0
9
0
,0
0
0

C
a
te
g
o
ry
 'C

1
' S

c
h
e
m
e
s

1
3
,7
8
0
,5
5
1

6
2
%

5
,6
8
2
,9
4
8

4
5
%

6
1
1
,2
4
9

1
1
%

3
9
0
,0
0
0

1
9
%

C
a
te
g
o
ry
 'C

2
' S

c
h
e
m
e
s

8
,5
2
6
,4
8
0

3
8
%

7
,0
7
2
,9
1
0

5
5
%

4
,7
1
0
,0
0
0

8
9
%

1
,7
0
0
,0
0
0

8
1
%

T
O
T
A
L
 G
E
N
E
R
A
L
 F
U
N
D
 C
A
P
IT
A
L
 P
R
O
G
R
A
M
M
E

2
2
,3
0
7
,0
3
1

1
2
,7
5
5
,8
5
8

5
,3
2
1
,2
4
9

2
,0
9
0
,0
0
0

#
In
d
ic
a
te
s
 s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d

L
e
a
d
 O
ff
ic
e
r 
K
e
y
 T
a
b
le

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
L
e
is
u
re
 a
n
d
 M
u
s
e
u
m
s

A
C

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
T
re
a
s
u
ry
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s

A
S

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
H
e
a
lt
h
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

B
N

E
n
g
in
e
e
ri
n
g
 a
n
d
 C
o
n
s
tr
u
c
ti
o
n
 M
a
n
a
g
e
r

D
H

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
E
s
ta
te
s
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s

D
P

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
E
c
o
n
o
m
y
 a
n
d
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t

J
R

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s

J
S

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
A
d
m
in
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 B
e
re
a
v
e
m
e
n
t 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s

B
P

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
IT
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s

P
E

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
C
o
n
tr
a
c
ts
 a
n
d
 D
ir
e
c
t 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s

P
M

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
E
c
o
n
o
m
y
 a
n
d
 T
o
u
ri
s
m

R
B

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
A
d
m
in
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 P
a
rk
in
g
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s

R
C

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s

R
S

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
H
u
m
a
n
 R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s

S
S

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 S
o
c
ia
l 
In
c
lu
s
io
n

S
W

9

Page 33



Page 34

This page is intentionally left blank



A
P
P
E
N
D
I
X
 7

2
0
0
7
-2
0
0
8

2
0
0
8
-2
0
0
9

2
0
0
9
-2
0
1
0

2
0
1
0
-2
0
1
1

T
o
ta
l

B
/F
W
D

£
£

£
£

£

H
O
U
S
IN
G
 I
N
 T
H
E
 C
IT
Y

1
A
d
a
p
ta
ti
o
n
s

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

4
0
0
,0
0
0

  
  
  
 

4
0
0
,0
0
0

  
  
 

4
0
0
,0
0
0

  
  
  
 

1
,2
0
0
,0
0
0

  
  

2
A
s
b
e
s
to
s
 S
u
rv
e
y

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
0
0
,0
0
0

  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

1
0
0
,0
0
0

  
  
  
 

3
A
s
b
e
s
to
s
 W

o
rk

(1
0
,0
0
0
)

5
0
,0
0
0

  
  
  
  
 

2
5
,0
0
0

  
  
  
 

2
5
,0
0
0

  
  
  
  
 

9
0
,0
0
0

  
  
  
  
 

4
B
a
th
ro
o
m
 R
e
p
la
c
e
m
e
n
ts

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

3
5
1
,3
8
0

  
  
  
 

3
6
6
,7
5
0

  
  
 

3
6
6
,7
5
0

  
  
  
 

1
,0
8
4
,8
8
0

  
  

5
C
e
n
tr
a
l 
H
e
a
ti
n
g

(5
0
,0
0
0
)

4
3
2
,3
4
0

  
  
  
 

3
7
7
,6
8
0

  
  
 

3
7
7
,6
8
0

  
  
  
 

1
,1
3
7
,7
0
0

  
  

6
C
o
m
m
u
n
a
l 
T
V
 A
e
ri
a
ls

2
0
,0
0
0

  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

9
,5
0
0

  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

2
9
,5
0
0

  
  
  
  
 

7
C
o
u
n
c
il 
H
o
u
s
e
 E
x
te
n
s
io
n
s

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
0
0
,0
0
0

  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

1
0
0
,0
0
0

  
  
  
 

8
D
e
fe
c
ti
v
e
 P
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

2
5
3
,5
0
0

  
  
  
 

2
6
2
,5
0
5

  
  
 

2
6
2
,5
0
5

  
  
  
 

7
7
8
,5
1
0

  
  
  
 

9
D
o
o
r 
E
n
tr
y
 S
y
s
te
m
s

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
0
,0
0
0

  
  
  
  
 

1
0
,0
0
0

  
  
  
 

1
0
,0
0
0

  
  
  
  
 

3
0
,0
0
0

  
  
  
  
 

1
0

D
o
o
r 
R
e
p
la
c
e
m
e
n
ts

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

7
5
,7
5
0

  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

7
5
,7
5
0

  
  
  
  
 

1
1

E
le
c
tr
ic
a
l 
R
e
w
ir
e
s
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
d

(9
8
,8
9
0
)

4
9
2
,1
5
0

  
  
  
 

4
2
9
,5
0
5

  
  
 

4
2
9
,5
0
5

  
  
  
 

1
,2
5
2
,2
7
0

  
  

1
2

E
n
e
rg
y
 C
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

5
0
,0
0
0

  
  
  
  
 

5
0
,0
0
0

  
  
  
 

5
0
,0
0
0

  
  
  
  
 

1
5
0
,0
0
0

  
  
  
 

1
3

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

1
4
0
,0
0
0

  
  
  
 

1
4
0
,0
0
0

  
  
 

1
4
0
,0
0
0

  
  
  
 

4
2
0
,0
0
0

  
  
  
 

1
4

E
x
te
rn
a
l 
W
a
lls

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

5
4
,6
3
0

  
  
  
  
 

2
8
,9
6
5

  
  
  
 

2
8
,9
6
5

  
  
  
  
 

1
1
2
,5
6
0

  
  
  
 

1
5

F
e
e
s

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

3
9
1
,5
1
0

  
  
  
 

3
9
1
,0
0
0

  
  
 

3
9
1
,0
0
0

  
  
  
 

1
,1
7
3
,5
1
0

  
  

1
6

K
it
c
h
e
n
 R
e
p
la
c
e
m
e
n
ts

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

9
8
0
,4
5
0

  
  
  
 

1
,0
2
4
,9
1
5

  
1
,0
2
4
,9
1
5

  
  

3
,0
3
0
,2
8
0

  
  

1
7

P
la
s
ti
c
 w
in
d
o
w
s
/ 
d
o
o
rs
 r
e
a
c
ti
v
e

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

4
4
,4
8
0

  
  
  
 

4
4
,4
8
0

  
  
  
  
 

8
8
,9
6
0

  
  
  
  
 

1
8

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
d
 R
e
ro
o
fi
n
g

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

8
5
5
,2
8
0

  
  
  
 

7
1
3
,8
7
5

  
  
 

7
1
3
,8
7
5

  
  
  
 

2
,2
8
3
,0
3
0

  
  

1
9

R
e
n
d
e
ri
n
g
 o
f 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
D
w
e
lli
n
g
s

2
5
0
,0
0
0

  
  
 

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

2
0
0
,0
0
0

  
  
 

2
0
0
,0
0
0

  
  
  
 

6
5
0
,0
0
0

  
  
  
 

2
0

S
h
e
lt
e
re
d
 A
c
c
o
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n

3
5
4
,4
3
0

  
  
 

4
0
0
,0
0
0

  
  
  
 

5
2
5
,0
0
0

  
  
 

5
2
5
,0
0
0

  
  
  
 

1
,8
0
4
,4
3
0

  
  

2
1

U
P
V
C
 G
u
tt
e
rs
, 
D
o
w
n
p
ip
e
s
 &
 F
a
s
c
ia

-
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

2
0
0
,0
0
0

  
  
  
 

1
0
0
,0
0
0

  
  
 

1
0
0
,0
0
0

  
  
  
 

4
0
0
,0
0
0

  
  
  
 

T
o
ta
l 
H
R
A
 C
a
p
it
a
l 
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e

4
6
5
,5
4
0

5
,3
3
6
,9
9
0

  
  

5
,0
9
9
,1
7
5

  
5
,0
8
9
,6
7
5

  
  

1
5
,9
9
1
,3
8
0

  

S
C
H
E
M
E
S
 L
IS
T
E
D
 W

IT
H
IN
 K
E
Y

H
O
U
S
I
N
G
 -
 C
A
P
I
T
A
L
 P
R
O
G
R
A
M
M
E
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 A
N
D
 F
U
T
U
R
E
 Y
E
A
R
S

S
T
R
A
T
E
G
IC
 T
H
E
M
E
S

Page 35



Page 36

This page is intentionally left blank



EXETER CITY COUNCIL 

 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - RESOURCES 

23 JANUARY 2008 

 

EXECUTIVE  

11 FEBRUARY 2008 

 

 

ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY  - 2008-09 

 

 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

 

1.1 To seek adoption by the Council of the Annual Investment Strategy 2008-09, as required 

under section 15(1)(a) of the Local Government Act 2003.   

 

2. BACKGROUND 

 

2.1 Formal guidance was issued by the Secretary of State in March 2004 under section 

15(1)(a) of the Local Government Act 2003 concerning the adoption of an Annual 

Investment Strategy that sets out the authority’s policies for managing its investments. 

The guidance applies in relation to the financial year 2004/05 and subsequent financial 

years. The guidance indicates that the Annual Investment Strategy must be approved by 

full Council before the start of the financial year. 

 

3. ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY – CHANGES 

 

3.1 It is not proposed to make any substantial changes to the current policy.  It has been 

updated to reflect our current investment patterns and section 2.3 has been expanded to 

clarify that the Council will borrow at the best interest rates available to minimise the 

cost of financing the capital programme. 

 

4. RISKS INVOLVED 

 

4.1 The strategy continues to minimise the risk of lending money as we only lend to those 

institutions with high credit ratings.  Credit ratings are monitored on a monthly basis and 

we limit the amount that we lend to individual organisations.  The current economic 

conditions have highlighted the risks involved and we have, for example, suspended 

investing in Northern Rock.  However, Building Societies tend to have less aggressive 

business models than the smaller banks and are therefore widely acknowledged as very 

low risk counterparties and limiting our lending to the top 25 will minimise this risk.   

 

5. CONCLUSIONS 

 

5.1 There are no significant amendments to the Annual Investment Strategy. 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 37



 

6. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

6.1 It is recommended that the Executive recommend to Council the adoption of the attached 

Annual Investment Strategy and delegations contained therein. 

 

 

 

HEAD OF TREASURY SERVICES 

 

CORPORATE SERVICES DIRECTORATE 

 

 
Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 (as amended 

Background Papers used in compiling this report:  

1. Treasury Management Strategy 

2. Fund Manager Contracts  

Page 38



APPENDIX A 

EXETER CITY COUNCIL 

 

ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY – 2008-09 

 

1. Introduction 

 

1.1 The Council has regard to the ODPM’s Guidance on Local Government Investments 

(“Guidance”) and CIPFA’s Treasury Management in Public Services: Code of Practice 

and Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes (“CIPFA TM Code”). 

 

2. Investment Principles 

 

2.1 The overriding principles of the Council: 

 

• All investments will be conducted in sterling; 

• The Council’s main objective is the security of its investments; 

• The liquidity of investments is also a key objective.  

 

2.2 The council will aim to achieve the optimum return on its investments commensurate 

with the proper levels of security and liquidity. 

 

2.3 The Guidance maintains that the borrowing of monies purely to invest or on-lend and 

make a return is unlawful and this Council will not engage in such activity.  The Council 

will however seek to borrow at the most appropriate time in order to finance its future 

capital programme. 

 

3. Specified and Non-Specified Investments 

 

3.1 In-house investments are either placed in call accounts or on term deposits with banks 

and building societies in line with the limits set out in section 5.1.  No investments shall 

be made over one year.  Our external Fund Manager only invests in institutions or money 

market funds with the highest possible credit rating and may invest for more than one 

year. 

 

3.2 Specified Investments 

• All investments up to one year, in sterling with institutions set out in 5.1 below shall 

be deemed specified.   

• The types of investment include term deposits and certificates of deposits.   

• The external managers may also invest in gilts and Government fixed interest 

securities for up to one year, which will also be classed as specified. 

• Use of money markets may be made (AAA rated only) for periods of no more than a 

year by both the in-house and external investment managers. 

 

3.3 Non specified Investments 

• In-house investing may be made to a lower level with Building Societies who are 

asset ranked in the top 25 societies who do not subscribe to credit ratings.  These are 

seen to be of low risk and have a large asset base.  Investments may be for no longer 

than one year. 

• The external Fund Manager may invest in Government fixed interest Securities for 

Page 39



more than one year as they are liquid, low risk and allow for good financial planning. 

• The external Fund Manager may invest in Certificates of Deposit for more than one 

year using their professional judgement. 

• The above is subject to the requirement that no more than 50% of the external 

managers Fund may be held in non-specified investments during the year.  

 

4. Liquidity 

 

4.1 Based on its cash flow forecasts, the Council anticipates its external fund balances in 

2008-09 to range between £20m and £25m.  Daily cashflow balances will normally range 

between £0 and £12m.  In addition £5m has been invested for up to 364 days. 

 

4.2 Giving due consideration to the Council’s level of balances over the next 

5 years, the need for liquidity, its spending commitments and provisioning for 

contingencies, the Council has determined that the external Fund Manager may hold up 

to 50% in ‘non specified’ investments during the year. 

 

5. Security of Capital: The use of Credit Ratings 

 

5.1 Credit quality of counterparties (issuers and issues) and investment schemes will, in the 

first instance, be determined by reference to credit ratings published by Moody’s and 

Fitch. No institution with less than a Fitch F1 (Moody P-1) rating will be used for any 

investment.  However, asset rankings are also considered appropriate criteria for 

Building Societies falling within the top 25 rankings, which do not currently subscribe to 

Moody’s or Fitch credit ratings. 

  

In-house investment 

 

 Type of Institution Limit per Institution 

£m 

 Banks  

Minimum Fitch Rating F1+ short term 

Minimum Fitch Rating F1 short term 

Minimum Moody’s rating P-1 short term 

 

 

4m 

3m 

3m 

 Building Society 

Minimum Fitch Rating F1+ short term 

Minimum Fitch rating F1 short term, within top 25 asset 

rankings 

Minimum Moody’s rating P-1 short term, within top 25 asset 

rankings 

Asset ranking only, within top 25 asset rankings 

 

 

4m 

 

3m 

 

3m 

3m 

 

 Local Authorities 

 

3m 

  

Page 40



 

 External Fund Managers 

 

 Type of Institution Limit per Institution 

£m 

 Banks  

Minimum Fitch Rating F1+ short term 

Building Society 

Minimum Fitch Rating F1+ short term 

 

 

4m 

 

4m 

  

5.2 As the Fund Managers and in-house team can both invest in F1+ institutions, there may 

be occasions when the Council has up to £8 million invested with an F1+ rated 

institution.  As this is the highest rating possible it is considered that the risk involved is 

acceptable. 

 

5.3 Monitoring of credit ratings 

The Council subscribes to Sterling Consultancy Services, which provide a monthly credit 

rating list for the Council, as well as updates throughout the month.  The following 

monitoring is therefore in place: 

 

• All credit ratings will be monitored monthly. 

• If a downgrade results in the counterparty/investment scheme no longer meeting the 

Council’s minimum criteria as outlined in 5.1 its further use, as a new investment, will be 

withdrawn immediately and the external fund managers informed of the same. 

• If a counterparty/investment scheme is upgraded so that it fulfils the Council’s criteria, 

the Section 151 Officer will have the delegated authority to include it on the lending list. 

 

6. Investments defined as capital expenditure 

 

6.1 The Council will not use or allow its external fund managers to make any investment, 

which will be deemed capital expenditure. 

 

7. Investment Strategy to be followed in-house 

 

7.1 The Council’s in-house managed funds are based on the likely cash-flow position and 

rarely exceed one month. Investments will be made to ensure that cash flow is protected 

and borrowing is not required.  However, on occasion, money has been invested for a 

longer period up to 364 days.  These are funds which are not required for day-to-day cash 

management purposes. 

 

7.2 As Investec envisage interest rates remaining stable, the Council will continue to seek to 

utilise its Bank of Scotland reserve account (which is linked to base rate) and use short-

dated deposits up to 3 months to ensure liquidity of assets for day to day cashflow, but 

will invest for up to a maximum of one year for other investments.  Additionally, the 

Council’s bankers, the Co-operative Bank operate a Public Sector Reserve Account, 

which automatically sweeps excess funds from our general bank account into one paying 

a higher interest rate.  The limit on the account is £3 million, with interest varying 

depending on the amount in the account.  The interest paid is still much lower than other 

investments and therefore only limited funds are kept in this account. 

Page 41



 

8. External Cash Fund Management 

 

8.1 Investec manages the Council’s funds on a discretionary basis. The Strategy is in line 

with the contractually agreed procedures. 

 

9. Prudential Indicators 

 

9.1 The Council sets each year, in February, prudential indicators for Treasury Management, 

to ensure that proper control of borrowing and investing is maintained.  These indicators 

can be found in the Council’s budget book. 

 

10. End of year Investment Report 

 

10.1 At the end of the financial year, the Council will prepare a report on its investment 

activity as part of its Annual Treasury Report. 

 

 

 

HEAD OF TREASURY SERVICES 

JANUARY 2008 

Page 42



 

 

EXETER CITY COUNCIL 

 

EXECUTIVE 

11 FEBRUARY 2008 

 

THE PRUDENTIAL CODE FOR CAPITAL FINANCE IN LOCAL 

AUTHORITIES 

 

1. 

 

1.1 

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

 

To set out the proposed 2008/09 prudential indicators for capital finance for 

adoption by the Council. 

 

1.2 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) have 

published the Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities as a 

professional code of practice to support local authorities in making their capital 

investment decisions.  Since 1 April 2004, local authorities have been required 

by Regulation to comply with the Prudential Code when carrying out their duties 

under Part 1 of the Local Government Act 2003. 

 

1.3 The Prudential Code has replaced the previous complex regulatory frameworks 

governing local authority capital expenditure.  The new system is one based 

largely on self-regulation by local authorities themselves. 

 

1.4 The Prudential Indicators report will be incorporated within the Budget Book for 

approval at the full Council meeting as per the statutory requirement. 

 

2. 

 

2.1 

 

BACKGROUND 

 

With effect from 1 April 2004, the Government abolished the capital finance 

legislation in Part 4 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and the 

Local Authorities (Capital Finance) Regulations 1997 (Statutory Instrument 

1997/319) and replaced it with a new Prudential system based on self regulation.  

This means that Councils are free to borrow for capital investment where the 

borrowing is affordable. 

 

3. PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 

 

3.1 The proposed prudential indicators for the next three years are shown in 

Appendix A-C.   

 

3.2 There are very few changes to the indicators from last year other than updating 

of the capital programme and the impact on the Council Tax of newly approved 

schemes.  The council will start to borrow during 2008-09 and this is reflected 

in the Authorised Limit of the Council and the Operational Boundary.  This will 

be sufficient to manage the capital programme and any daily borrowing 

requirements.  

Agenda Item 5

Page 43



 

 

 

4. 

 

4.1 

 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

It is recommended that: 

 

• The prudential indicators set out in Appendix A–C be adopted. 

 

 

HEAD OF TREASURY SERVICES 

 
CORPORATE SERVICES DIRECTORATE 

 

 
Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 (as amended) 

Background papers used in compiling this report: 

1.  The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities 

2.  The Prudential Code Guidance Notes 

 

 

Page 44



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 A

T
h

e 
p

u
rp

o
se

 o
f 

th
e 

p
ru

d
en

ti
al

 i
n

d
ic

at
o

rs
 i

s 
to

 d
em

o
n

st
ra

te
 t

h
at

 t
h

e 
C

o
u

n
ci

l'
s 

fi
n

an
ci

al
 p

la
n

s 
m

ee
t 

th
e 

st
at

u
to

ry
 r

eq
u

ir
em

en
t 

to
 b

e 
af

fo
rd

ab
le

, 
p

ru
d

en
t 

an
d

 s
u

st
ai

n
ab

le
.

G
en

er
a

l 
F

u
n

d
 C

a
p

it
a

l 
E

x
p

en
d

it
u

re

T
h

e 
p

ru
d

en
ti

al
 i

n
d

ic
at

o
r 

fo
r 

ca
p

it
al

 e
x

p
en

d
it

u
re

 s
h

o
u

ld
 b

e 
b

as
ed

 u
p

o
n

 a
 c

ap
it

al
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e 

th
at

 t
ak

es
 i

n
to

 a
cc

o
u

n
t 

th
e 

C
o

u
n

ci
l'
s 

as
se

t 
m

an
ag

em
en

t 
an

d

ca
p

it
al

 i
n

v
es

tm
en

t 
st

ra
te

g
ie

s.

2
0

0
6

/0
7

2
0

0
7

/0
8

2
0

0
8

/0
9

2
0

0
9

/1
0

2
0

1
0

/1
1

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 T
h

em
e

A
ct

u
a

l
E

st
im

a
te

E
st

im
a

te
 

E
st

im
a

te
E

st
im

a
te

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

P
ro

sp
er

o
u

s 
C

it
y

1
3

5
2

8
7

2
,1

2
4

1
,3

8
8

0

A
cc

es
si

b
le

 C
it

y
1

,5
8

0
1

,0
5

4
4

3
7

1
3

5
3

0

E
le

ct
ro

n
ic

 C
it

y
1

,0
9

9
1

,0
4

1
1

,0
0

6
0

0

C
u

lt
u

ra
l 

an
d

 F
u

n
 P

la
ce

 T
o

 B
e

2
,6

0
2

3
,3

8
6

1
0

,4
0

5
7

,2
0

3
3

,8
1

1

S
tr

o
n

g
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

ie
s

0
0

6
6

2
2

0
0

H
ea

lt
h

y
 a

n
d

 A
ct

iv
e 

C
it

y
6

9
9

4
4

6
4

5
0

4
5

0
0

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
en

t 
C

ar
ed

 F
o

r
8

0
1

2
,3

1
8

1
,2

9
7

4
1

0
1

1
0

S
af

e 
C

it
y

1
6

8
2

3
7

1
3

9
1

5
0

A
 L

ea
rn

in
g

 C
it

y
0

0
5

3
0

0

H
o

u
si

n
g

 i
n

 t
h

e 
C

it
y

2
,5

1
3

3
,2

7
0

4
,2

6
3

1
,9

5
0

1
,0

0
0

A
ch

ie
v

in
g

 E
x

ce
ll

en
ce

 i
n

 P
u

b
li

c 
S

er
v

ic
es

2
,0

7
9

2
,0

7
9

2
,0

6
7

9
8

5
3

7
0

T
o

ta
l 

G
en

er
a

l 
F

u
n

d
 C

a
p

it
a

l 
E

x
p

en
d

it
u

re
1

1
,6

7
5

1
4

,1
1

8
2

2
,3

0
7

1
2

,7
5

6
5

,3
2

1

G
en

er
a

l 
F

u
n

d
 F

in
a

n
ci

n
g

 c
o

st
s

T
h

e 
fi

g
u

re
s 

fo
r 

th
e 

ac
tu

al
 f

in
an

ci
n

g
 c

o
st

s 
w

il
l 

b
e 

ta
k

en
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e 
C

o
u

n
ci

l'
s 

fi
n

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
 u

si
n

g
 t

h
e 

d
ef

in
it

io
n

 o
f 

fi
n

an
ci

n
g

 c
o

st
s 

sp
ec

if
ie

d
 i

n

th
e 

P
ru

d
en

ti
al

 C
o

d
e.

  
E

st
im

at
es

 f
o

r 
th

e 
cu

rr
en

t 
an

d
 f

u
tu

re
 y

ea
rs

 s
h

o
u

ld
 b

e 
ca

lc
u

la
te

d
 i

n
 a

 m
an

n
er

 c
o

n
si

st
en

t 
w

it
h

 t
h

is
 d

ef
in

it
io

n
.

2
0

0
6

/0
7

2
0

0
7

/0
8

2
0

0
8

/0
9

2
0

0
9

/1
0

2
0

1
0

/1
1

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
A

ct
u

a
l

E
st

im
a

te
E

st
im

a
te

E
st

im
a

te
E

st
im

a
te

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

In
te

re
st

 p
ay

ab
le

 w
it

h
 r

es
p

ec
t 

to
 s

h
o

rt
 t

er
m

 b
o

rr
o

w
in

g
1

0
3

0
0

0
0

In
te

re
st

 p
ay

ab
le

 u
n

d
er

 'i
rr

ed
ee

m
ab

le
' l

o
n

g
 t

er
m

 l
ia

b
il

it
ie

s
0

0
5

4
8

8
4

7
9

8
2

In
te

re
st

 a
n

d
 i

n
v

es
tm

en
t 

in
co

m
e

(1
,3

5
7

)
(1

,3
5

0
)

(1
,3

0
0

)
(1

,2
0

0
)

(1
,1

0
0

)

R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t 
fo

r 
M

in
im

u
m

 R
ev

en
u

e 
P

ro
v

is
io

n
 (

E
n

g
la

n
d

 a
n

d
 W

al
es

)
0

0
0

4
5

1
6

9
7

V
o

lu
n

ta
ry

 c
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
 t

o
 f

in
an

ci
n

g
 c

o
st

s 
in

 r
es

p
ec

t 
o

f 
sh

o
rt

-l
if

e 
as

se
ts

0
0

0
3

6
5

6

T
o

ta
l 

G
en

er
a

l 
F

u
n

d
 F

in
a

n
ci

n
g

 C
o

st
s

(1
,3

4
7

)
(1

,3
2

0
)

(7
5

2
)

1
3

4
6

3
5

G
en

er
a

l 
F

u
n

d
 P

ru
d

en
ti

a
l 

In
d

ic
a

to
r 

C
a

lc
u

la
ti

o
n

s

Page 45



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 A

G
en

er
a

l 
F

u
n

d
 E

st
im

a
te

s 
o

f 
th

e 
ra

ti
o

 o
f 

fi
n

a
n

ci
n

g
 c

o
st

s 
to

 n
et

 r
ev

en
u

e 
st

re
a

m

T
h

e 
n

et
 r

ev
en

u
e 

st
re

am
 i

s 
th

e 
es

ti
m

at
e 

o
f 

th
e 

am
o

u
n

ts
 t

o
 b

e 
m

et
 f

ro
m

 g
o

v
er

n
m

en
t 

g
ra

n
ts

 a
n

d
 l

o
ca

l 
ta

x
p

ay
er

s.
  

A
n

 i
m

p
o

rt
an

t 
th

em
e 

o
f 

th
e 

C
o

d
e 

is

tr
an

sp
ar

en
cy

. 
 F

o
r 

th
is

 r
ea

so
n

 t
h

e 
au

th
o

ri
ty

's
 c

al
cu

la
ti

o
n

 o
f 

th
e 

n
et

 r
ev

en
u

e 
st

re
am

 s
h

o
u

ld
 b

e 
co

n
si

st
en

t 
w

it
h

 t
h

e 
fi

g
u

re
 t

h
at

 c
an

 b
e 

id
en

ti
fi

ed
 i

n
 t

h
e 

In
co

m
e 

an
d

 E
x

p
en

d
it

u
re

A
cc

o
u

n
t 

fo
r 

'N
et

 O
p

er
at

in
g

 E
x

p
en

d
it

u
re

'.

W
h

en
 t

h
e 

C
o

u
n

ci
l 

is
 'd

eb
t-

fr
ee

' t
h

e 
ra

ti
o

 o
f 

fi
n

an
ci

n
g

 c
o

st
s 

to
 n

et
 r

ev
en

u
e 

st
re

am
 w

il
l 

b
e 

n
eg

at
iv

e.
  

T
h

is
 r

ef
le

ct
s 

th
e 

fa
ct

 t
h
at

 f
o

r 
'd

eb
t-

fr
ee

' a
u

th
o

ri
ti

es
, 

th
e 

n
eg

at
iv

e

fi
n

an
ci

n
g

 c
o

st
s 

ar
e 

m
ak

in
g

 a
 c

o
n

tr
ib

u
ti

o
n

 t
o

 t
h

e 
In

co
m

e 
an

d
 E

x
p

en
d

it
u

re
 A

cc
o

u
n

t.

2
0

0
6

/0
7

2
0

0
7

/0
8

2
0

0
8

/0
9

2
0

0
9

/1
0

2
0

1
0

/1
1

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
A

ct
u

a
l

E
st

im
a

te
E

st
im

a
te

E
st

im
a

te
E

st
im

a
te

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

F
in

an
ci

n
g

 c
o

st
s

(1
,3

4
7

)
(1

,3
2

0
)

(7
5

2
)

1
3

4
6

3
5

N
et

 r
ev

en
u

e 
st

re
am

 (
G

en
er

al
 F

u
n

d
 E

x
p

en
d

it
u

re
 -

 B
u

d
g

et
 B

o
o

k
/F

in
an

ci
al

 S
tr

at
eg

y
)

1
4

,9
0

5
1

5
,7

4
4

1
6

,2
1

5
1

6
,5

7
5

1
6

,9
4

2

R
a

ti
o

 o
f 

fi
n

a
n

ci
n

g
 c

o
st

s 
to

 n
et

 r
ev

en
u

e 
st

re
a

m
 %

(9
.0

)
(8

.4
)

(4
.6

)
0

.8
3

.7

N
eg

at
iv

e 
fo

r 
a 

d
eb

t 
fr

ee
 a

u
th

o
ri

ty
%

%
%

%
%

E
st

im
a

te
s 

o
f 

th
e 

in
cr

em
en

ta
l 

im
p

a
ct

 o
f 

ca
p

it
a

l 
in

v
es

tm
en

t 
d

ec
is

io
n

s 
o

n
 t

h
e 

C
o

u
n

ci
l 

T
a

x

A
 f

u
n

d
am

en
ta

l 
co

n
st

ra
in

t 
o

n
 c

ap
it

al
 i

n
v

es
tm

en
t 

b
y

 a
 l

o
ca

l 
au

th
o

ri
ty

 i
s 

it
s 

sc
o

p
e 

to
 a

ff
o

rd
 i

ts
 f

in
an

ci
al

 i
m

p
li

ca
ti

o
n

s.
  

F
o

r 
lo

ca
l 

au
th

o
ri

ti
es

 i
t 

is
 u

lt
im

at
el

y

d
et

er
m

in
ed

 b
y

 a
 j

u
d

g
em

en
t 

ab
o

u
t 

ac
ce

p
ta

b
le

 c
o

u
n

ci
l 

ta
x

 l
ev

el
s.

T
h

is
 p

ru
d

en
ti

al
 i

n
d

ic
at

o
r 

sh
o

w
s 

th
e 

p
o

te
n

ti
al

 i
m

p
ac

t 
o

f 
th

e 
ca

p
it

al
 i

n
v

es
tm

en
t 

d
ec

is
io

n
s 

o
n

 t
h

e 
C

o
u

n
ci

l 
T

ax
.

2
0

0
8

/0
9

2
0

0
9

/1
0

2
0

1
0

/1
1

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
E

st
im

a
te

E
st

im
a

te
E

st
im

a
te

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

T
o

ta
l 

b
u

d
g

et
ar

y
 r

eq
u

ir
em

en
ts

 f
o

r 
th

e 
au

th
o

ri
ty

 w
it

h
 e

x
is

ti
n

g
 

1
5

,9
6

2
1

6
,3

1
5

1
6

,6
9

9

ca
p

it
al

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

T
o

ta
l 

b
u

d
g

et
ar

y
 r

eq
u

ir
em

en
ts

 f
o

r 
th

e 
au

th
o

ri
ty

 w
it

h
 p

ro
p

o
se

d
1

6
,2

1
5

1
6

,6
7

5
1

7
,1

4
2

ca
p

it
al

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e

D
if

fe
re

n
ce

2
5

3
3

6
0

4
4

3

In
cr

em
en

ta
l 

Im
p

a
ct

 o
n

 B
a

n
d

 D
 C

o
u

n
ci

l 
T

a
x

£
6

.7
4

£
9

.5
0

£
1

1
.5

7

Page 46



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 A

G
en

er
a

l 
F

u
n

d
 C

a
p

it
a

l 
F

in
a

n
ci

n
g

 R
eq

u
ir

em
en

t

T
h

e 
C

ap
it

al
 F

in
an

ci
n

g
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
t 

w
il

l 
re

fl
ec

t 
th

e 
C

o
u

n
ci

l'
s 

u
n

d
er

ly
in

g
 n

ee
d

 t
o

 b
o

rr
o

w
 f

o
r 

a 
ca

p
it

al
 p

u
rp

o
se

.

A
ct

u
a

l 
G

en
er

a
l 

F
u

n
d

 C
a

p
it

a
l 

F
in

a
n

ci
n

g
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
t 

a
t 

3
1

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
7

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
£

'0
0

0

O
p

er
at

io
n

al
 a

ss
et

s
6

8
,9

5
4

N
o

n
-o

p
er

at
io

n
al

 a
ss

et
s

4
4

,6
1

2

D
ef

er
re

d
 c

h
ar

g
es

0

R
ev

al
u

at
io

n
 R

es
er

v
e

0

C
ap

it
al

 A
d

ju
st

m
en

t 
A

cc
o

u
n

t
(1

0
3

,2
5

3
)

G
o

v
er

n
m

en
t 

G
ra

n
ts

 D
ef

er
re

d
(3

,2
6

8
)

A
ct

u
a

l 
G

en
er

a
l 

F
u

n
d

 C
a

p
it

a
l 

F
in

a
n

ci
n

g
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
t 

3
1

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
7

7
,0

4
5

E
st

im
a

te
d

 G
en

er
a

l 
F

u
n

d
 C

a
p

it
a

l 
F

in
a

n
ci

n
g

 R
eq

u
ir

em
en

t 
a

t 
3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
0

8

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
G

en
er

al
 F

u
n

d
 C

ap
it

al
 F

in
an

ci
n

g
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
t 

3
1

 M
ar

ch
 2

0
0

7
7

,0
4

5

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
O

p
er

at
io

n
al

 a
ss

et
s 

2
0

0
7

/0
8

3
,8

9
5

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
N

o
n

-o
p

er
at

io
n

al
 a

ss
et

s 
2

0
0

7
/0

8
(1

,0
3

4
)

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
D

ef
er

re
d

 c
h

ar
g

es
 2

0
0

7
/0

8
0

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
R

ev
al

u
at

io
n

 R
es

er
v

e 
2

0
0

7
/0

8
0

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
C

ap
it

al
 A

d
ju

st
m

en
t 

A
cc

o
u

n
t 

2
0

0
7

/0
8

(1
,7

3
1

)

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
G

o
v

er
n

m
en

t 
G

ra
n

ts
 D

ef
er

re
d

 2
0

0
7

/0
8

(1
,1

3
0

)

E
st

im
a

te
 o

f 
G

en
er

a
l 

F
u

n
d

 C
a

p
it

a
l 

F
in

a
n

ci
n

g
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
t 

3
1

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
8

7
,0

4
5

E
st

im
a

te
d

 G
en

er
a

l 
F

u
n

d
 C

a
p

it
a

l 
F

in
a

n
ci

n
g

 R
eq

u
ir

em
en

t 
a

t 
3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
0

9

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
G

en
er

al
 F

u
n

d
 C

ap
it

al
 F

in
an

ci
n

g
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
t 

3
1

 M
ar

ch
 2

0
0

8
7

,0
4

5

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
O

p
er

at
io

n
al

 a
ss

et
s 

2
0

0
8

/0
9

(4
1

7
)

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
N

o
n

-o
p

er
at

io
n

al
 a

ss
et

s 
2

0
0

8
/0

9
(3

5
0

)

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
D

ef
er

re
d

 c
h

ar
g

es
 2

0
0

8
/0

9
0

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
R

ev
al

u
at

io
n

 R
es

er
v

e 
2

0
0

8
/0

9
0

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
C

ap
it

al
 A

d
ju

st
m

en
t 

A
cc

o
u

n
t 

2
0

0
8

/0
9

1
6

,3
9

7

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
G

o
v

er
n

m
en

t 
G

ra
n

ts
 D

ef
er

re
d

 2
0

0
8

/0
9

(3
,4

5
3

)

E
st

im
a

te
 o

f 
G

en
er

a
l 

F
u

n
d

 C
a

p
it

a
l 

F
in

a
n

ci
n

g
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
t 

3
1

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

1
9

,2
2

2

Page 47



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 A

E
st

im
a

te
d

 G
en

er
a

l 
F

u
n

d
 C

a
p

it
a

l 
F

in
a

n
ci

n
g

 R
eq

u
ir

em
en

t 
a

t 
3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
1

0

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
G

en
er

al
 F

u
n

d
 C

ap
it

al
 F

in
an

ci
n

g
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
t 

3
1

 M
ar

ch
 2

0
0

9
1

9
,2

2
2

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
O

p
er

at
io

n
al

 a
ss

et
s 

2
0

0
9

/1
0

(1
,9

9
2

)

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
N

o
n

-o
p

er
at

io
n

al
 a

ss
et

s 
2

0
0

9
/1

0
3

,7
2

0

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
D

ef
er

re
d

 c
h

ar
g

es
 2

0
0

9
/1

0
0

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
R

ev
al

u
at

io
n

 R
es

er
v

e 
2

0
0

9
/1

0
0

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
C

ap
it

al
 A

d
ju

st
m

en
t 

A
cc

o
u

n
t 

2
0

0
9

/1
0

8
,3

5
1

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
G

o
v

er
n

m
en

t 
G

ra
n

ts
 D

ef
er

re
d

 2
0

0
9

/1
0

(3
,9

2
2

)

E
st

im
a

te
 o

f 
G

en
er

a
l 

F
u

n
d

 C
a

p
it

a
l 

F
in

a
n

ci
n

g
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
t 

3
1

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

1
0

2
5

,3
7

9

E
st

im
a

te
d

 G
en

er
a

l 
F

u
n

d
 C

a
p

it
a

l 
F

in
a

n
ci

n
g

 R
eq

u
ir

em
en

t 
a

t 
3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
1

1

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
G

en
er

al
 F

u
n

d
 C

ap
it

al
 F

in
an

ci
n

g
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
t 

3
1

 M
ar

ch
 2

0
1

0
2

5
,3

7
9

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
O

p
er

at
io

n
al

 a
ss

et
s 

2
0

1
0

/1
1

(2
,6

9
8

)

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
N

o
n

-o
p

er
at

io
n

al
 a

ss
et

s 
2

0
1

0
/1

1
3

,5
0

0

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
D

ef
er

re
d

 c
h

ar
g

es
 2

0
1

0
/1

1
0

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
R

ev
al

u
at

io
n

 R
es

er
v

e 
2

0
1

0
/1

1
0

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
C

ap
it

al
 A

d
ju

st
m

en
t 

A
cc

o
u

n
t 

2
0

1
0

/1
1

2
,1

8
1

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
G

o
v

er
n

m
en

t 
G

ra
n

ts
 D

ef
er

re
d

 2
0

1
0

/1
1

(7
2

5
)

E
st

im
a

te
 o

f 
G

en
er

a
l 

F
u

n
d

 C
a

p
it

a
l 

F
in

a
n

ci
n

g
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
t 

3
1

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

1
1

2
7

,6
3

7

Page 48



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 B

L
o

ca
l 

au
th

o
ri

ti
es

 t
h

at
 h

av
e 

a 
H

o
u

si
n

g
 R

ev
en

u
e 

A
cc

o
u

n
t 

(H
R

A
) 

ar
e 

re
q

u
ir

ed
 t

o
 p

re
p

ar
e 

se
p

ar
at

e 
ca

lc
u

la
ti

o
n

s 
fo

r 
th

ei
r 

H
R

A
 a

n
d

 n
o

n
-H

R
A

el
em

en
ts

.

H
R

A
 C

a
p

it
a
l 

E
x
p

en
d

it
u

re

T
h

e 
p

ru
d

en
ti

al
 i

n
d

ic
at

o
r 

fo
r 

ca
p

it
al

 e
x

p
en

d
it

u
re

 s
h

o
u

ld
 b

e 
b

as
ed

 u
p

o
n

 a
 c

ap
it

al
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e 

th
at

 t
ak

es
 i

n
to

 a
cc

o
u

n
t 

th
e 

C
o

u
n

ci
l'
s 

as
se

t 
m

an
ag

em
en

t

an
d

 c
ap

it
al

 i
n

v
es

tm
en

t 
st

ra
te

g
ie

s.

2
0

0
6

/0
7

2
0

0
7

/0
8

2
0

0
8

/0
9

2
0

0
9

/1
0

2
0

1
0

/1
1

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
A

ct
u

a
l

E
st

im
a

te
E

st
im

a
te

E
st

im
a

te
E

st
im

a
te

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

H
o

u
si

n
g

 i
n

 t
h

e 
C

it
y

5
,7

9
4

7
,3

8
8

5
,8

0
3

5
,0

9
9

5
,0

9
0

T
o

ta
l 

H
R

A
 C

a
p

it
a

l 
E

x
p

en
d

it
u

re
5

,7
9

4
7

,3
8

8
5

,8
0

3
5

,0
9

9
5

,0
9

0

H
R

A
 F

in
a
n

ci
n

g
 c

o
st

s 
fo

r 
a
 d

eb
t 

fr
ee

 a
u

th
o
ri

ty

2
0

0
6

/0
7

2
0

0
7

/0
8

2
0

0
8

/0
9

2
0

0
9

/1
0

2
0

1
0

/1
1

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
A

ct
u

a
l

E
st

im
a

te
E

st
im

a
te

E
st

im
a

te
E

st
im

a
te

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

In
te

re
st

 p
ay

ab
le

 w
it

h
 r

es
p

ec
t 

to
 s

h
o

rt
 t

er
m

 b
o

rr
o

w
in

g
0

0
0

0
0

In
te

re
st

 p
ay

ab
le

 u
n

d
er

 'i
rr

ed
ee

m
ab

le
' l

o
n

g
 t

er
m

 l
ia

b
il

it
ie

s
0

0
0

0
0

In
te

re
st

 a
n

d
 i

n
v

es
tm

en
t 

in
co

m
e

(3
6

1
)

(4
5

0
)

(4
2

5
)

(3
3

0
)

(3
3

0
)

R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t 
fo

r 
M

in
im

u
m

 R
ev

en
u

e 
P

ro
v

is
io

n
 (

E
n

g
la

n
d

 a
n

d
 W

al
es

)
0

0
0

0
0

V
o

lu
n

ta
ry

 c
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
 t

o
 f

in
an

ci
n

g
 c

o
st

s 
in

 r
es

p
ec

t 
o

f 
sh

o
rt

-l
if

e 
as

se
ts

0
0

0
0

0

T
o

ta
l 

H
R

A
 F

in
a

n
ci

n
g

 C
o

st
s

(3
6

1
)

(4
5

0
)

(4
2

5
)

(3
3

0
)

(3
3

0
)

H
R

A
 P

ru
d

en
ti

a
l 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
C

a
lc

u
la

ti
o
n

s

Page 49



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 B

H
R

A
 E

st
im

a
te

s 
o
f 

th
e 

ra
ti

o
 o

f 
fi

n
a
n

ci
n

g
 c

o
st

s 
to

 n
et

 r
ev

en
u

e 
st

re
a
m

F
o

r 
th

e 
H

o
u

si
n

g
 R

ev
en

u
e 

A
cc

o
u

n
t 

th
e 

n
et

 r
ev

en
u

e 
st

re
am

, 
fo

r 
th

e 
p

u
rp

o
se

s 
o

f 
th

e 
C

o
d

e,
 i

s 
th

e 
am

o
u

n
t 

to
 b

e 
m

et
 f

ro
m

 h
o

u
si

n
g

 s
u

b
si

d
y

 a
n

d
 r

en
t 

in
co

m
e.

2
0

0
6

/0
7

2
0

0
7

/0
8

2
0

0
8

/0
9

2
0

0
9

/1
0

2
0

1
0

/1
1

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
A

ct
u

a
l

E
st

im
a

te
E

st
im

a
te

E
st

im
a

te
E

st
im

a
te

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

F
in

an
ci

n
g

 c
o

st
s

(3
6

1
)

(4
5

0
)

(4
2

5
)

(3
3

0
)

(3
3

0
)

N
et

 r
ev

en
u

e 
st

re
am

1
4

,0
2

4
1

4
,6

1
4

1
5

,2
4

9
1

5
,8

8
9

1
6

,5
5

7

R
a

ti
o

 o
f 

fi
n

a
n

ci
n

g
 c

o
st

s 
to

 n
et

 r
ev

en
u

e 
st

re
a

m
 %

(2
.6

)
(3

.1
)

(2
.8

)
(2

.1
)

(2
.0

)

N
eg

at
iv

e 
fo

r 
a 

d
eb

t 
fr

ee
 a

u
th

o
ri

ty
%

%
%

%
%

E
st

im
a
te

s 
o
f 

th
e 

in
cr

em
en

ta
l 

im
p

a
ct

 o
f 

ca
p

it
a
l 

in
v
es

tm
en

t 
d

ec
is

io
n

s 
o
n

 t
h

e 
H

o
u

si
n

g
 R

en
ts

A
 f

u
n

d
em

en
ta

l 
co

n
st

ra
in

t 
o

n
 H

R
A

 c
ap

it
al

 i
n

v
es

tm
en

t 
b

y
 a

 l
o

ca
l 

au
th

o
ri

ty
 i

s 
it

s 
sc

o
p

e 
to

 a
ff

o
rd

 i
ts

 f
in

an
ci

al
 i

m
p

li
ca

ti
o

n
s.

  
F

o
r 

lo
ca

l 
au

th
o

ri
ti

es
 i

t 
is

u
lt

im
at

el
y

 d
et

er
m

in
ed

 b
y

 a
 j

u
d

g
em

en
t 

ab
o

u
t 

ac
ce

p
ta

b
le

 r
en

t 
le

v
el

s.

T
h

is
 p

ru
d

en
ti

al
 i

n
d

ic
at

o
r 

sh
o

w
s 

th
e 

p
o

te
n

ti
al

 i
m

p
ac

t 
o

f 
th

e 
H

R
A

 c
ap

it
al

 i
n

v
es

tm
en

t 
d

ec
is

io
n

s 
o

n
 t

h
e 

av
er

ag
e 

w
ee

k
ly

 r
en

t.

2
0

0
8

/0
9

2
0

0
9

/1
0

2
0

1
0

/1
1

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
E

st
im

a
te

E
st

im
a

te
E

st
im

a
te

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

F
o

re
ca

st
 H

R
A

 b
u

d
g

et
ar

y
 r

eq
u

ir
em

en
ts

 f
o

r 
th

e 
au

th
o

ri
ty

 w
it

h
 e

x
is

ti
n

g
 

1
4

,9
0

6
1

5
,4

5
7

1
6

,0
2

9

H
R

A
 c

ap
it

al
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

F
o

re
ca

st
 H

R
A

 b
u

d
g

et
ar

y
 r

eq
u

ir
em

en
ts

 f
o

r 
th

e 
au

th
o

ri
ty

 w
it

h
 p

ro
p

o
se

d
1

4
,9

0
6

1
5

,4
5

7
1

6
,0

2
9

H
R

A
 c

ap
it

al
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

D
if

fe
re

n
ce

0
0

0

In
cr

em
en

ta
l 

Im
p

a
ct

 o
n

 a
v

er
a

g
e 

w
ee

k
ly

 h
o

u
si

n
g

 r
en

ts
 

£
0

.0
0

£
0

.0
0

£
0

.0
0

Page 50



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 B

H
R

A
 C

a
p

it
a
l 

F
in

a
n

ci
n

g
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
t

T
h

e 
C

ap
it

al
 F

in
an

ci
n

g
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
t 

w
il

l 
re

fl
ec

t 
th

e 
C

o
u

n
ci

l'
s 

u
n

d
er

ly
in

g
 n

ee
d

 t
o

 b
o

rr
o

w
 f

o
r 

a 
ca

p
it

al
 p

u
rp

o
se

.

A
ct

u
a

l 
H

R
A

 C
a

p
it

a
l 

F
in

a
n

ci
n

g
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
t 

a
t 

3
1

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
7

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
£

'0
0

0

O
p

er
at

io
n

al
 a

ss
et

s
2

9
2

,9
7

5

N
o

n
-o

p
er

at
io

n
al

 a
ss

et
s

4
6

4

D
ef

er
re

d
 c

h
ar

g
es

0

R
ev

al
u

at
io

n
 R

es
er

v
e

0

C
ap

it
al

 A
d

ju
st

m
en

t 
A

cc
o

u
n

t
(2

9
7

,7
2

9
)

G
o

v
er

n
m

en
t 

G
ra

n
ts

 D
ef

er
re

d
(5

6
2

)

A
ct

u
a

l 
H

R
A

 C
a

p
it

a
l 

F
in

a
n

ci
n

g
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
t 

3
1

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
7

(4
,8

5
2

)

E
st

im
a

te
d

 H
R

A
 C

a
p

it
a

l 
F

in
a

n
ci

n
g

 R
eq

u
ir

em
en

t 
a

t 
3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
0

8

A
ct

u
al

 H
R

A
 C

ap
it

al
 F

in
an

ci
n

g
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
t 

3
1

 M
ar

ch
 2

0
0

7
(4

,8
5

2
)

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
O

p
er

at
io

n
al

 a
ss

et
s 

2
0

0
7

/0
8

(3
,7

4
1

)

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
N

o
n

-o
p

er
at

io
n

al
 a

ss
et

s 
2

0
0

7
/0

8
(4

5
8

)

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
D

ef
er

re
d

 c
h

ar
g

es
 2

0
0

7
/0

8
0

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
R

ev
al

u
at

io
n

 R
es

er
v

e 
2

0
0

7
/0

8
0

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
C

ap
it

al
 A

d
ju

st
m

en
t 

A
cc

o
u

n
t 

2
0

0
7

/0
8

4
,3

7
2

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
G

o
v

er
n

m
en

t 
G

ra
n

ts
 D

ef
er

re
d

 2
0

0
7

/0
8

(1
7

3
)

E
st

im
a

te
 o

f 
H

R
A

 C
a

p
it

a
l 

F
in

a
n

ci
n

g
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
t 

3
1

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
8

(4
,8

5
2

)

E
st

im
a

te
d

 H
R

A
 C

a
p

it
a

l 
F

in
a

n
ci

n
g

 R
eq

u
ir

em
en

t 
a

t 
3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
0

9

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
H

R
A

 C
ap

it
al

 F
in

an
ci

n
g

 R
eq

u
ir

em
en

t 
3

1
 M

ar
ch

 2
0

0
8

(4
,8

5
2

)

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
O

p
er

at
io

n
al

 a
ss

et
s 

2
0

0
8

/0
9

(3
,6

5
3

)

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
N

o
n

-o
p

er
at

io
n

al
 a

ss
et

s 
2

0
0

8
/0

9
0

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
D

ef
er

re
d

 c
h

ar
g

es
 2

0
0

8
/0

9
0

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
R

ev
al

u
at

io
n

 R
es

er
v

e 
2

0
0

8
/0

9
0

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
C

ap
it

al
 A

d
ju

st
m

en
t 

A
cc

o
u

n
t 

2
0

0
8

/0
9

3
,6

5
3

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
G

o
v

er
n

m
en

t 
G

ra
n

ts
 D

ef
er

re
d

 2
0

0
8

/0
9

0

E
st

im
a

te
 o

f 
H

R
A

 C
a

p
it

a
l 

F
in

a
n

ci
n

g
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
t 

3
1

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

(4
,8

5
2

)

Page 51



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 B

E
st

im
a

te
d

 H
R

A
 C

a
p

it
a

l 
F

in
a

n
ci

n
g

 R
eq

u
ir

em
en

t 
a

t 
3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
1

0

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
H

R
A

 C
ap

it
al

 F
in

an
ci

n
g

 R
eq

u
ir

em
en

t 
3

1
 M

ar
ch

 2
0

0
9

(4
,8

5
2

)

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
O

p
er

at
io

n
al

 a
ss

et
s 

2
0

0
9

/1
0

(3
,6

0
2

)

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
N

o
n

-o
p

er
at

io
n

al
 a

ss
et

s 
2

0
0

9
/1

0
0

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
D

ef
er

re
d

 c
h

ar
g

es
 2

0
0

9
/1

0
0

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
R

ev
al

u
at

io
n

 R
es

er
v

e 
2

0
0

9
/1

0
0

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
C

ap
it

al
 A

d
ju

st
m

en
t 

A
cc

o
u

n
t 

2
0

0
9

/1
0

3
,6

0
2

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
G

o
v

er
n

m
en

t 
G

ra
n

ts
 D

ef
er

re
d

 2
0

0
9

/1
0

0

E
st

im
a

te
 o

f 
H

R
A

 C
a

p
it

a
l 

F
in

a
n

ci
n

g
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
t 

3
1

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

1
0

(4
,8

5
2

)

E
st

im
a

te
d

 H
R

A
 C

a
p

it
a

l 
F

in
a

n
ci

n
g

 R
eq

u
ir

em
en

t 
a

t 
3

1
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
1

1

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
H

R
A

 C
ap

it
al

 F
in

an
ci

n
g

 R
eq

u
ir

em
en

t 
3

1
 M

ar
ch

 2
0

1
0

(4
,8

5
2

)

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
O

p
er

at
io

n
al

 a
ss

et
s 

2
0

1
0

/1
1

(3
,6

0
2

)

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
N

o
n

-o
p

er
at

io
n

al
 a

ss
et

s 
2

0
1

0
/1

1
0

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
D

ef
er

re
d

 c
h

ar
g

es
 2

0
1

0
/1

1
0

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
R

ev
al

u
at

io
n

 R
es

er
v

e 
2

0
1

0
/1

1
0

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
C

ap
it

al
 A

d
ju

st
m

en
t 

A
cc

o
u

n
t 

2
0

1
0

/1
1

3
,7

2
8

E
st

im
at

e 
o

f 
G

o
v

er
n

m
en

t 
G

ra
n

ts
 D

ef
er

re
d

 2
0

1
0

/1
1

0

E
st

im
a

te
 o

f 
H

R
A

 C
a

p
it

a
l 

F
in

a
n

ci
n

g
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
t 

3
1

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

1
1

(4
,7

2
6

)

Page 52



E
st

im
a
te

s 
o
f 

In
cr

em
en

ta
l 

Im
p

a
ct

 o
f 

C
a
p

it
a
l 

In
v
es

tm
en

ts
 D

ec
is

io
n

s 
o
n

 t
h

e 
C

o
u

n
ci

l 
T

a
x

T
h

is
 p

ru
d

en
ti

al
 i

n
d

ic
at

o
r 

sh
o

w
s 

th
e 

p
o

te
n

ti
al

 i
m

p
ac

t 
o

f 
th

e 
ca

p
it

al
 i

n
v

es
tm

en
t 

d
ec

is
io

n
s 

o
n

 t
h

e 
C

o
u

n
ci

l 
T

ax
.

2
0

0
8

/0
9

2
0

0
9

/1
0

2
0

1
0

/1
1

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
E

st
im

a
te

E
st

im
a

te
E

st
im

a
te

In
cr

em
en

ta
l 

Im
p

ac
t 

o
n

 B
an

d
 D

 C
o

u
n

ci
l 

T
ax

£
6

.7
4

£
9

.5
0

£
1

1
.5

7

E
st

im
a
te

s 
o
f 

In
cr

em
en

ta
l 

Im
p

a
ct

 o
f 

C
a
p

it
a
l 

In
v
es

tm
en

ts
 D

ec
is

io
n

s 
o
n

 t
h

e 
H

o
u

si
n

g
 R

en
ts

T
h

is
 p

ru
d

en
ti

al
 i

n
d

ic
at

o
r 

sh
o

w
s 

th
e 

p
o

te
n

ti
al

 i
m

p
ac

t 
o

f 
th

e 
H

R
A

 c
ap

it
al

 i
n

v
es

tm
en

t 
d

ec
is

io
n

s 
o

n
 t

h
e 

av
er

ag
e 

w
ee

k
ly

 r
en

t.

2
0

0
8

/0
9

2
0

0
9

/1
0

2
0

1
0

/1
1

D
es

cr
i p

ti
o

n
E

st
im

a
te

E
st

im
a

te
E

st
im

a
te

In
cr

em
en

ta
l 

Im
p

ac
t 

o
n

 A
v

er
ag

e 
W

ee
k

ly
 H

o
u

si
n

g
 R

en
ts

£
0

.0
0

£
0

.0
0

£
0

.0
0

T
o
ta

l 
A

ct
u

a
l 

/ 
E

st
im

a
te

s 
o
f 

C
a
p

it
a
l 

E
x
p

en
d

it
u

re

T
h

e 
p

ru
d

en
ti

al
 i

n
d

ic
at

o
r 

fo
r 

ca
p

it
al

 e
x

p
en

d
it

u
re

 s
h

o
u

ld
 b

e 
b

as
ed

 u
p

o
n

 a
 c

ap
it

al
 p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e 

th
at

 t
ak

es
 i

n
to

 a
cc

o
u

n
t 

th
e 

C
o

u
n

ci
l'
s 

as
se

t 
m

an
ag

em
en

t

an
d

 c
ap

it
al

 i
n

v
es

tm
en

t 
st

ra
te

g
ie

s.

2
0

0
6

/0
7

2
0

0
7

/0
8

2
0

0
8

/0
9

2
0

0
9

/1
0

2
0

1
0

/1
1

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
A

ct
u

a
l

E
st

im
a

te
E

st
im

a
te

E
st

im
a

te
E

st
im

a
te

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

T
o

ta
l 

G
en

er
al

 F
u

n
d

 C
ap

it
al

 E
x

p
en

d
it

u
re

1
1

,6
7

5
1

4
,1

1
8

2
2

,3
0

7
1

2
,7

5
6

5
,3

2
1

T
o

ta
l 

H
R

A
 C

ap
it

al
 E

x
p

en
d

it
u

re
5

,7
9

4
7

,3
8

8
5

,8
0

3
5

,0
9

9
5

,0
9

0

T
o

ta
l 

A
ct

u
a

l 
/ 

E
st

im
a

te
s 

o
f 

C
a

p
it

a
l 

E
x

p
en

d
it

u
re

1
7

,4
6

9
2

1
,5

0
6

2
8

,1
1

0
1

7
,8

5
5

1
0

,4
1

1

P
ru

d
en

ti
a
l 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
C

a
lc

u
la

ti
o
n

s

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 C

P
R

U
D

E
N

T
IA

L
 I

N
D

IC
A

T
O

R
S

 O
F

 A
F

F
O

R
D

A
B

IL
IT

Y

Page 53



P
ru

d
en

ti
a
l 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
C

a
lc

u
la

ti
o
n

s

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 C

T
o
ta

l 
A

ct
u

a
l 

/ 
E

st
im

a
te

s 
o
f 

F
in

a
n

ci
n

g
 C

o
st

s

2
0

0
6

/0
7

2
0

0
7

/0
8

2
0

0
8

/0
9

2
0

0
9

/1
0

2
0

1
0

/1
1

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
A

ct
u

a
l

E
st

im
a

te
E

st
im

a
te

E
st

im
a

te
E

st
im

a
te

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

T
o

ta
l 

G
en

er
al

 F
u

n
d

 F
in

an
ci

n
g

 C
o

st
s

(1
,3

4
7

)
(1

,3
2

0
)

(7
5

2
)

1
3

4
6

3
5

T
o

ta
l 

H
R

A
 F

in
an

ci
n

g
 C

o
st

s
(3

6
1

)
(4

5
0

)
(4

2
5

)
(3

3
0

)
(3

3
0

)

T
o

ta
l 

A
ct

u
a

l 
/ 

E
st

im
a

te
s 

o
f 

F
in

a
n

ci
n

g
 C

o
st

s
(1

,7
0

8
)

(1
,7

7
0

)
(1

,1
7

7
)

(1
9

6
)

3
0

5

A
ct

u
a
l 

/ 
E

st
im

a
te

s 
o
f 

R
a
ti

o
 o

f 
F

in
a
n

ci
n

g
 C

o
st

s 
to

 N
et

 R
ev

en
u

e 
S

tr
ea

m

T
h

e 
n

et
 r

ev
en

u
e 

st
re

am
 i

s 
th

e 
es

ti
m

at
e 

o
f 

th
e 

am
o

u
n

ts
 t

o
 b

e 
m

et
 f

ro
m

 g
o

v
er

n
m

en
t 

g
ra

n
ts

 a
n

d
 l

o
ca

l 
ta

x
p

ay
er

s,
 a

n
d

 f
o

r 
th

e 
H

o
u

si
n

g
 R

ev
en

u
e 

A
cc

o
u

n
t,

 i
s

th
e 

es
ti

m
at

e 
o

f 
th

e 
am

o
u

n
ts

 t
o

 b
e 

m
et

 f
ro

m
 h

o
u

si
n

g
 s

u
b

is
d

y
 a

n
d

 r
en

t 
in

co
m

e.

S
in

ce
 t

h
e 

C
o

u
n

ci
l 

is
 'd

eb
t-

fr
ee

' t
h

e 
ra

ti
o

 o
f 

fi
n

an
ci

n
g

 c
o

st
s 

to
 n

et
 r

ev
en

u
e 

st
re

am
 w

il
l 

b
e 

n
eg

at
iv

e.
  

T
h

is
 r

ef
le

ct
s 

th
e 

fa
ct

 t
h

at
 f

o
r 

'd
eb

t-
fr

ee
' a

u
th

o
ri

ti
es

, 

th
e 

n
eg

at
iv

e 
fi

n
an

ci
n

g
 c

o
st

s 
ar

e 
m

ak
in

g
 a

 c
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
 t

o
 t

h
e 

co
n

so
li

d
at

ed
 r

ev
en

u
e 

ac
co

u
n

t.

2
0

0
6

/0
7

2
0

0
7

/0
8

2
0

0
8

/0
9

2
0

0
9

/1
0

2
0

1
0

/1
1

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
A

ct
u

a
l

E
st

im
a

te
E

st
im

a
te

E
st

im
a

te
E

st
im

a
te

%
%

%
%

%

G
en

er
al

 F
u

n
d

 R
at

io
 o

f 
F

in
an

ci
n

g
 C

o
st

s 
to

 N
et

  
R

ev
en

u
e 

S
tr

ea
m

(9
.0

)
(8

.4
)

(4
.6

)
0

.8
3

.7

H
R

A
 R

at
io

 o
f 

F
in

an
ci

n
g

 C
o

st
s 

to
 N

et
  

R
ev

en
u

e 
S

tr
ea

m
(2

.6
)

(3
.1

)
(2

.8
)

(2
.1

)
(2

.0
)

Page 54



P
ru

d
en

ti
a
l 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
C

a
lc

u
la

ti
o
n

s

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 C

A
ct

u
a
l 

/ 
E

st
im

a
te

s 
o
f 

C
a
p

it
a
l 

F
in

a
n

ci
n

g
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
t

T
h

e 
C

ap
it

al
 F

in
an

ci
n

g
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
t 

w
il

l 
re

fl
ec

t 
th

e 
C

o
u

n
ci

l'
s 

u
n

d
er

ly
in

g
 n

ee
d

 t
o

 b
o

rr
o

w
 f

o
r 

a 
ca

p
it

al
 p

u
rp

o
se

.

2
0

0
6

/0
7

2
0

0
7

/0
8

2
0

0
8

/0
9

2
0

0
9

/1
0

2
0

1
0

/1
1

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
A

ct
u

a
l

E
st

im
a

te
E

st
im

a
te

E
st

im
a

te
E

st
im

a
te

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

G
en

er
al

 F
u

n
d

 C
ap

it
al

 F
in

an
ci

n
g

 R
eq

u
ir

em
en

t
7

,0
4

5
7

,0
4

5
1

9
,2

2
2

2
5

,3
7

9
2

7
,6

3
7

H
R

A
 C

ap
it

al
 F

in
an

ci
n

g
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
t

(4
,8

5
2

)
(4

,8
5

2
)

(4
,8

5
2

)
(4

,8
5

2
)

(4
,7

2
6

)

T
o

ta
l 

A
ct

u
a

l 
/ 

E
st

im
a

te
s 

o
f 

C
a

p
it

a
l 

F
in

a
n

ci
n

g
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
t

2
,1

9
3

2
,1

9
3

1
4

,3
7

0
2

0
,5

2
7

2
2

,9
1

1

A
u

th
o
ri

se
d

 L
im

it

In
 E

n
g

la
n

d
 a

n
d

 W
al

es
 t

h
e 

p
ru

d
en

ti
al

 i
n

d
ic

at
o

r 
fo

r 
th

e 
A

u
th

o
ri

se
d

 L
im

it
 f

o
r 

ex
te

rn
al

 d
eb

t 
fo

r 
th

e 
cu

rr
en

t 
y

ea
r 

is
 t

h
e 

st
at

u
to

ry
 l

im
it

 d
et

er
m

in
ed

 u
n

d
er

S
ec

ti
o

n
 3

 (
1

) 
o

f 
th

e 
L

o
ca

l 
G

o
v

er
n

m
en

t 
A

ct
 2

0
0

3
: 

'A
 l

o
ca

l 
au

th
o

ri
ty

 s
h

al
l 

d
et

er
m

in
e 

an
d

 k
ee

p
 u

n
d

er
 r

ev
ie

w
 h

o
w

 m
u

ch
 m

o
n

ey
 i

t 
ca

n
 a

ff
o

rd
 t

o
 

b
o

rr
o

w
'

T
h

e 
A

u
th

o
ri

se
d

 L
im

it
 s

h
o

u
ld

 n
o

t 
b

e 
se

t 
so

 h
ig

h
 t

h
at

 i
t 

w
o

u
ld

 n
ev

er
 i

n
 a

n
y

 p
o

ss
ib

le
 c

ir
cu

m
st

an
ce

s 
b

e 
b

re
ac

h
ed

. 
 I

t 
sh

o
u

ld
 r

ef
le

ct
 a

 l
ev

el
 o

f 
b

o
rr

o
w

in
g

w
h

ic
h

, 
w

h
il

e 
n

o
t 

d
es

ir
ed

, 
co

u
ld

 b
e 

af
fo

rd
ed

 b
u

t 
m

ay
 n

o
t 

b
e 

su
st

ai
n

ab
le

. 
 T

h
e 

A
u

th
o

ri
se

d
 L

im
it

 m
u

st
 t

h
er

ef
o

re
 b

e 
se

t 
to

 e
st

ab
li

sh
 t

h
e 

o
u

te
r 

b
o

u
n

d
ar

y

o
f 

th
e 

C
o

u
n

ci
l'
s 

b
o

rr
o

w
in

g
, 

b
as

ed
 o

n
 a

 r
ea

li
st

ic
 a

ss
es

sm
en

t 
o

f 
th

e 
ri

sk
s.

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
2

0
0

8
/0

9
2

0
0

9
/1

0
2

0
1

0
/1

1

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

B
o

rr
o

w
in

g
2

2
,5

0
0

3
0

,0
0

0
3

5
,0

0
0

O
th

er
 l

o
n

g
 t

er
m

 l
ia

b
il

it
ie

s
0

0
0

A
u

th
o

ri
se

d
 L

im
it

2
2

,5
0

0
3

0
,0

0
0

3
5

,0
0

0

Page 55



P
ru

d
en

ti
a
l 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
C

a
lc

u
la

ti
o
n

s

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 C

O
p

er
a
ti

o
n

a
l 

B
o
u

n
d

a
ry

T
h

e 
O

p
er

at
io

n
al

 B
o

u
n

d
ar

y
 i

s 
th

e 
fo

cu
s 

o
f 

d
ay

-t
o

-d
ay

 t
re

as
u

ry
 m

an
ag

em
en

t 
ac

ti
v

it
y

 w
it

h
in

 t
h

e 
au

th
o

ri
ty

. 
 I

t 
is

 a
 m

ea
n

s 
b

y
 w

h
ic

h
 t

h
e 

au
th

o
ri

ty

m
an

ag
es

 i
ts

 e
x

te
rn

al
 d

eb
t 

to
 e

n
su

re
 t

h
at

 i
t 

re
m

ai
n

s 
w

it
h

in
 t

h
e 

se
lf

-i
m

p
o

se
d

 A
u

th
o

ri
se

d
 L

im
it

. 
 T

h
e 

O
p

er
at

io
n

al
 B

o
u

n
d

ar
y

 m
ay

 b
e 

b
re

ac
h

ed

te
m

p
o

ra
ri

ly
 o

n
 o

cc
as

io
n

s 
d

u
e 

to
 v

ar
ia

ti
o

n
s 

in
 c

as
h

fl
o

w
. 

 H
o

w
ev

er
, 

a 
su

st
ai

n
ed

 o
r 

re
g

u
la

r 
tr

en
d

 a
b

o
v

e 
th

e 
O

p
er

at
io

n
al

 B
o

u
n

d
ar

y
 w

o
u

ld
 b

e

si
g

n
if

ic
an

t 
an

d
 s

h
o

u
ld

 l
ea

d
 t

o
 f

u
rt

h
er

 i
n

v
es

ti
g

at
io

n
.

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
2

0
0

8
/0

9
2

0
0

9
/1

0
2

0
1

0
/1

1

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

B
o

rr
o

w
in

g
1

7
,5

0
0

2
5

,0
0

0
3

0
,0

0
0

O
th

er
 l

o
n

g
 t

er
m

 l
ia

b
il

it
ie

s
0

0
0

O
p

er
a

ti
o

n
a

l 
B

o
u

n
d

a
ry

1
7

,5
0

0
2

5
,0

0
0

3
0

,0
0

0

A
ct

u
a
l 

E
x
te

rn
a
l 

D
eb

t

T
h

e 
p

ru
d

en
ti

al
 i

n
d

ic
at

o
r 

fo
r 

ac
tu

al
 e

x
te

rn
al

 d
eb

t 
w

il
l 

n
o

t 
b

e 
d

ir
ec

tl
y

 c
o

m
p

ar
ab

le
 t

o
 t

h
e 

au
th

o
ri

se
d

 l
im

it
 a

n
d

 o
p

er
at

io
n

al
 b

o
u

n
d
ar

y
, 

si
n

ce
 t

h
e 

ac
tu

al

ex
te

rn
al

 d
eb

t 
w

il
l 

re
fl

ec
t 

th
e 

ac
tu

al
 p

o
si

ti
o

n
 a

t 
o

n
e 

p
o

in
t 

in
 t

im
e.

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
2

0
0

6
/0

7

A
ct

u
a

l

£
'0

0
0

A
ct

u
al

 b
o

rr
o

w
in

g
 a

s 
at

 3
1

 M
ar

ch
 2

0
0

7
4

,0
0

0

A
ct

u
al

 l
o

n
g

 t
er

m
 l

ia
b

il
it

ie
s 

as
 a

t 
3

1
 M

ar
ch

 2
0

0
7

0

A
ct

u
a

l 
E

x
te

rn
a

l 
D

eb
t 

a
s 

a
t 

3
1

 M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
7

4
,0

0
0

Page 56



P
ru

d
en

ti
a
l 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
C

a
lc

u
la

ti
o
n

s

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 C

N
et

 B
o
rr

o
w

in
g
 a

n
d

 C
a
p

it
a
l 

F
in

a
n

ci
n

g
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
t

T
h

e 
C

o
d

e 
m

ak
es

 i
t 

n
ec

es
sa

ry
, 

if
 a

 f
in

an
ci

al
 s

tr
at

eg
y

 i
s 

to
 b

e 
p

ru
d

en
t,

 t
h

at
 i

t 
is

 o
n

e 
in

 w
h

ic
h

 i
n

 t
h

e 
m

ed
iu

m
 t

er
m

 N
et

 B
o

rr
o

w
in

g
 i

s 
o

n
ly

 u
se

d
 f

o
r 

ca
p

it
al

 

p
u

rp
o

se
s.

  
In

 t
h

e 
C

o
d

e 
th

is
 r

eq
u

ir
em

en
t 

is
 t

o
 b

e 
d

em
o

n
st

ra
te

d
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 a

 c
o

m
p

ar
is

o
n

 o
f 

N
et

 B
o

rr
o

w
in

g
 w

it
h

 t
h

e 
C

ap
it

al
 F

in
an

ci
n

g
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
t.

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
£

'0
0

0

T
o

ta
l 

C
ap

it
al

 F
in

an
ci

n
g

 R
eq

u
ir

em
en

t 
at

 3
1

 M
ar

ch
 2

0
0

7
2

,1
9

3

2
0

0
7

/0
8

 E
st

im
a

te
d

 C
h

a
n

g
e 

in
 C

a
p

it
a

l 
F

in
a

n
ci

n
g

 R
eq

u
ir

em
en

t

C
ap

it
al

 e
x

p
en

d
it

u
re

2
1

,5
0

6

A
p

p
li

ca
ti

o
n

 o
f 

u
se

ab
le

 c
ap

it
al

 r
ec

ei
p

ts
(1

3
,5

3
5

)

A
p

p
li

ca
ti

o
n

 o
f 

ca
p

it
al

 g
ra

n
ts

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
s

(7
,9

7
1

)

T
h

e 
re

p
la

ce
m

en
t 

fo
r 

M
R

P
0

A
d

d
it

io
n

al
 v

o
lu

n
ta

ry
 c

o
n

tr
ib

u
ti

o
n

s
0

T
o

ta
l 

E
st

im
a

te
d

 C
h

a
n

g
e 

in
 C

a
p

it
a

l 
F

in
a

n
ci

n
g

 R
eq

u
ir

em
en

t 
2

0
0

7
/0

8
0

2
0

0
8

/0
9

 E
st

im
a

te
d

 C
h

a
n

g
e 

in
 C

a
p

it
a

l 
F

in
a

n
ci

n
g

 R
eq

u
ir

em
en

t

C
ap

it
al

 e
x

p
en

d
it

u
re

2
8

,1
1

0

A
p

p
li

ca
ti

o
n

 o
f 

u
se

ab
le

 c
ap

it
al

 r
ec

ei
p

ts
(6

,2
5

8
)

A
p

p
li

ca
ti

o
n

 o
f 

ca
p

it
al

 g
ra

n
ts

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
s

(9
,6

7
5

)

T
h

e 
re

p
la

ce
m

en
t 

fo
r 

M
R

P
0

A
d

d
it

io
n

al
 v

o
lu

n
ta

ry
 c

o
n

tr
ib

u
ti

o
n

s
0

T
o

ta
l 

E
st

im
a

te
d

 C
h

a
n

g
e 

in
 C

a
p

it
a

l 
F

in
a

n
ci

n
g

 R
eq

u
ir

em
en

t 
2

0
0

8
/0

9
1

2
,1

7
7

P
R

U
D

E
N

T
IA

L
 I

N
D

IC
A

T
O

R
S

 O
F

 P
R

U
D

E
N

C
E

Page 57



P
ru

d
en

ti
a
l 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
C

a
lc

u
la

ti
o
n

s

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 C

2
0

0
9

/1
0

 E
st

im
a

te
d

 C
h

a
n

g
e 

in
 C

a
p

it
a

l 
F

in
a

n
ci

n
g

 R
eq

u
ir

em
en

t

C
ap

it
al

 e
x

p
en

d
it

u
re

1
7

,8
5

5

A
p

p
li

ca
ti

o
n

 o
f 

u
se

ab
le

 c
ap

it
al

 r
ec

ei
p

ts
(1

,2
5

0
)

A
p

p
li

ca
ti

o
n

 o
f 

ca
p

it
al

 g
ra

n
ts

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

ti
o

n
s

(9
,9

6
1

)

T
h

e 
re

p
la

ce
m

en
t 

fo
r 

M
R

P
(4

5
1

)

A
d

d
it

io
n

al
 v

o
lu

n
ta

ry
 c

o
n

tr
ib

u
ti

o
n

s
(3

6
)

T
o

ta
l 

E
st

im
a

te
d

 C
h

a
n

g
e 

in
 C

a
p

it
a

l 
F

in
a

n
ci

n
g

 R
eq

u
ir

em
en

t 
2

0
0

9
/1

0
6

,1
5

7

C
a

p
it

a
l 

F
in

a
n

ci
n

g
 R

eq
u

ir
em

en
t:

E
st

im
at

ed
 O

p
en

in
g

 B
al

an
ce

 2
0

0
7

/0
8

2
,1

9
3

E
st

im
at

ed
 C

lo
si

n
g

 B
al

an
ce

 2
0

0
9

/1
0

2
0

,5
2

7

T
h

is
 i

s 
an

 i
n

cr
ea

se
 o

v
er

 t
h

e 
th

re
e 

y
ea

rs
 o

f
1

8
,3

3
4

P
ru

d
en

ti
a
l 

In
d

ic
a
to

rs
 f

o
r 

T
re

a
su

ry
 M

a
n

a
g
em

en
t

T
h

e 
fi

rs
t 

p
ru

d
en

ti
al

 i
n

d
ic

at
o

r 
fo

r 
tr

ea
su

ry
 m

an
ag

em
en

t 
is

 n
o

t 
a 

n
u

m
er

ic
al

 i
n

d
ic

at
o

r,
 b

u
t 

a 
st

at
em

en
t 

o
f 

g
o

o
d

 p
ra

ct
ic

e:

'T
h

e 
C

o
u

n
ci

l 
h

a
s 

a
d

o
p

te
d

 t
h

e 
C

IP
F

A
 C

o
d

e 
o

f 
P

ra
ct

ic
e 

fo
r 

T
re

a
su

ry
 M

a
n

a
g

em
en

t 
in

 t
h

e 
P

u
b

li
c 

S
er

vi
ce

s'

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
A

d
o

p
te

d
 b

y 
th

e 
C

o
u

n
ci

l 
1

6
 F

eb
ru

a
ry

 2
0

0
4

 (
E

x
ec

u
ti

ve
 C

o
m

m
it

te
e)

Page 58



P
ru

d
en

ti
a
l 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
C

a
lc

u
la

ti
o
n

s

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 C

O
p

er
a
ti

o
n

a
l 

B
o
u

n
d

a
ri

es
 t

o
 E

x
p

o
su

re
 t

o
 I

n
te

re
st

 R
a
te

 R
is

k
s

In
te

re
st

 r
at

e 
ri

sk
 m

an
ag

em
en

t 
is

 a
 t

o
p

 p
ri

o
ri

ty
 f

o
r 

lo
ca

l 
au

th
o

ri
ty

 m
an

ag
em

en
t.

  
T

h
e 

se
tt

in
g

 o
f 

u
p

p
er

 l
im

it
s 

h
as

 t
h

e 
ef

fe
ct

 o
f 

se
tt

in
g

 r
an

g
es

 w
it

h
in

w
h

ic
h

 t
h

e 
C

o
u

n
ci

l 
w

il
l 

li
m

it
 i

ts
 e

x
p

o
su

re
 t

o
 b

o
th

 f
ix

ed
 a

n
d

 v
ar

ia
b

le
 i

n
te

re
st

 r
at

e 
m

o
v

em
en

ts
.

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
2

0
0

8
/0

9
2

0
0

9
/1

0
2

0
1

0
/1

1

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

£
'0

0
0

T
o

ta
l 

p
ro

je
ct

ed
 i

n
te

re
st

 p
ay

ab
le

 o
n

 b
o

rr
o

w
in

g
5

4
8

8
4

7
9

8
2

T
o

ta
l 

p
ro

je
ct

ed
 i

n
te

re
st

 r
ec

ei
v

ab
le

 o
n

 i
n

v
es

tm
en

ts
(1

,7
2

5
)

(1
,5

3
0

)
(1

,4
3

0
)

N
et

 I
n

te
re

st
(1

,1
7

7
)

(6
8

3
)

(4
4

8
)

U
p

p
er

 l
im

it
 -

 f
ix

ed
 r

a
te

s 
  

  
  

  
=

  
1

0
0

%
(1

,7
2

5
)

(1
,5

3
0

)
(1

,4
3

0
)

U
p

p
er

 l
im

it
 -

 v
a

ri
a

b
le

 r
a

te
s 

  
=

  
2

0
%

(3
4

5
)

(3
0

6
)

(2
8

6
)

T
h

is
 m

ea
n

s 
th

at
 t

h
e 

H
ea

d
 o

f 
T

re
as

u
ry

 S
er

v
ic

es
 w

il
l 

m
an

ag
e 

fi
x

ed
 i

n
te

re
st

 r
at

e 
ex

p
o

su
re

 w
it

h
in

 t
h

e 
ra

n
g

e 
0

%
 t

o
 1

0
0

%
 a

n
d

 v
ar

ia
b

le
 i

n
te

re
st

 r
at

e

ex
p

o
su

re
 w

it
h

in
 t

h
e 

ra
n

g
e 

0
%

 t
o

 2
0

%
 

Page 59



P
ru

d
en

ti
a
l 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
C

a
lc

u
la

ti
o
n

s

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 C

O
p

er
a
ti

o
n

a
l 

B
o
u

n
d

a
ry

 t
o
 t

h
e 

E
x
p

o
su

re
 I

n
h

er
en

t 
in

 t
h

e 
M

a
tu

ri
ty

 S
tr

u
ct

u
re

 o
f 

B
o
rr

o
w

in
g
s

T
h

is
 i

n
d

ic
at

o
r 

is
 d

es
ig

n
ed

 t
o

 b
e 

a 
co

n
tr

o
l 

o
v

er
 t

h
e 

C
o

u
n

ci
l 

h
av

in
g

 a
 l

ar
g

e 
co

n
ce

n
tr

at
io

n
 o

f 
fi

x
ed

 r
at

e 
d

eb
t 

n
ee

d
in

g
 t

o
 b

e 
re

p
la

ce
d

 a
t 

ti
m

es
 o

f

u
n

ce
rt

ai
n

ty
 o

v
er

 i
n

te
re

st
 r

at
es

. 
 T

h
e 

in
d

ic
at

o
r 

is
, 

in
 e

ff
ec

t,
 a

 l
im

it
 o

n
 l

o
n

g
er

 t
er

m
 i

n
te

re
st

 r
at

e 
ex

p
o

su
re

 a
n

d
 i

s 
se

t 
fo

r 
th

e 
fo

rt
h

co
m

in
g

 y
ea

r.

T
h

e 
an

al
y

si
s 

o
f 

b
o

rr
o

w
in

g
 b

y
 m

at
u

ri
ty

 u
se

d
 i

n
 t

h
e 

C
o

d
e 

u
se

s 
th

e 
sa

m
e 

p
er

io
d

s 
as

 t
h

at
 r

eq
u

ir
ed

 i
n

 t
h

e 
lo

ca
l 

au
th

o
ri

ty
 S

O
R

P
.

A
m

o
u

n
t 

o
f 

p
ro

je
ct

ed
 b

o
rr

o
w

in
g

 t
h

at
 i

s 
fi

x
ed

 r
at

e 
m

at
u

ri
n

g
 i

n
 e

ac
h

 p
er

io
d

 a
s 

a 
p

er
ce

n
ta

g
e 

o
f 

to
ta

l 
p

ro
je

ct
ed

 b
o

rr
o

w
in

g
 t

h
at

 i
s 

fi
x

ed
 r

at
e.

P
er

io
d

U
p

p
er

 
L

o
w

er

L
im

it
L

im
it

U
n

d
er

 1
2

 m
o

n
th

s
1

0
0

%
0

%

1
2

 m
o

n
th

s 
an

d
 w

it
h

in
 2

4
 m

o
n

th
s

2
0

%
0

%

2
4

 m
o

n
th

s 
an

d
 w

it
h

in
 5

 y
ea

rs
2

0
%

0
%

5
 y

ea
rs

 a
n

d
 w

it
h

in
 1

0
 y

ea
rs

2
0

%
0

%

1
0

 y
ea

rs
 a

n
d

 a
b

o
v

e
1

0
0

%
0

%

Page 60



P
ru

d
en

ti
a
l 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
C

a
lc

u
la

ti
o
n

s

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 C

P
ri

n
ci

p
a
l 

S
u

m
s 

In
v
es

te
d

 f
o
r 

P
er

io
d

s 
L

o
n

g
er

 t
h

a
n

 3
6
4
 D

a
y
s

T
h

e 
p

u
rp

o
se

 o
f 

th
e 

p
ru

d
en

ti
al

 l
im

it
 f

o
r 

p
ri

n
ci

p
al

 s
u

m
s 

in
v

es
te

d
 f

o
r 

p
er

io
d

s 
lo

n
g

er
 t

h
an

 3
6

4
 d

ay
s 

is
 f

o
r 

th
e 

C
o

u
n

ci
l 

to
 c

o
n

ta
in

 i
ts

 e
x

p
o

su
re

to
 t

h
e 

p
o

ss
ib

il
it

y
 o

f 
lo

ss
 t

h
at

 m
ig

h
t 

ar
is

e 
as

 a
 r

es
u

lt
 o

f 
h

av
in

g
 t

o
 s

ee
k

 e
ar

ly
 r

ep
ay

m
en

t 
o

r 
re

d
em

p
ti

o
n

 o
f 

p
ri

n
ci

p
al

 s
u

m
s 

in
v

es
te

d
.

D
es

cr
ip

ti
o

n
A

t 
3

1
/3

/2
0

0
8

£
'0

0
0

L
o

n
g

er
-t

er
m

 i
n

v
es

tm
en

ts
0

L
es

s 
- 

H
el

d
 f

o
r 

o
p

er
at

io
n

al
 p

u
rp

o
se

s
(6

,0
0

0
)

C
u

rr
en

t 
A

ss
et

s 
- 

In
v

es
tm

en
ts

2
8

,0
0

0

C
u

rr
en

t 
A

ss
et

s 
- 

C
as

h
 a

n
d

 a
t 

B
an

k
(1

,0
0

0
)

T
o

ta
l 

a
v

a
il

a
b

le
 f

o
r 

in
v

es
tm

en
t 

lo
n

g
er

 t
er

m
2

1
,0

0
0

L
im

it
s 

to
 b

e 
p

la
ce

d
 o

n
 i

n
v

es
tm

en
ts

 t
o

 f
in

a
l 

m
a

tu
ri

ti
es

 b
ey

o
n

d
 y

ea
r 

en
d

:
£

'0
0

0

3
1

/0
3

/0
9

1
2

,0
0

0

3
1

/0
3

/1
0

1
0

,0
0

0

3
1

/0
3

/1
1

8
,0

0
0

T
h

e 
cu

rr
en

t 
ag

re
em

en
t 

w
it

h
 I

n
v

es
te

c 
al

lo
w

s 
th

em
 t

o
 p

la
ce

 u
p

 t
o

 5
0

%
 o

f 
th

e 
p

o
rt

fo
li

o
 i

n
 p

ro
d

u
ct

s 
m

at
u

ri
n

g
 a

ft
er

 m
o

re
 t

h
an

 1
 y

ea
r.

  
In

 p
ra

ct
ic

e 
th

ey
 

o
n

ly
 i

n
v

es
t 

in
 g

il
ts

 w
h

ic
h

 a
re

 p
la

ce
d

 f
o

r 
lo

n
g

er
 p

er
io

d
s 

b
u

t 
ca

n
 b

e 
so

ld
 a

t 
an

y
 t

im
e,

 t
h

er
ef

o
re

 t
h

ey
 a

re
 l

iq
u

id
. 

 T
h

e 
li

m
it

s 
se

t 
th

er
ef

o
re

 a
re

 i
n

 l
in

e 
w

it
h

 

th
e 

ag
re

em
en

t 
h

o
w

ev
er

 i
t 

is
 n

o
t 

an
ti

ci
p

at
ed

 t
h

at
 t

h
is

 w
il

l 
im

p
ac

t 
o

n
 t

h
e 

li
q

u
id

it
y

 o
f 

th
e 

C
o

u
n

ci
l.

Page 61



Page 62

This page is intentionally left blank



 

EXETER CITY COUNCIL 

 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - RESOURCES 

23 JANUARY 2008 

 

EXECUTIVE 

11 FEBRUARY 2008  

 

REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL’S GENERAL POLICY IN RESPECT 

OF HEALTH AND SAFETY AT WORK 

 

 

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 

1.1 This report relates to the need to formally review, and where necessary revise, the 

Council’s Statement of General Policy in respect of Health and Safety at Work and the 

organisation to carry out the policy. 

 

1.2 Relevant change in legislation and guidance from the Health and Safety Commission 

(HSC) has been taken into account in the proposed revisions. 

  

2 BACKGROUND 

 

2.1 The Council has a legal duty, under Section 2 of the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 

1974 to prepare, and as often as may be appropriate revise, a written statement of its 

general policy with respect to the health and safety at work of its employees and the 

organisation and arrangements for the time being in force for carrying out the policy, and 

to bring the statement to the notice of all employees. 

  

2.2 The present policy was last reviewed in January 2005 and contained a commitment to 

review at an interval no more than 3 years. 

 

2.3 The existing policy has been implemented through Corporate and Directorate Annual 

Plans. The Key Partner Group has monitored plans and any relevant high-risk activities 

will be reflected in the Business Risk Register. Reports of activities are presented to the 

Employee Liaison Forum.  The format of reporting to ELF is currently under review with 

proposals for the establishment of a separate officer led Joint Consultative Committee to 

be set up. 

 

2.4 The Council has continued to work to fully align its approach to health and safety 

management with Health and Safety Executive (HSE) guidance Successful Health and 

Safety Management. Risk assessment is now well embedded into the health and safety 

culture, risk control policy and guidance has continued to be developed and made available 

to help in the task. A programme of independent internal audit has been implemented both 

at Corporate and Unit level. This system of formal monitoring and audit of compliance 

with the developed risk control systems is now well established.  

 

2.5 Union representatives have been invited to comment.  

 

 

Agenda Item 6

Page 63



 

3 PROPOSAL 

 

3.1 The revised documents are attached as the Appendix to this report.  Existing policy 

documents can be viewed on CityNet Health and Safety pages. 

 

3.2 The main revisions are: 

 

• Incorporation of the duty to do suitable and sufficient risk assessments of fire safety in 

the general statement of policy.   

• A commitment to produce an annual report on health and safety activities and 

performance. This will appear on the Council’s website. 

• Clarification and strengthening of the independent internal audit process.       

 

3.3 Other changes to the organisation reflect the way we address the management of asbestos, 

Legionella, fire and contractors  

 

4 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

 

4.1  There are no significant identified resource issues brought about by the revisions 

recommended. 

   

5 RECOMMENDED 

 

that 

 

(1) Scrutiny Committee Resources supports the proposed revisions to the Council’s Health 

and Safety Policy. 

 

(2) Executive adopts the revised Health and Safety Policy. 
 

(3) The revised policy is brought to the attention of all staff. 
 

(4) The proposed changes to the ELF consultative process be noted. 

 

 

HEAD OF ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH SERVICES    HEAD OF HUMAN RESOURCES 

 

 
S:LP/Committee/108SCR1 

9.1.08 
 

COMMUNITY AND ENVIRONMENT DIRECTORATE                           

CORPORATE SERVICES DIRECTORATE 

 
Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 (as amended)  

Background papers used in compiling this report:  
 
 ‘Successful health and safety management’ HSG 65 – guidance published by the Health and Safety Executive – 

Second edition 1997. 

A brief guide is available from the PEHO (Health and Safety) 

‘Revitalising Health and Safety – Strategy Statement – DETR- June 2000.  

The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 

Page 64



DRAFT – November 2007 MAJ 

 

                                                                                                                               

 

 

 

                  Statement of General Policy 

                               in respect of   

                  Health and Safety at Work  

Exeter City Council (the Council) recognises and accepts its responsibility as an employer to ensure, as far as it 

is reasonably practicable, that all its activities are conducted without risks to the health and safety of employees, 

customers and others. The Council will aim to continuously improve health and safety performance and 

eliminate accidents and ill health to the benefit of both the individual and the organisation. The Council will 

strive to act as an ‘Exemplar’ of  health and safety practice. The welfare of employees will be protected. 

 

The Council will pay particular attention to meeting its general duty to provide and maintain: 

 

• plant, vehicles and systems of work that are safe and without risks to health; 

• arrangements for ensuring safety and absence of avoidable risks to health in connection with the use, handling, 

storage and transport of articles and substances; 

• sufficient information, instruction, training and supervision to ensure the health and safety at work of 

employees; and to enable employees to make a positive contribution to the 'safety culture' of the organisation;   

• a place of work without foreseeable risks to health and safety, for employees, customers and others and with 

safe access and exit pathways; 

• a working environment that is safe and without foreseeable risks to health; 

• suitable and sufficient assessments of risks to health and safety, including those from fire; 

• consultation with employees and their representatives over matters of health and safety; 

• a system to properly select and manage contractors working for it; 

• adequate arrangements and facilities for welfare; 

• an annual report detailing the Council’s health and safety performance during the period. 

 

The Council regards Health and Safety as being equally as important as all other corporate aims.  The Chief Executive 

is responsible for implementation of the overall Health and Safety Policy.  He will ensure successful management of 

the policy. 

 

The Council will appoint one or more competent persons to provide health and safety advice and assistance. 

 

Each employee has a duty to co-operate in the operation of this policy by: 

 

•••• taking care for their own health and safety, and that of others, who may be affected by what they do or don't 

do; 

•••• co-operating with the Council to allow it to comply with any legal duty or requirement placed on it, or another 

person.   

 

Disciplinary action will be considered whenever there is a breach of health and safety policy or safe working practices. 

 

A copy of this statement will be brought to the attention of all employees.  It will be reviewed at intervals of no more 

than 3 years; sooner if required. 

 

SIGNED 

 

Chief Executive for EXETER CITY COUNCIL    January 2008 

 

 

 

 

 
INVESTOR IN 

PEOPLE 

The Organisation and Arrangements for this Policy appears on CityNet 

Page 65



Page 66

This page is intentionally left blank



 

PART 2 - THE ORGANISATION TO CARRY OUT THE POLICY 

 

 
1 The law requires that ultimate responsibility for health and safety rests with the highest level of 

management. The Council must comply with the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974.  In practice 

the Chief Executive with other key staff, are responsible to the Council for ensuring successful 

management of the Council's health and safety policy.  Key staff responsibilities are set out in this part 

and are reflected in job descriptions.  A structure chart shows the line of management.  

 

2 The Council's health and safety obligations and responsibilities fall within the terms of reference of its 

Executive Committee. 

 

3 The Chief Executive is responsible for the implementation of the Council's Health and Safety Policy and 

ensuring compliance with the Council's legal duties. 

 

4  The Head of Environmental Health Services is responsible to the Executive Committee for: 

 

     (a) Advice on the Council's duties under the Act; and 

 

     (b) Ensuring that the Health and Safety Policy is being implemented. 

  

5 The Head of Human Resources is responsible for advising the Executive Committee on the personnel 

aspects of advice and policy implementation under 4 above. 

 

6 Each Director is responsible to the Chief Executive for ensuring compliance with the Council's Health 

and Safety Policy within their Directorate including at all buildings, sites and activities for which they 

are responsible. 

 

7 The Director Corporate Services is also responsible in the Civic Centre for compliance with the 

Council's Health and Safety Policy throughout the parts used in common, and for the communal 

building services. 

 

8 The Head of Contracts and Direct Services will advise on the measures necessary to manage asbestos, 

and the control of Legionella bacteria in water systems.    

 

9  Each Head of Service is responsible for seeing that the Council’s Health and Safety Policy is 

implemented within their own service area. 

 

10  The Principal Environmental Health Officer (Health and Safety) acts as the Corporate Health and Safety 

Adviser. 

 

11 The Building Control Manager will provide technical assistance with the fire risk assessments process 

and help verify the adequacy of the assessments. 

 

 

 

Page 67



ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    EMPLOYEE LIAISON  

                  FORUM  Frr 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXETER CITY COUNCIL 

 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

 

(SCRUTINY COMMITTEE) 

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 

DIRECTORS 

 

HEADS OF SERVICE 

 

KEY PARTNER  

GROUP 

 

HEAD OF HUMAN 

RESOURCES 
HEAD OF 

ENVIRONMENTAL 

HEALTH SERVICES 

PRINCIPAL 

ENVIRONMENTAL 

HEALTH OFFICER 

 

RISK MANAGEMENT 

GROUP 

JOINT CONSULTATIVE 

COMMITTEE 

(OFFICERS & STAFF 

SIDE) 

Page 68



KEY RESPONSIBILITIES - THE COUNCIL 

  
 

The Executive Committee has responsibility for: 

  

1 Ensuring the health, safety and welfare at work of all Council employees. 

 

2 Taking all proper steps to ensure that no one else is exposed to risks to their health and 

safety, arising from any activity of the Council. 

 

3 Ensuring that where the Council exercises control over any non-domestic premises, made 

available to anyone else as a place of work, they are safe and without risks to health. This 

includes access and exit pathways and any plant or substance supplied for use. 

 

In order to meet these responsibilities the Committee shall: 

 

1 Ensure there is an effective overall policy for the health, safety and welfare of employees 

and the health and safety of others. 

 

2 Ensure that the policy is reviewed, at least every three years, sooner if there is a need, due 

to changes of law, guidance or activity. 

 

3 Ensure that suitable and sufficient assessments of the risks to the health and safety of 

employees and others are made, recording the significant findings of the assessments. 

 

4 Ensure that the preparation of additional topic specific policies and guidance, as 

appropriate to ensure effective health and safety management. 

 

5 Ensure an annual Corporate Health and Safety Action Plan is approved by April each 

year. 

 

6 Ensure that staff are fully consulted and informed on Health, Safety and Welfare matters. 

 

7 See that reasonable steps are taken to investigate reported adverse events, e.g. accidents, 

reportable dangerous occurrences and reportable disease, and that the findings are taken 

into account in revising relevant risk assessments. 

 

8 Ensure that appropriate health and safety information is included in an annual published 

report on the Council’s activities and performance. Performance is to be assessed by a 

programme of monitoring and audit.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 69



KEY RESPONSIBILITIES - CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 

 
The Chief Executive, as head of the paid service, will: 

 

1 Be directly responsible for the implementation of the City Council's overall health and 

safety policy and topic specific policies. 

 

2 Ensure that the Directors fulfil their responsibilities for health, safety and welfare. 

 

3 Ensure that the responsibilities for health, safety and welfare are properly allocated and 

accepted at all levels. 

 

4 Plan for adequate staffing, finance and resources to meet the Corporate Health and Safety 

Action Plan. 

 

5 Promote a positive 'health and safety culture' by taking a direct interest in the Corporate 

and Directorate Action Plans, and lend support to the people carrying them out. Aiming 

to reflect the ‘Exemplar’ status expected of the Council. 

 

6 Ensure that appropriate liability insurance is put in place. 

 

7 Review at least annually the implementation of the Corporate Health and Safety Policy 

and agree an annual action plan.  

 

8. Ensure that reasonable steps are taken to investigate reported adverse events, e.g. hazards, 

accidents, reportable dangerous occurrences and reportable disease, and that the findings 

are taken into account in revising relevant risk assessments. 

 

9. Ensure that appropriate health and safety information is included in an annual published 

report on the Council’s activities and performance. 

 

 

Page 70



KEY RESPONSIBILITIES - DIRECTORS 

 
Directors will: 

 

1 Actively promote a positive 'health and safety culture', by setting an example to others in 

all health and safety matters, at all times. 

 

2 Be directly responsible to the Chief Executive for the implementation of the Corporate 

Health and Safety Policies, their Directorate Health and Safety Plan and Corporate Health 

and Safety Plan initiatives relevant to their own Directorate. 

 

3 Ensure that all staff in their Directorate receives adequate training, to enable them to co-

operate in carrying out policies, and understand their own duties under the Act. Training 

will cover the purpose of 'risk assessment' and the need for and how to apply safe systems 

of work e.g. 'safe working practices' and 'permit to work'. 

 

4 Ensure consultation with the Principal Environmental Health Officer (Health and Safety) 

and the relevant appointed health and safety representative before the introduction of a 

new or revised safe system of work. 

 

5 Ensure that an annual health and safety action plan is prepared for the Directorate 

reflecting both the needs of the Corporate Plan and of the individual Directorate, by July 

each year. 

 

6 Take positive action when it can be demonstrated that health and safety rules have been 

broken.  Disciplinary procedures should be considered in all cases.      

 

7 Ensure that adequate first - aid facilities are available to all staff in their Directorate. 

 

8 Take an active part in the review of Council's Health and Safety Policies, as they affect 

the operations carried out within, or under the control of, their Directorate. 

  

9 Evaluate all reported adverse events e.g. hazards, incidents, accidents, and reported ill-

health, involving work activity, in their Directorate where they involve actual or potential 

injury, health risks, loss or damage to City Council property, and risks to the public, 

ensuring that the findings are taken into account in revising any relevant risk assessment. 

 

10 Ensure that written safe systems of work e.g. ‘safe working practices' and 'permit to work' 

are prepared and implemented in those areas of work where the 'risk assessment' indicates 

that a significant risk of injury or ill health will still be present despite existing controls. 

 

11. Appoint ‘key partners’ to work with the Principal Environmental Health Officer (Health 

and Safety) towards successful health and safety and risk management.   

 

12        Contribute towards the preparation of an annual report on the Council’s health and safety 

activity and performance, for publication.  

 

Page 71



KEY RESPONSIBILITIES - HEADS OF SERVICE  
 

 

Heads of Service will: 

 

1     Actively promote a positive 'health and safety culture', by setting an example to staff in all 

health and safety matters, at all times. 

 

2     Be directly responsible to their Director for the implementation of the Health and Safety 

Policies and appropriate guidance, contributing to fulfilment of the Directorate action plan 

in so far as it affects their Service. 

 

3     Prepare and execute annual action plans for health and safety for their Service in 

consultation with their Director. 

 

4     Complete the health and safety annual checklist, include this with their service 

improvement portfolio, discuss this at their appraisal with their Director, and submit a copy 

to the PEHO (Health and Safety). 

 

5 Ensure that they and all other staff within their Service receive adequate information, 

instruction and training, to enable them to carry out their job without risks to their own and 

others health and safety. Training will enable staff to understand the purpose of 'risk 

assessment' and the need for and how to apply safe systems of work e.g. 'safe working 

practices' and ' permit to work'.   

 

6     Ensure that there is a systematic approach to carrying out suitable and sufficient 

assessments of risks to health and safety of staff and others, for the purpose of identifying 

measures to comply with the requirements imposed by law. Risk Assessment to be applied 

to all activities in the Service. 

 

7     Initiate, as necessary, the preparation of written safe systems of work e.g. ‘safe working 

practices’ or ‘permit to work’ are prepared and implemented in those areas of work where 

the 'risk assessment' indicates that a significant risk of injury or ill health will still be 

present despite existing controls. 

  

8 Consult with the Principal Environmental Health Officer (Health and Safety) and relevant 

appointed health and safety representatives before the introduction of a new or revised 

safe system of work.  

 

9     Take positive action when, it can be demonstrated that, health and safety rules have been 

broken. Disciplinary action should be considered in all cases. 

 

10     Evaluate all reported adverse events, i.e. hazards, incidents, accidents and reported ill 

health, involving work activity, within their Service where they involve actual or potential 

injury, health risks, loss or damage to City Council property, and risks to the public. 

Report findings to their Director and ensure that they are taken into account in revising 

any relevant risk assessment. 

Page 72



 

11 Ensure that a completed internal ECC Accident/Incident Report form is given to the 

Principal Environmental Health Officer (Health and Safety) without delay, in all cases of 

adverse events, e.g. hazard, accident, ill health or incidents, arising in the course of 

Council activities in the Service.                                                                                                      

 

A full procedure for reporting adverse events using the ECC Accident / Incident Report 

form is set out in CityNet Health and Safety pages.    

 

In the case of a fatality, ‘dangerous occurrence’ or 'major injury', arrange 

immediate contact with the PEHO (Health and Safety), and with an appointed health 

and safety representative. 

 

12 Ensure that the contractors they engage work safely and comply with health and safety 

legislation, policies and procedure. 

 

13 Contribute, as requested, towards the preparation of an annual report on the Council’s 

health and safety activity and performance, for publication. 

 

14 Additionally cooperate with the Head of Audit in audits to check for compliance with 

health and safety legislation, council policies, etc.  

Page 73



KEY RESPONSIBILITIES - HEAD OF ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH  

SERVICES 
 

The Head of Environmental Health Services will, in addition to normal responsibilities as a Head 

of Service, be responsible for: 

 

1 Implementing a programme of monitoring, based on risk, of all the City Council 

operational premises, sites and activities. 

 

2 Ensuring that the Principal Environmental Health Officer (Health and Safety) effectively 

undertakes Health and Safety activities. 

 

3 Advising the Chief Executive on the health and safety implications of any unsatisfactory 

work practices or working conditions that affect staff or others that are not remedied as 

required. 

 

4 Effective liaison with the Health and Safety Executive, EMAS (the medical arm of HSE) 

and occupational health advisers, as required. 

 

5 Ensuring a report to the Health and Safety Executive of all reportable injuries, dangerous 

occurrences and cases of ill health. 

 

6 Assisting the Head of Human Resources in provision of training for all staff on Health 

and Safety issues, in particular with the review of the Health and Safety Training Policy. 

 

7 Ensuring that there is a systematic approach, by managers, to carrying out suitable and 

sufficient assessment of risks to the health and safety of staff and others, for the purpose 

of identifying measures to comply with requirements imposed by law.    

 

8 Evaluating all reported adverse events e.g. hazards, accidents, incidents and reported ill-

health, arising from the work activities of the Council where they involve injury, health 

risks, loss or damage to property, and risks to the public; ensuring that the findings are 

effectively communicated to others and that proposals to strengthen the risk control 

systems are made where necessary. 

 

9 Advising on the content and review of Health and Safety Policies, action plans, and 

appropriate guidance. 

 

10. The preparation of an annual report, for publication, covering the Council’s health and 

safety activity and performance. 

 

 

Page 74



 

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES - HEAD OF HUMAN RESOURCES 

 
The Head of Human Resources, in addition to the normal responsibilities of Head of Service, 

will be responsible for: 

 

1 Advising the Council on the implications of its Health and Safety Policy in so far as they 

relate to personnel and training matters. 

 

2 Consultation and negotiation with representatives of the staff on those aspects of the 

Policies affecting the staff and their conditions of employment. 

 

3 The provision of suitable training for staff in Health and Safety matters in accordance 

with a Health and Safety Training Policy. 

 

4. Contributing to an annual report on the health and safety activities and performance of 

the Council by supplying statistical data.  This will include total employee days lost due 

to all causes of physical and mental illness, including injuries, disability or other health 

problems, and assistance in data for total cost calculations. 

 

 

 

 

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES - HEAD OF CONTRACTS AND DIRECT          

SERVICES 
 

The Head of Contracts and Direct Services, in addition to the normal responsibilities of Head of 

Service will be responsible for:  

 

1 Advising the Council of the measures necessary to ensure successful management of 

asbestos containing materials within buildings owned or occupied by the Council and on 

land owned or occupied by the Council. This includes the content of any policy and the 

organisation and arrangements necessary to ensure, as far as is reasonably practicable, 

that the activities are conducted without risks to the health and safety of employees, 

customers and others.      

 

2 Advising the Council of the measures necessary to ensure successful control of 

Legionella bacteria and similar organisms in water systems within buildings owned or 

occupied by the Council and on land owned or occupied by the Council. This includes the 

content of any policy and the organisation and arrangements necessary to ensure, as far as 

is reasonably practicable, that the activities are conducted without risks to the health and 

safety of employees, customers and others.      

 

These duties to be carried out in consultation with Principal Environmental Health Officer 

(Health and Safety) 

Page 75



KEY RESPONSIBILITIES - PRINCIPAL ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH                             

OFFICER (HEALTH AND SAFETY) 

 
The Principal Environmental Health Officer (PEHO) will be responsible to the Head of 

Environmental Health Services, to: 

 

1 Prepare the Council's overall Health and Safety Policy, other topic specific policies and 

guidance, monitoring arrangements to implement them.  

 

2 Keep the policy and implementation arrangements under review, assess effectiveness and 

recommend changes as necessary to discharge the Council's duties under the Health and 

Safety at Work Act 1974.  

 

3 Promote suitable and sufficient assessments of risk to the health and safety of staff and 

others to identify the measures needed to eliminate or control risk, and to comply with 

health and safety law. 

 

4 Advise Management at all levels on the Council's duties under the Act, including those 

for induction training. 

 

5 Assist others in the risk assessment process, when necessary; and carry out proactive and 

reactive assessments over a range of Council activities to monitor the effectiveness of the 

management of health and safety.   

 

6 Advise on preparation and implementation of risk control systems. 

 

7 Carry out workplace inspections, at the request of and with appointed health and safety 

representatives, to identify unsafe plant, premises or working conditions. 

 

8 Consider a direction to anyone undertaking work for the Council, to STOP WORK in 

extreme circumstances where there is an imminent risk of serious personal injury, or a 

dangerous occurrence.  IMMEDIATE contact will then be made with the appropriate 

Director, Head of Services or the most Senior Officer available in the Directorate for 

them to take control of the situation. 

 

('Extreme circumstance' means where in the opinion of the PEHO, an enforcement officer 

would consider service of a Prohibition Notice.) 

 

9 Advise on the safety, design and use of plant, equipment and materials. 

 

10 Advise on the selection of protective clothing and all equipment. 

 

11 Arrange for the reporting, recording and analysis of all reported adverse events, e.g. 

hazards, accidents, incidents, cases of ill health and relevant incidents arising in the 

course of Council activities; evaluating the report, investigating the circumstances, as 

necessary; ensuring the findings are effectively communicated to others and that 

Page 76



proposals to strengthen risk control systems are made where necessary. Reporting 

includes forwarding statutory RIDDOR reports to the HSE Incident Contact Centre. 

 

12 Promote a health and safety awareness programme, to include training of staff and 

accident prevention techniques in conjunction with the Head of Human Resources. 

 

13 Audit systems to monitor and evaluate the health and safety performance of prospective 

contractors and those employed by the Council on a proactive and reactive basis. 

 

14 Give advice on standards, methods of work to be specified in contracts. 

 

15 Advise Members and Strategic Management Team as required. 

  

16 Promote proper arrangements to carry out risk assessment required by fire legislation, fire 

training and practical evacuations. Engaging the Building Control Manager in the direct 

provision of technical advice regarding Council owned or occupied buildings and sites.    

 

17 Prepare in conjunction with Head of Audit, and promote on behalf of ‘Key Partner 

Group’ an annual return, for completion by Heads of Service, to monitor corporate health 

and safety performance. The return will ask for evidence of compliance with relevant 

policies and guidance on a number of issues. The content is likely to vary from year to 

year. 

 

18 Prepare and promote in conjunction with the Head of Audit on behalf of ‘Key Partner 

Group’, an audit protocol for verification of the annual health and safety returns. 

   

19 Collate the available information necessary for, and prepare an annual report for 

publication on the Council’s health and safety activities and performance. 

     

KEY REPONSIBILITIES – BUILDING CONTROL MANAGER  
 

The Building Control Manager will in addition to his normal responsibilities provide: 

 

1 Technical assistance to fire risk assessors to enable assessment of the adequacy of fire 

precautions in Council owned or occupied buildings and sites. This will take account of 

the Fire safety risk assessment guides - Department for Communities and Local 

Government publications, as well as specific legal requirements.  

 

2 Verify that the assessments are suitable and sufficient to meet the requirements of the 

law. 

 

These duties to be carried out in consultation with Principal Environmental Health Officer 

(Health and Safety) 

Page 77



HEALTH AND SAFETY ‘KEY PARTNER’ GROUP 
 

Each Director will appoint one or more senior managers to act as a 'Key Partner' to assist in the 

review of and implementation of Health and Safety Policy and good risk management practice. 

Aiming to promote the ‘Exemplar’ health and safety practice status expected of Councils. 

 

Each ‘Key Partner’ will: 

• meet with the Principal Environmental Health Officer (Health and Safety) and the 

Service Finance Manager from time to time and effect liaison within their Directorate 

• establish ownership of responsibility for health and safety and risk management in the 

Directorate, to assist in drawing up implementation plans for health and safety policy and 

risk management initiatives 

• advise on the allocation of tasks and duties in the Directorate 

• monitor progress in implementation of policies, good practice and initiatives 

  

They may also, from time to time, be asked to assist other managers, towards achieving our goal 

of successful management of health and safety and good risk management practice. 

 

The ‘Key Partner’ Group will: 

• prepare an annual health and safety action plan including detail of specific areas for 
review for inclusion in the Corporate Risk Register, in agreement with Directorate 

Management Teams 

• receive and monitor reports from Units regarding progress in their health and safety, 
relevant risk management and insurance challenges. In particular in respect of high risk 

health and safety topics e.g. required annual tasks, risk assessments, etc. 

• receive and address health and safety, relevant risk management, insurance issues, etc. 
and report progress to the Risk Management Group. 

• Report to the Directorate  Management Teams any health and safety and risk 
management issues considered to be possible Corporate Risk register entries. 

 

 

KEY PARTNERS – November 2007  
 

Chief Executives and Chief Executive’s Support Unit  - 

Corporate Services  Brenda Steer 

Ed Heaton 

Dave Sercombe 

David Chadwick 

Angela Bennett 

Community and Environment  Martin Johnson 

Robert Norley 

Paul Mc Cormick  

Neil Shire 

Deborah Hockey 

Haydn Davies 

Economy and Development Dave Hubbard 

Page 78



EMPLOYEE LIAISON FORUM 
 

Formal liaison on corporate and strategic health and safety matters between the Trade Unions 

and Management and Members is undertaken through the Employers Liaison Forum (ELF). The 

terms of reference can be viewed in the Employment Handbook on CityNet.  Three meetings per 

annum are scheduled, with the ability to call a meeting at short notice to deal with an urgent 

matter.  It has been proposed and agreed that a separate officer led Joint Consultative Committee 

(JCC)  with staff side be established. This committee will agree a set of objectives and terms of 

reference. These are likely to include, (i) the study of accidents and trends (ii) consideration of 

safety audit reports (iii) health and safety training overview. The JCC will formally report to ELF 

on work programmes and key issues. 

Page 79



 

 

APPOINTED HEALTH AND SAFETY REPRESENTATIVES – NOVEMBER 2007 

 

UNION SECTIONS COVERED  NAME UNIT 

UNISON Cleansing N Bush Environmental Health Services 

UNISON Environmental Protection 

and Environmental Health 

external sites 

R Robertson Environmental Health Services 

EPU 

UNISON Community Patrollers Kevin Rooks Environmental Health Services 

UNISON General  R Broom Contracts and Direct Services 

UNISON General + Unison Branch 

Health & Safety Officer  - 

Covers vacancies. 

S Warwick Environmental Health Services 

UNISON Civic Centre -Phase 1  Vacant  

UNISON Civic Centre – Phase 2 Eva Searle C+E Administration and 

Bereavement Services 

UNISON Cemeteries Vacant Contracts and Direct Services 

UNISON Car Parks S Julyan  Car Parks 

UNISON Cleansing Officers and 

Cleansing Administration 

Vacant Environmental Health Services 

UNISON Livestock Centre & 

Markets and Halls 

Vacant Markets & Halls 

UNISON  MRF & Weighbridge Yard  Vacant  Environmental Health Services 

UNISON Parks and Open Spaces  Rob Greenaway Contracts and Direct Services 

AMICUS BEST Vacant  Contracts and Direct Services 

 

Page 80



Final  

EXETER CITY COUNCIL 

 

EXECUTIVE 

 

11 FEBRUARY 2008 

 

 

DRAFT SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT  

HOUSEHOLDER EXTENSIONS DESIGN GUIDE 

 

 

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval from Executive for the draft 

Householder Extension Design Guide supplementary planning document 

(SPD) to be published for public consultation. The SPD identifies the City 

Council’s requirements in relation to domestic extensions and alterations and 

forms the basis for the determination of planning applications. A copy of the 

proposed draft SPD is at Appendix 1. 

 

2 

 

BACKGROUND 

 

2.1 The Council’s adopted Local Development Scheme, that has been agreed by 

Government Office for the South West, identifies the need for further 

planning guidance to householders with regard to extensions. 

2.2 The Council receives over 500 planning applications per annum for 

householder related development. The majority of these are for extensions to 

houses such as to the rear, side, front or in the roof space. There is a need to 

provide clear guidance to householders on the means of achieving high 

standards of design and preserving residential amenity. 

2.3 The adopted Exeter Local Plan First Review provides the statutory planning 

policy framework. While it contains general policies on design, there are no 

specific policies relevant to extensions. Existing guidance on extensions is in 

the “Design Guide for Extending Your Home” published in February 1993. 

This document needs updating and carries less weight than a formal SPD 

prepared in accordance with the new planning system. 

2.4 The draft SPD has been subject to a sustainability appraisal in accordance 

with the regulations. A consultation statement has also been prepared. Copies 

of these documents are in the Members’ Room. 

 

3 

 

PROPOSED CONSULTATION 

 

3.1 The consultation period will be about 6-8 weeks, the results of which, and the 

proposed response, will be reported to Planning Member Working Group and 

Executive in the Spring with a view to the adoption of the SPD. 

3.2 The consultation will be publicised through the web site, press releases and 

letters to agents, interested organisations (such as the Exeter Civic Society) 

and to those members of the public who have already expressed interest in 

response to advanced publicity. 

  

Agenda Item 7

Page 81



Final  

4 PLANNING MEMBER WORKING GROUP 

 

4.1 On 2
nd
 January 2008, the draft SPD was presented to Planning Member 

Working Group. The feedback was positive and no issues were raised on the 

principles of the SPD, although some minor amendments were suggested.  

The document has subsequently been amended.   

 

5 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

5.1 It is recommended that Executive agree the draft SPD for public consultation. 

 

RICHARD SHORT 

HEAD OF PLANNING SERVICES 

 

ECONOMY AND DEVELOPMENT DIRECTORATE 

 
 

Local Government (Access to information) Act 1985 (as amended) 

Background papers needed in compiling this report: 

None  

Page 82



DRAFT SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT

Householder’s Guide to 

Extension Design

FEBRUARY 2008

Page 83



Page 84



Contents

Foward

Introduction                                                                   

Chapter 1 General Principles                                       

Chapter 2 Rear Extensions and Conservatories                 

Chapter 3 Side Extensions                                               

Chapter 4 Roof Extensions and Alterations        

Chapter 5 Detached Garages and Outbuildings

Appendix - Other Issues

1

2

5

7

9

11

12

Page 85



Forward

Page 86



HOUSEHOLDER EXTENSION DESIGN GUIDE SPD

Introduction

Page 87



INTRODUCTION

1

i) Use materials which relate well to the palette of 

materials in the locality and which reinforce local 

distinctiveness.

DG4: Residential development should:

a) Be at the maximum feasible density taking into 

account site constraints and impact on the local 

area;

b) Ensure a quality of amenity which allows 

residents to feel at ease within their homes and 

gardens;

c) Ensure that the boundaries of private rear 

gardens facing public places are designed to make 

a positive contribution to the townscape;

d) Where front gardens are included provide 

enclosure to create defensible space. 

Status and Purpose

This guide is one of a series of Supplementary 

Planning Documents (SPDs) that form part of 

the Local Development Framework of Exeter. It 

relation to domestic extensions and alterations. 

Extensions, individually and cumulatively, have a 

major impact upon townscape and amenity. No 

proposal is too small to have an impact and the 

high standards of design and amenity. Applicants 

are advised to appoint  an architect or other 

design work.

Local Plan Policies

DG1: Development should:

a) Be compatible with the urban structure of the 

city, connecting effectively with existing routes and 

b) Ensure that the pattern of street blocks, plots 

and their buildings (the grain of development) 

promotes the urban character of Exeter;

c) Fully integrate landscape design into the 

proposal and ensure that schemes are integrated 

into the existing landscape of the city including 

its three-dimensional shape, natural features and 

ecology;

character and which supports urban services;

of uses which work together to create vital and 

viable places;

f) Be of a height which is appropriate to the 

surrounding townscape and ensure that the 

height of constituent part of buildings relate well to 

adjoining buildings, spaces and to human scale;

g) Ensure that the volume and shape (the massing) 

of structures relates well to the character and 

appearance of the adjoining buildings and the 

surrounding townscape;

h) Ensure that all designs promote local 

distinctiveness and contribute positively to the 

visual richness and amenity of the townscape;

Page 88



HOUSEHOLDER EXTENSION DESIGN GUIDE SPD

Chapter 1 

General Principles

Page 89



CHAPTER 1 GENERAL PRINCIPLES

Principle 5 - Privacy 

Extensions should avoid overlooking neighbouring 

properties.

Principle 4 - Natural Light and Outlook

Extensions should not adversely affect the natural 

light and outlook enjoyed by neighbours.

The general principles 1-12 apply to all kinds of 

kinds of extensions can be found in the following 

chapters.  Planning applications which follow the 

principles outlined will normally be successful and 

minimise the time taken to achieve consent.

2

1.1 Introduction

This guide aims to raise the standard of ‘everyday’ 

proposals. There is, therefore, a presumption that 

extensions should harmonise with the character of 

the original building. 

Figure 1.1 Extensions need to harmonise with the 

character of the original building.

Figure 1.3 Terracing can have a detrimental effect on the 

local streetscene. 

Principle 3 - Integrated Design

All elements of the proposal including landscape, 

bin and bicycle storage and security should be 

considered and designed as part of the overall 

scheme from the outset. 

Figure 1.2 The above side extension is successful 

although it is not set below the original ridge or set back 

from the front elevation. 

1.2 Site Appraisal 

The guide is not exhaustive and every site is 

different. Therefore it is important to appraise the 

site thoroughly in order to produce an appropriate 

design solution. Some sites, such as corner plots 

solutions to suit the site circumstances, which may 

not comply with certain principles (Figure 1.2). A full 

explaination of the design approach must be given 

in a design and access statement.

Each application will be considered on its own 

merits. Existing extensions should not be taken as 

precedents for new proposals. 

Principle 6 - Scale

Extensions should be subservient to the original 

house. Proposals to the full width, length and/

or height of the original building are not normally 

acceptable. Extensions should be set below the 

original ridge. and be set back from the front 

    1.3 General Principles 

Principle 1 - Use

Extensions to the main house should not be 

used as separate residential units or businesses. 

Accommodation (except in the case of 

outbuildings) must be connected internally to the 

main house and must not have a separate kitchen 

or staircase.

Principle 2 - Street Scene

Extensions should be in keeping with the character 

and appearance of the local street scene and 

should neither project forward of the front main 

building line nor cause terracing*.

*Terracing refers to two-storey side extensions which 

result in an unacceptable reduction in width or total loss 

of the gap between properties to create the impression of 

a continuous building frontage (Figure 1.3). 

Page 90



HOUSEHOLDER EXTENSION DESIGN GUIDE SPD

Principle 8 – Architectural Details

Architectural details of the main building should 

be protected and repeated in the extension design 

(Figure 1.5). 

Principle 10 - Garden Space

Usable garden space* should not fall below 

55 square metres after the construction of the 

extension.

appearance of the main house in terms of  scale, roof 

form, materials and architectural details such as windows 

and doors.

* Usable garden space is land under the exclusive 

control of the occupier and within the curtilage of the 

dwelling house. It only includes land that has been 

adequately screened, usually to the rear and side of the 

property, and excludes driveways. 

3

Principle 9 - Materials

External materials, and the way they are used (i.e. 

coursing and pointing), should match the original 

house.

Figure 1.6 An example of an extension with a 

contemporary design

1.4 Contemporary Design 

Where a contemporary design is proposed, an 

application should be accompanied by a design 

statement justifying the approach taken and how 

the design, notwithstanding its contemporary 

approach, complies with the principles of 

townscape and amenity (Figure 1.6). The quality 

of the design is paramount to the success of such 

extensions.

1.5 External Works

Works such as decking, patios, boundary walls or 

fences may require planning consent.  Proposals 

will be assessed having regard to natural light, 

overlooking and visual impact. 

Micro-renewables such as solar and photovoltaic 

panels, micro-wind turbines, heat pumps, biomass 

technology and other similar devices may require 

planning permission to install. 

Consult the City Council before commencing any 

work to ascertain whether planning permission is 

needed.

Principle 7 - Roofs 

Roofs should match the main roof in terms of 

shape and pitch (Figure 1.4). 

Figure 1.4 Roofs should match the main roof. 

Principle 11 – Landscape

Extensions should preserve both hard and soft 

landscape features including trees, shrubs, walls 

and railings.

Principle 12 - Security

The security of the extended and adjoining 

properties should not be prejudiced by the design 

of extensions. Security measures should preserve 

the character of the streetscene and the main 

house.

1.6 Crime Prevention 

It is important to consider at an early stage the 

impact the proposal may have on the security of 

the original house and the neighbouring properties. 

Security measures should be unobtrusive and 

designed as an integral part of the overall proposal.  

Opportunities to break in, such as drainpipes 

windows should be avoided.  Front doors should be 

clearly visible from the street to prevent potential 

intruders being hidden from view.

Page 91



CHAPTER 1 GENERAL PRINCIPLES

4

1.7 Permitted Development

This guide deals with developments that require 

planning permission only. There are some minor 

developments that do not require planning 

permission. These are known as permitted 

development (PD). Householders should complete 

proposal is PD or not. The form is available from 

the City Council’s Customer First Service Centre 

or from the Council’s website - www.exeter.gov.uk/

planning.

Our contact details are as follows:

Phone: 01392 ****** or 01392 ******

Fax: 01392 265165

Email: planning@exeter.gov.uk

Address: Development Control Team 

               Planning Services 

               Exeter City Council 

               EX1 1NN

Security advice can be sought from Devon and 

Cornwall Constabulary on their website www.

devon-cornwall.police.uk or telephone 08452

777444.

1.8 Seeking Advice

The City Council offers pre-application advice to 

all householders considering extending or altering 

their properties. The aim is to allow planning 

that will increase the likelihood of approval. The 

the advice will be. 

Page 92



HOUSEHOLDER EXTENSION DESIGN GUIDE SPD

Chapter 2 

Rear Extensions and Conservatories

Page 93



CHAPTER 2 REAR EXTENSIONS AND CONSERVATORIES

5

Note: This chapter should be read in conjunction 

with Chapter 1 General Principles.

Measurements should be taken from the main rear 

wall of the original house. If in doubt about how to 

measure, contact the City Council for advice.

Detached Houses – 3.5m maximum (Figure 2.2)

Figure 2.1 Single-storey rear extensions to terraced and 

semi-detached houses should not exceed 3m in depth.

Figure 2.2 Single-storey rear extensions to detached 

houses should not exceed 3.5m in depth.

2.1 Depth

The Council sets limits to the depth of extensions 

to ensure that they are in proportion with the 

original building and to avoid blocking natural lights 

and outlook to neighbouring properties.

Terraced and Semi-detached Houses - 3.0m 

maximum (Figure 2.1)

likely to have an impact on neighbours than single-

storey ones in terms of natural light, outlook and 

amenity. Therefore in addition to the depth limits, 

the “45 Degrees Rule” is used to assess proposals 

of this kind as indicated in the diagrams below:

1.  Draw lines at 45 degrees from the centre of 

of adjoining properties on an accurate, scaled 

plan

between the lines and the house (Figure 2.3).

2.  Draw lines at 45 degrees from the centre of 

of adjoining properties on an accurate, scaled 

elevation

the space made by the lines (Figure 2.3).

* Habitable rooms include all living rooms, bedrooms 

and kitchens, but exclude bathrooms, WCs or circulation 

space.

Figure 2.3 Two storey rear extensions should comply 

with the rear depth limits and 45 degree rules. 

In case of two-storey extensions, neighbouring 

properties should be clearly shown on both plan 

and elevation drawings, showing the position 

and size of the nearest windows in relation to the 

proposed extension.

1

2

Page 94



HOUSEHOLDER EXTENSION DESIGN GUIDE SPD

6

Figure 2.6 Conservatory with simple roof design 

harmonises with most properties. 

2.4 Conservatories

The criteria for single-storey extensions apply to 

conservatories. The design may need to include 

overlooking.

2.2 Privacy 

Windows should not be placed on side walls 

overlooking neighbouring properties. High level, 

non-opening windows with obscure glass may be 

an acceptable solution in certain circumstances. 

Where windows of the proposed rear extension 

overlook neighbouring properties, a minimum 

distance of 22m between rear facing habitable 

rooms should be maintained (Figure 2.4). 

over a single storey rear extension is likely to harm 

the privacy of neighbours and is not acceptable.

Figure 2.4 A minimum distance of 22m between rear 

facing habitable rooms should be maintained where 

overlooking occurs.

Figure 2.5 The highest part of single-storey rear 

least 200mm.

2.3 Roofs 

For single-storey rear extensions there should be 

a gap of at least 200mm (about 2 brick course) 

between the highest part of the roof of the 

(Figure 2.5). 

If yes is not the answer to all of above questions, 

contact the City Council before submitting an 

application.

2.5 Checklist

List of Material Considerations

 1. Is the extension only to be used 

for purposes ancillary to the 

residential use of the main house?

Yes/No

2. Does the extension comply with 

maximum depth limits?

Yes/No

3. In the case of a two-storey 

extension, does it comply with the 

45 degrees rule?

Yes/No

4. Does the extension preserve 

the natural light and outlook of 

neighbours?

Yes/No

5. Does the extension preserve the 

privacy of neighbours?

Yes/No

6. In the case of a single-storey 

extension, does a gap of at least 

200mm remain between the 

uppermost part of the roof and the 

Yes/No

7. Does the extension match the 

original building in terms of roof 

design, doors, windows and 

building materials?

Yes/No

8. Is there still 55 square metres 

of usable garden space after 

development?

Yes/No

 9. Does the extension preserve the 

security of the neighbours?

Yes/No

image to follow

Page 95



CHAPTER 2 REAR EXTENSIONS AND CONSERVATORIES

Page 96



HOUSEHOLDER EXTENSION DESIGN GUIDE SPD

Chapter 3 

Side Extensions

Page 97



CHAPTER 3 SIDE EXTENSIONS

Figure 3.4 The side walls of the extensions need to be 

parallel to the main houses.

Figure 3.3 Side extensions should not exceed half the 

width of the main house.

 3.2 Proportion

The extension should always allow the original 

structure to stand out as the main building.  The 

width should not exceed half the width of the main 

house (Figure 3.3), the sidewalls should remain 

parallel to the main house (Figure 3.4). 

7

This chapter applies to both single and multi-

extensions over an existing structure such as a 

garage or carport. 

Extensions should not extend beyond the rear 

main wall (Figure 3.3). 

Figure 3.1 Side extensions should leave at least 1m from 

the side boundaries and the front main walls. 

3.1 Position

Extensions should be set back at least 1m from the 

front main wall of the house and be set in at least 

1m from the side boundary (Figure 3.1). 

3.3 Roofs

Single-storey side extensions should leave a gap 

of at least 200mm (about 2 brick course) between 

the highest part of the roof of the extension and the 

Figure 3.2 Side extension should not extend beyond the 

rear main wall. 

Figure 3.5 The highest part of single-storey rear 

least 200mm.

Note: This chapter should be read in conjunction 

with Chapter 1 General Principles.

Page 98



HOUSEHOLDER EXTENSION DESIGN GUIDE SPD

8

If yes is not the answer to all of above questions, 

contact the City Council before submitting an 

application.

3.5 Checklist

Figure 3.6 Traditional vertical timber boarding is 

appropriate for most garage doors.

3.4 Garages and Carports

The criteria for side extensions apply to garages 

and carports. Traditional vertical timber boarding is 

appropriate for most garage doors (Figure 3.6). 

List of Material Considerations

 1. Is the extension only to be used 

for purposes ancillary to the 

residential use of the main house?

Yes/No

2. Does the extension preserve 

daylight and sunlight to the 

neighbours?

Yes/No

3. Does the extension preserve the 

privacy of neighbours?

Yes/No

4. Is the extension set back at least 

1m from the front main wall and 

set in at least 1m from the side 

boundary?

Yes/No

Does the extension preserve the 

streetscene and avoid terracing?

Yes/No

6. Does the extension avoid 

projecting beyond the rear main 

wall?

Yes/No

7. Is the extension no more than half 

the width of the main house?

Yes/No

8. Is the side wall of the extension 

parallel to that of the main house?

Yes/No

 9. In the case of a single-storey 

extension, does a gap of at least 

200mm remain between the 

uppermost part of the roof and the 

Yes/No

10. Does the extension match the 

original building in terms of roof 

design, doors, windows and 

building materials?

Yes/No

11.

of usable garden space after 

development?

Yes/No

12. Does the extension preserve the 

security of the neighbours?

Yes/No

Page 99



CHAPTER 3 SIDE EXTENSIONS

Page 100



HOUSEHOLDER EXTENSION DESIGN GUIDE SPD

Chapter 4 

Roof Extensions and Alterations

Page 101



CHAPTER 4 ROOF EXTENSIONS AND ALTERATIONS

This chapter deals with roof extensions and 

alterations,  including dormer windows and 

changes to the shape of roofs. 

Dormers should be set a minimum of 1m 

(measured vertically) below the ridge level, 1m 

above eaves and 1m from the boundary. For 

gabled roofs, dormers should be set in a minimum 

1m from the edge of the roof (Figure 4.2). 

For hipped roofs, extensions should not come 

within 0.5m of the hip tiles (Figure 4.3).

9

4.1 Position

Dormers should be placed on the rear roof.

A single dormer should be located in the centre 

of the roof face. Where more than one dormer  is

proposed, they must be located symmetrically on 

the roof (Figure 4.1).

4.2 Size and Scale

The size of dormers should be kept to a minimum 

so that the main roof of the house remains the 

dominant feature.  The windows should be clearly 

smaller than the windows on the main wall of the 

house so that scale and proportions are visually 

pleasing (Figure 4.4). 

4.3 Design Details

Flat roof dormers should be avoided.  Dormer 

roofs may be pitched with a gable, or pitched with 

a hipped front. Low arched roofs may also be 

acceptable. Dormer cheeks should generally be 

clad in materials to match the roof (Figure 4.5). 

Figure 4.1 Dormers should be placed on the rear roof 

and appear symmetrical. 

Figure 4.2 Dormers should be set below the ridges, set 

above the eaves and set in from the boundary and the 

edge of the roof. 

Figure 4.3 Dormer windows should be well away from 

the hipped part of the roof.

Figure 4.4 Dormer windows should be smaller than the 

windows on the main wall of the house.

Note: This chapter should be read in conjunction 

with Chapter 1 General Principles.

Page 102



HOUSEHOLDER EXTENSION DESIGN GUIDE SPD

10

Figure 4.5 A range of designs of dormer roofs may be 

appropriate to the character of the main house. 

Figure 4.6 Proposed dormer windows should leave at 

least 22m distance away from the rear habitable rooms 

of the neighbouring properties . 

Roof extensions or alterations to include a balcony 

or roof terrace will not be acceptable where they 

are likely to overlook neighbouring properties. 

    4.5 Alteration to the Roof Shape 

Proposals for altering the shape of roofs will not be 

acceptable (Figure 4.7). 

Figure 4.7 The alteration to the shape of roofs is not 

acceptable (e.g. from hipped roof to gabled roof).

If yes is not the answer to all of above questions, 

contact the City Council before submitting an 

application.

4.6 Checklist

List of Material Considerations

 1. Is the dormer extension on the 

rear roof?

Yes/No

2. Is the dormer at the centre of the 

roof space? Or if two or more 

dormers are proposed, are they 

located symetrically?

Yes/No

3. Do the set-ins and set-backs of the 

dormers meet the City Council’s 

requirements?

Yes/No

4. Does the dormer relate well to the 

original house in terms of scale, 

design details, roof form  and 

materials?

Yes/No

5. Does the dormer window preserve 

the privacy of neighbours?

Yes/No

4.4 Privacy

Where windows of the proposed roof extension 

overlook neighbouring properties, a minimum 

distance of 22m between rear facing habitable 

rooms should be maintained (Figure 4.6).

Page 103



CHAPTER 4 ROOF EXTENSIONS AND ALTERATIONS

Page 104



HOUSEHOLDER EXTENSION DESIGN GUIDE SPD

Chapter 5 

Detached Garages and Outbuildings

Page 105



CHAPTER 5 DETACHED GARAGES AND OUTBUILDINGS

11

If yes is not the answer to all of above questions, 

contact the City Council before submitting an 

application.

Figure 5.2  Double garages should be accessed by two 

separate doors divided by a pier. 

Figure 5.3 The design of detached garages and drives 

should respect the local streetscene.

Figure 5.1 Detached outbuildings should be set back 

at least 1m from the front main building line of the main 

house and at least 1m from the site boundary.

5.3 Checklist

5.1 Location 

Detached garages and outbuildings should be set 

back at least 1m from the front main wall of the 

house and set in from the boundaries by at least 

1m (Figure 5.1).

5.2 Design Details

Detached garages and outbuildings should be 

carefully placed to avoid overlooking. A garage or 

outbuilding may not be acceptable where changes 

normal domestic single storey height. 

Particular care will need to be taken with the design 

of double garages which should be accessed by 

two separate doors divided by a pier (Figure 5.2).

in dark paint or woodstain are appropriate across a 

range of design styles.

Note: This chapter should be read in conjunction 

with Chapter 1 General Principles.

The width of driveways should be kept to a 

minimum to reduce the impact on the streetscene 

and should be surfaced in an attractive material 

which complements the house and its garden.

Enclosure to the street should be maintained by 

walls, railings, gates and planting (Figure 5.3).

List of Material Considerations

 1. Is the detached building only to be 

used for purposes ancillary to the 

residential use of the main house

Yes/No

2. Does the detached building 

preserve daylight and sunlight to 

neighbours?

Yes/No

3. Does the detached building 

preserve the privacy of 

neighbouring properties? 

Yes/No

4. Does the detached building 

preserve the outlook of 

neighbours?

Yes/No

5. Does the detached building relate 

well to the original house in terms 

of design details, roof form and 

materials?

Yes/No

6. Is there still 55 square metres of 

garden after development?

Yes/No

7. If a detached double garage 

is being proposed, would it be 

accessed by two separate doors?

Yes/No

8. Is the proposed driveway 

kept minimum in width and is 

attractively surfaced?

Yes/No

 9. Does the detached building 

preserve the security of the 

neighbours?

Yes/No

Page 106



HOUSEHOLDER EXTENSION DESIGN GUIDE SPD

Appendix - Other Issues

Page 107



APPENDIX - OTHER ISSUES

12

On very rare occasions development can affect 

scheduled monuments and their settings. A 

separate consent is required for this and for ground 

works within central Exeter. Ground works in 

other historic areas can also occasionally affect 

buried remains. Please see the City Council’s 

guidance on Archaeology and Development which 

is available from Customer First Service Cenre or 

from the website - www.exeter.gov.uk/planning.

Conservation Planner (Tel: 01392 265227 or 01392 

265232 or planning@exeter.gov.uk) to ascertain 

whether there are any particular conservation 

area requirements with regard to a proposal. 

All extensions to listed buildings require ‘Listed 

Building Consent’.

No part of the extension including rainwater goods, 

foundations, canopies and overhangs should 

extend beyond site boundaries (Figure A1).  

Other Issues

Important trees need to be protected during 

construction. The Council has produced the 

following documents to assist householders and 

developers to successfully retain trees: Trees and 

development (A Householders Guide) and Trees in 

Relation to Development (Supplementary Planning 

Document).These documents are available from 

the City Council’s Customer First Service Centre 

or from the Council’s website - www. exeter.gov.uk/

planning.

Trees within conservation areas, and trees 

protected by Tree Preservation Orders cannot be 

felled or pruned without the consent of the Local 

Planning Authority. Prior to the design stage, 

contact the City Council’s Landscape and Tree 

planning@exeter.gov.

uk)  to ascertain if any trees within or adjacent to 

the site are protected.

Extensions can provide the opportunity to improve 

a dwelling’s environmental performance by 

applying energy conservation and water recycling 

technologies and by including green roofs and 

green walls where appropriate. Please consult the 

City Council for further information

will require Flood Risk Assessments. For further 

information contact the Environment Agency on 

...... or visit www.environment-agency.gov.uk

A new application is likely to be required for 

changes to an approved design in terms of 

dimensions, external appearance or materials. All 

possible steps should be taken to avoid changes 

to the design of an extension during construction. It 

advisable to seek building regulations approval at 

the same time as applying for planning permission.

Ensure you have consent from Devon County 

Council to store materials and equipment on the 

highway. Please call ...... for further information. 

Figure A1 All parts of the extensions including rainwater 

goods, foundations, canopies and overhangs should be 

kept within the site boundaries.

Planning applications are made by submitting 

other supporting information and documentation 

necessary to process the application, and a fee.

Details of these requirements may be found at 

www.exeter.gov.uk/planning 

Applicants are advised to talk to neighbours before 

submitting a planning application. Consulting 

neighbours at an early stage can save time and 

expense later on by avoiding the need to have 

plans revised. 

Page 108



Page 109



Planning Services

Exeter City Council

Civic Centre

Paris Street, Exeter

EX1 1NN

Tel: 01392 26

Fax: 01392 265165

www.exeter.gov.uk/planning

E-mail: planning@exeter.gov.uk

Page 110



Final 

EXETER CITY COUNCIL 

 

EXECUTIVE 

11 FEBRUARY 2008 

 

 

ADOPTION OF SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE STUDENT 

ACCOMMODATION DEVELOPMENTS IN RESIDENTIAL AREAS 

 

 

1.  PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 

1.1 To consider representations received in relation to the draft Supplementary 

Planning Guidance on Student Accommodation Developments in Residential 

Areas and agree proposed guidance for adoption.   

 

 

2.  BACKGROUND 

 

2.1 In July 2007 the Executive agreed draft Supplementary Planning Guidance on 

Student Accommodation Developments in Residential Areas for public 

consultation.  

 

2.2 The guidance relates to the interpretation of Local Plan Policy H5 in regard to 

the potential over concentration of student accommodation in certain parts of 

Exeter. 

 

2.3 Copies of the SPG were made available at the Civic Centre and on the Council 

Website.  Copies of the SPG were also sent to academic institutions, providers 

of purpose built accommodation, residents’ associations, agents, councillors, 

Devon County Council and Exeter Civic Society. A press release was issued 

and posters were displayed in shops within the areas referred to in the 

guidance. 

 

2.4 Fourteen written comments have been received.  These are available for 

inspection in planning Services.  

 

3.  CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

 

3.1 A schedule of the comments received and the proposed responses is included 

at Appendix 1. 

 

3.2 Of the fourteen representations received, twelve were in general support of the 

guidance although specific reservations were expressed, and two were 

opposed in principle to the guidance.   

 

3.3 Those in general support of the guidance were pleased that the Council were 

attempting to control student accommodation in particular areas of the City. 

Issues of noise, disturbance and parking were often cited in these responses.    

However, concern was expressed as to the effectiveness of the guidance and 

Agenda Item 8

Page 111



Final 

some confusion was apparent in regard to the actual impact of the guidance.  

In particular there was uncertainty as to whether the guidance would affect the 

need for planning permission, when and how strictly it would be applied, and 

whether appeal inspectors would give it weight.   

 

3.4 Whilst the University of Exeter indicates that they fully appreciate that 

pressures of student housing demand on areas within the City are generating 

concerns from residents, they state that, by adding additional constraints, the 

guidance runs the risk of being ‘part of the problem’ rather then a positive 

planning measure.  The University regard the focus on achieving a ‘mixed 

community throughout the year’ as a questionable planning objective that does 

not relate obviously to Policy H5 or national policy guidance.  They believe 

the area boundaries are not robust, do not support the community based 

approach and will require constant review.  The University questions the view 

that 25% or greater student occupation produces an over concentration and 

considers that these are areas close to the campus that have considerable 

merits for student living.  They believe that the guidance is unlikely to have a 

significant real impact on the conversion of terraced dwellings, but could 

preclude some potentially helpful development such as new purpose-built 

accommodation.  Furthermore, by increasing ‘protection’ for particular areas, 

the policy could transfer pressures from one community within Exeter to 

another in an unplanned and unsustainable way.  Accordingly the University 

suggests that the draft SPG is not adopted and that the Council works with the 

University to address the housing needs of the City’s students through the 

provision of managed accommodation around the university and in other 

suitable locations within the City.  The University have also made a number of 

more detailed comments; a proposed response is in Appendix 1. 

 

 

4.  COMMENTS 

 

4.1 It must be recognised that this guidance will not change the requirement for 

planning permission.  It will still be the case that in many circumstances 

planning permission will not be needed for students to live as a single 

household.  

  

4.2 Furthermore it needs to be clear that this guidance does not introduce a new 

policy.  Policy H5 already exists and is used to assess any relevant planning 

application that is submitted. This SPG provides guidance on interpreting 

Policy H5 within particular areas, so that student developments do not 

adversely affect the character of the neighbourhood or create an imbalance in 

the local community.   

 

4.3 The objections raised have been carefully considered.  The importance of 

striking the right balance between planning controls and positive planning 

measures is recognised.  The Council will continue to work closely with the 

University in order to promote positive measures to reduce the conflict 

between students and other Exeter residents.  The Council also recognises that 

the University’s aim to provide housing for all full-time students who want it 

will ease pressure on existing family housing.      

Page 112



Final 

 

4.4 Minor amendments to the nature of the guidance would not address the 

University’s concerns.  The only option to meet the University’s concerns 

would be to abandon the SPG and accept that some areas will become 

increasingly dominated by student accommodation.   

 

4.5 Four correspondents have also suggested amendments to the boundaries of the 

areas covered by the SPG.  However, the level of homes exempt from Council 

Tax due to student occupation does not exceed 25% within these new areas 

and therefore amendment does not appear justified. 

 

4.6 The focus of this guidance is on achieving a mix of uses throughout the year in 

areas that already have a high concentration of student accommodation.  

Whilst it is recognised that there are limitations on the ability of the planning 

system to control the occupancy of properties by students, it is considered that 

this guidance will make a worthwhile contribution to protecting the character 

of those neighbourhoods identified.    

 

4.7 The effectiveness of the SPG will be reviewed with a view to introducing any 

appropriate policies in the Generic Development Control Policies 

Development Plan Document that is due to be prepared from late 2008. 

 

4.8  It is recommended that the proposed SPG be adopted with only consequential 

amendments to reflect its change in status from a draft to adopted advice. A 

copy of the proposed amended SPG is at Appendix 2. 

 

4.9 Planning Member Working Group considered the results of the consultation 

on 2 January 2008.  Members recognised the limited ability of the planning 

system to control some forms of occupation of property.  Officers clarified 

that the advice did also apply to new purpose built student accommodation, 

however there were unlikely to be significant proposals in the defined areas. 

 

5.  RECOMMENDATION 

 

5.1 That Executive adopts the proposed SPG at Appendix 2. 

 

 

 

RICHARD SHORT 

HEAD OF PLANNING SERVICES 

 

ECONOMY AND DEVELOPMENT DIRECTORATE 

 

 
Local government (Access to Information) Act 1985 (as amended) 

Background papers used in compiling this report: 

None 

Page 113



Page 114

This page is intentionally left blank



A
P
P
E
N
D
I
X
 1
 

M
r 
J 
W
 N
ic
h
o
ll
s 

 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
s 
S
P
G
. 
 P
ro
p
o
se
s 
n
o
 m

o
re
 s
tu
d
en
ts
 i
n
 t
h
e 
ar
ea
s 
co
n
ce
rn
ed
, 
n
o
 s
tu
d
en
ts
 c
ar
s 
u
n
le
ss
 o
ff
 r
o
ad
, 
an
d
 l
et
s 
sh
o
u
ld
 

b
e 
ch
ar
g
ed
 a
s 
b
u
si
n
es
s 
ra
te
s.
 

N
o
te
d
, 
a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 t
h
e 
li
m
it
a
ti
o
n
s 
o
f 
th
e 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 s
ys
te
m
 n
ee
d
 t
o
 b
e 
re
co
g
n
is
ed
. 

A
n
d
re
w
 M

o
w
ll
 a
n
d
 B
ri
an
 

G
eo
rg
e 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
s 
S
P
G
. 
 S
h
ar
e 
co
n
ce
rn
 r
eg
ar
d
in
g
 c
h
an
g
es
 t
o
 c
h
ar
ac
te
r 
o
f 
n
ei
g
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s 
an
d
 i
m
p
ac
ts
 o
f 
ca
r 
p
ar
k
in
g
. 

N
o
te
d
. 

B
ri
an
 G
eo
rg
e 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
s 
S
P
G
. 
 S
h
ar
e 
co
n
ce
rn
 r
eg
ar
d
in
g
 c
h
an
g
es
 t
o
 c
h
ar
ac
te
r 
o
f 
n
ei
g
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s 
an
d
 i
m
p
ac
ts
 o
f 
ca
r 
p
ar
k
in
g
 

N
o
te
d
. 

D
r 
D
av
id
 T
re
h
ar
n
e 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
s 
S
P
G
. 
A
re
a 
o
f 
U
n
io
n
 R
o
ad
 a
n
d
 C
u
lv
er
la
n
d
 C
lo
se
 i
s 
o
m
it
te
d
 f
ro
m
 p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
. 
 R
ep
re
se
n
ta
ti
o
n
 i
d
en
ti
fi
es
 

p
ro
b
le
m
s 
o
f 
n
o
is
e,
 l
it
te
r,
 a
n
d
 d
am

ag
e 
to
 c
ar
s.
 A
ls
o
 c
o
n
ce
rn
 e
x
p
re
ss
ed
 r
eg
ar
d
in
g
 e
n
fo
rc
em

en
t 
o
f 
th
is
 g
u
id
an
ce
. 
 

U
n
iv
er
si
ty
 s
h
o
u
ld
 p
la
y
 m

o
re
 p
ro
ac
ti
v
e 
ro
le
 i
n
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
st
u
d
en
t 
ac
co
m
m
o
d
at
io
n
 w
h
ic
h
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e 
ce
n
tr
ed
 a
ro
u
n
d
 

S
tr
at
h
am

 C
am

p
u
s.
  
T
h
is
 i
ss
u
e 
sh
o
u
ld
 b
e 
d
ea
lt
 w
it
h
 a
s 
a 
m
u
lt
i 
ag
en
c
y
 m

at
te
r.
 

T
h
e 
d
a
ta
 o
n
 e
xe
m
p
ti
o
n
 f
ro
m
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 
T
a
x 
d
o
es
 n
o
t 
ju
st
if
y 
a
n
 e
xt
en
si
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e 
S
P
G
 a
re
a
 t
o
 c
o
ve
r 
C
u
lv
er
la
n
d
 C
lo
se
 

a
n
d
 U
n
io
n
 R
o
a
d
. 

T
h
e 
U
n
iv
er
si
ty
 w
il
l 
co
n
ti
n
u
e 
to
 p
la
y 
a
 p
ro
a
ct
iv
e 
ro
le
 i
n
 t
h
e 
p
ro
vi
si
o
n
 o
f 
st
u
d
en
t 
a
cc
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
. 
 

M
r 
M
 H
as
te
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
s 
P
ro
p
o
sa
ls
. 
 A
re
a 
o
f 
U
n
io
n
 R
o
ad
 a
n
d
 C
u
lv
er
la
n
d
 C
lo
se
 o
m
it
te
d
 f
ro
m
 p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
. 
 R
ep
re
se
n
ta
ti
o
n
 i
d
en
ti
fi
es
 

p
ro
b
le
m
s 
o
f 
n
o
is
e,
 l
it
te
r,
 a
n
d
 d
am

ag
e 
to
 c
ar
s.
  
A
ls
o
 c
o
n
ce
rn
 e
x
p
re
ss
ed
 r
eg
ar
d
in
g
 e
n
fo
rc
em

en
t 
o
f 
re
g
u
la
ti
o
n
s.
 

U
n
iv
er
si
ty
 s
h
o
u
ld
 p
la
y
 m

o
re
 p
ro
ac
ti
v
e 
ro
le
 i
n
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
st
u
d
en
t 
ac
co
m
m
o
d
at
io
n
 w
h
ic
h
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e 
ce
n
tr
ed
 a
ro
u
n
d
 

S
tr
at
h
am

 C
am

p
u
s.
  
T
h
is
 i
ss
u
e 
sh
o
u
ld
 b
e 
d
ea
lt
 w
it
h
 a
s 
a 
m
u
lt
i 
ag
en
c
y
 m

at
te
r.
 

T
h
e 
d
a
ta
 o
n
 e
xe
m
p
ti
o
n
 f
ro
m
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 
T
a
x 
d
o
es
 n
o
t 
ju
st
if
y 
a
n
 e
xt
en
si
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e 
S
P
G
 a
re
a
 t
o
 c
o
ve
r 
C
u
lv
er
la
n
d
 C
lo
se
 

a
n
d
 U
n
io
n
 R
o
a
d
. 

T
h
e 
U
n
iv
er
si
ty
 w
il
l 
co
n
ti
n
u
e 
to
 p
la
y 
a
 p
ro
a
ct
iv
e 
ro
le
 i
n
 t
h
e 
p
ro
vi
si
o
n
 o
f 
st
u
d
en
t 
a
cc
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
. 

E
x
et
er
 E
st
at
e 
A
g
en
ts
 

A
ss
o
ci
at
io
n
 C
h
ai
r 
an
d
  

C
ar
d
en
s 
E
st
at
e 
A
g
en
ts
 

O
b
je
ct
s 
to
 S
P
G
. 
 C
o
u
ld
 c
re
at
e 
a 
b
u
b
b
le
 i
n
 t
h
e 
h
o
u
si
n
g
 m

ar
k
et
. 
 S
u
g
g
es
ts
 t
h
at
 h
o
u
se
s 
in
 h
ig
h
 d
en
si
ty
 s
tu
d
en
t 
ar
ea
s 

w
it
h
o
u
t 
th
e 
p
ro
sp
ec
t 
o
f 
st
u
d
en
t 
o
cc
u
p
at
io
n
 w
o
u
ld
 l
o
se
 v
al
u
e.
  
A
 s
ce
n
ar
io
 w
h
er
eb
y
 e
v
er
y
 s
al
e 
in
 t
h
es
e 
ar
ea
s 
w
o
u
ld
 

b
ec
o
m
e 
su
b
je
ct
 t
o
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 p
er
m
is
si
o
n
 b
ei
n
g
 o
b
ta
in
ed
 f
o
r 
st
u
d
en
t 
u
se
 w
o
u
ld
 s
lo
w
 d
o
w
n
 t
h
e 
h
o
u
se
 s
el
li
n
g
 p
ro
ce
ss
. 

It
 i
s 
n
o
t 
co
n
si
d
er
ed
 t
h
a
t 
th
e 
S
P
G
 w
il
l 
h
a
ve
 a
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
im
p
a
ct
 u
p
o
n
 h
o
u
se
 p
ri
ce
s 
a
n
d
 a
s 
th
e 
S
P
G
 w
il
l 
n
o
t 
a
ff
ec
t 

w
h
et
h
er
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 p
er
m
is
si
o
n
 i
s 
re
q
u
ir
ed
 t
h
er
e 
sh
o
u
ld
 b
e 
n
o
 i
m
p
a
ct
 o
n
 t
h
e 
sp
ee
d
 o
f 
h
o
u
se
 s
a
le
s.
  

D
av
id
 R
o
b
er
ts
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
s 
S
P
G
. 
 S
u
g
g
es
ts
 t
h
at
 t
h
er
e 
n
ee
d
s 
to
 b
e 
a 
re
q
u
ir
em

en
t 
ra
th
er
 t
h
an
 g
u
id
an
ce
 i
f 
ai
m
s 
ar
e 
to
 b
e 
fu
ll
y
 e
ff
ec
ti
v
e.
  

W
il
l 
fu
tu
re
 a
p
p
ea
l 
in
sp
ec
to
rs
 t
ak
e 
n
o
te
 o
f 
g
u
id
an
ce
. 

Page 115



N
o
te
d
 –
 T
h
e 
in
tr
o
d
u
ct
io
n
 o
f 
th
e 
S
P
G
 w
il
l 
p
ro
vi
d
e 
g
u
id
a
n
ce
 o
n
 t
h
e 
in
te
rp
re
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 
P
o
li
cy
 H
5
. 
T
h
e 
P
o
li
cy
 

a
p
p
ro
a
ch
 w
il
l 
b
e 
re
vi
ew
ed
 a
s 
p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e 
p
ro
d
u
ct
io
n
 o
f 
th
e 
L
o
ca
l 
D
ev
el
o
p
m
en
t 
F
ra
m
ew
o
rk
. 

M
ik
e 
D
u
g
d
al
e 

C
o
m
m
en
ts
 r
eg
ar
d
in
g
 p
ar
k
in
g
 o
f 
ca
rs
 a
n
d
 q
u
es
ti
o
n
s 
w
h
et
h
er
 i
t 
w
o
u
ld
 b
e 
p
o
ss
ib
le
 t
o
 l
in
k
 t
h
e 
is
su
e 
o
f 
R
es
id
en
ti
al
 

P
ar
k
in
g
 P
er
m
it
s 
to
 t
h
e 
p
ay
m
en
t 
o
f 
C
o
u
n
ci
l 
T
ax
 f
o
r 
a 
g
iv
en
 d
w
el
li
n
g
. 

T
h
e 
E
xe
te
r 
R
es
id
en
ts
' 
P
a
rk
in
g
 S
ch
em
e 
is
 a
d
m
in
is
te
re
d
 b
y 
E
xe
te
r 
C
it
y 
C
o
u
n
ci
l 
o
n
 b
eh
a
lf
 o
f 
D
ev
o
n
 C
o
u
n
ty
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 

–
 p
er
m
it
s 
a
re
 c
u
rr
en
tl
y 
li
m
it
ed
 b
y 
su
p
p
ly
 b
u
t 
a
ll
o
ca
ti
o
n
 c
ri
te
ri
a
 d
o
 n
o
t 
d
if
fe
re
n
ti
a
te
 b
et
w
ee
n
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 
ty
p
es
 o
f 

E
xe
te
r 
re
si
d
en
t.
  
  

D
ia
n
e 
B
o
st
o
n
 a
n
d
 I
an
 

H
o
d
g
so
n
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
s 
p
ro
p
o
sa
ls
 a
n
d
 m

ak
e 
ad
d
it
io
n
al
 s
u
g
g
es
ti
o
n
s 
re
g
ar
d
in
g
 i
n
it
ia
ti
v
es
, 
p
ar
tn
er
sh
ip
 w
o
rk
in
g
 a
n
d
 ‘
p
la
ce
 s
h
ap
in
g
’.
 

N
o
te
d
. 

D
ev
o
n
 C
o
u
n
ty
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
u
g
g
es
ti
o
n
 t
h
at
 t
h
e 
U
n
iv
er
si
ty
 s
ig
n
if
ic
an
tl
y
 i
m
p
ro
v
e 
th
ei
r 
co
m
m
it
m
en
t 
to
 s
u
st
ai
n
ab
le
 t
ra
v
el
. 

N
o
te
d
. 

G
 P
ea
rs
o
n
 

In
te
n
ti
o
n
s 
ar
e 
w
o
rt
h
y
 b
u
t 
to
o
 l
at
e 
an
d
 m

is
d
ir
ec
te
d
. 
 T
h
e 
n
ei
g
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s 
ta
rg
et
ed
 a
re
 a
lr
ea
d
y
 l
o
st
 –
 t
h
e 
n
ee
d
 n
o
w
 i
s 

to
 p
ro
te
ct
 t
h
e 
n
ei
g
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s 
n
ex
t 
in
 l
in
e.
  
T
h
e 
C
o
u
n
ci
l 
n
ee
d
s 
to
 e
n
la
rg
e 
th
e 
ar
ea
s 
su
b
je
ct
 t
o
 r
es
tr
ic
ti
o
n
. 
 S
u
g
g
es
ts
 

th
at
 C
it
y
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 
co
n
te
st
 t
h
e 
U
n
iv
er
si
ty
 e
x
p
an
si
o
n
 o
r 
in
si
st
 t
h
at
 t
h
e 
U
n
iv
er
si
ty
 h
o
u
se
s 
al
l 
o
r 
m
o
st
 o
f 
th
es
e 
n
ew

 

st
u
d
en
ts
 o
n
 i
ts
 c
am

p
u
s.
 

T
h
is
 g
u
id
a
n
ce
 i
s 
fo
cu
se
d
 o
n
 a
ch
ie
vi
n
g
 a
 m
ix
 o
f 
u
se
s 
in
 a
re
a
s 
th
a
t 
a
lr
ea
d
y 
h
a
ve
 a
 h
ig
h
 c
o
n
ce
n
tr
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
st
u
d
en
t 

a
cc
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 –
 t
h
e 
p
ro
p
o
se
d
 g
u
id
a
n
ce
 c
a
n
 b
e 
ju
st
if
ie
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
es
e 
a
re
a
s 
b
u
t 
w
o
u
ld
 n
o
t 
b
e 
so
 w
el
l 
fo
u
n
d
ed
 i
n
 

a
re
a
s 
w
it
h
 l
o
w
er
 c
o
n
ce
n
tr
a
ti
o
n
s 
o
f 
st
u
d
en
ts
. 
 

T
h
e 
U
n
iv
er
si
ty
 w
il
l 
co
n
ti
n
u
e 
to
 p
la
y 
a
 p
ro
a
ct
iv
e 
ro
le
 i
n
 t
h
e 
p
ro
vi
si
o
n
 o
f 
st
u
d
en
t 
a
cc
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
. 
It
 i
s 
n
o
t 
C
o
u
n
ci
l 

p
o
li
cy
 t
o
 c
o
n
te
st
 t
h
e 
ex
p
a
n
si
o
n
 o
f 
th
e 
U
n
iv
er
si
ty
. 
  

K
at
y
 a
n
d
 D
ic
k
 B
ro
w
n
ri
d
g
e 

V
er
y
 m

u
ch
 w
el
co
m
e 
th
is
 n
ew

 i
n
it
ia
ti
v
e.
 I
t 
h
as
 p
ro
v
ed
 e
ff
ec
ti
v
e 
el
se
w
h
er
e 
in
 t
h
e 
co
u
n
tr
y
 a
n
d
 w
e 
lo
o
k
 f
o
rw

ar
d
 t
o
 

th
e 
as
se
rt
iv
e 
m
ai
n
te
n
an
ce
 o
f 
th
e 
b
al
an
ce
 o
f 
o
u
r 
v
er
y
 s
u
cc
es
sf
u
l 
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
. 

N
o
te
d
. 

T
h
o
rn
to
n
 H
il
l 
an
d
 W

es
t 

A
v
en
u
e 
R
A
 (
T
H
W
A
R
A
) 

T
H
W
A
R
A
 f
u
ll
y
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
s 
th
e 
m
ea
su
re
s 
p
ro
p
o
se
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e 
d
ra
ft
 S
P
G
 a
s 
a 
m
ea
n
s 
o
f 
m
ai
n
ta
in
in
g
 a
 m

ix
ed
 

co
m
m
u
n
it
y
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t 
th
e 
y
ea
r 
b
u
t 
su
g
g
es
ts
 ‘
T
h
e 
S
P
G
 s
h
o
u
ld
 i
n
cl
u
d
e 
th
e 
cu
rr
en
t 
B
is
h
o
p
 B
la
ck
al
l 
A
n
n
ex
e 

b
u
il
d
in
g
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e 
P
o
w
d
er
h
am

 C
re
sc
en
t/
B
la
ck
al
l 
R
o
ad
 (
3
1
%
) 
ar
ea
 s
h
o
w
n
 o
n
 t
h
e 
m
ap
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e 
d
ra
ft
 S
P
G
 

d
o
cu
m
en
t 
d
at
ed
 A
u
g
u
st
 2
0
0
7
.’
 

N
o
te
d
. 
T
h
e 
B
is
h
o
p
 B
la
ck
a
ll
 A
n
n
ex
e 
is
 a
 v
a
ca
n
t 
b
u
il
d
in
g
 o
f 
lo
ca
l 
im
p
o
rt
a
n
ce
 a
n
d
 a
 s
u
it
a
b
le
 u
se
 n
ee
d
s 
to
 b
e 
fo
u
n
d
 

to
 e
n
su
re
 t
h
is
 b
u
il
d
in
g
 i
s 
re
ta
in
ed
. 
 A
s 
th
e 
b
u
il
d
in
g
 i
s 
w
el
l 
lo
ca
te
d
 i
n
 r
el
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e 
U
n
iv
er
si
ty
, 
it
 w
o
u
ld
 a
p
p
ea
r 

Page 116



u
n
re
a
so
n
a
b
le
 t
o
 r
u
le
 o
u
t 
st
u
d
en
t 
u
se
. 

U
n
iv
er
si
ty
 o
f 
E
x
et
er
 

T
h
e 
U
n
iv
er
si
ty
 f
u
ll
y
 a
p
p
re
ci
at
es
 t
h
at
 p
re
ss
u
re
s 
o
f 
st
u
d
en
t 
h
o
u
si
n
g
 d
em

an
d
 o
n
 a
re
as
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e 
C
it
y
 a
re
 g
en
er
at
in
g
 

co
n
ce
rn
s 
fr
o
m
 r
es
id
en
ts
. 
 T
h
e 
g
u
id
an
ce
 w
il
l 
n
o
t 
re
m
o
v
e 
th
e 
u
n
d
er
ly
in
g
 n
ee
d
s 
an
d
 d
em

an
d
s 
fo
r 
st
u
d
en
t 

ac
co
m
m
o
d
at
io
n
. 
 B
y
 a
d
d
in
g
 a
d
d
it
io
n
al
 c
o
n
st
ra
in
ts
 w
it
h
o
u
t 
at
te
n
ti
o
n
 t
o
 p
o
si
ti
v
e 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 f
o
r 
st
u
d
en
t 
h
o
u
si
n
g
 n
ee
d
s,
 

th
e 
p
o
li
cy
 r
u
n
s 
th
e 
ri
sk
 o
f 
b
ei
n
g
 ‘
p
ar
t 
o
f 
th
e 
p
ro
b
le
m
’ 
ra
th
er
 t
h
an
 a
 p
o
si
ti
v
e 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 m

ea
su
re
. 
 

It
 i
s 
co
n
si
d
er
ed
 t
h
at
 S
ec
ti
o
n
 2
 o
f 
th
e 
d
ra
ft
 S
P
G
 l
ac
k
s 
an
 e
x
p
la
n
at
io
n
 o
f 
h
o
w
 t
h
e 
ac
k
n
o
w
le
d
g
ed
 g
ro
w
th
 i
s 
to
 b
e 

ac
co
m
m
o
d
at
ed
 i
n
 a
 p
la
n
n
ed
 m

an
n
er
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
cl
u
d
es
 s
o
m
ew

h
at
 a
rb
it
ra
ri
ly
 t
h
at
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 g
u
id
an
ce
 w
o
u
ld
 f
o
cu
s 
o
n
 

o
n
e 
p
ar
ti
cu
la
r 
is
su
e 
–
 t
h
at
 o
f 
ac
h
ie
v
in
g
 ‘
a 
m
ix
ed
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e 
y
e
ar
’.
  
 T
h
is
 s
ee
m
s 
a 
h
ig
h
ly
 q
u
es
ti
o
n
ab
le
 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 o
b
je
ct
iv
e,
 n
o
t 
o
b
v
io
u
sl
y
 r
el
at
ed
 t
o
 t
h
e 
st
at
ed
 o
b
je
ct
iv
es
 o
f 
L
o
ca
l 
P
la
n
 P
o
li
cy
 H
5
 o
r 
to
 n
at
io
n
al
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 

p
o
li
cy
 g
u
id
an
ce
, 
an
d
 t
en
d
in
g
 t
o
 d
is
co
u
ra
g
e 
an
y
 s
ea
so
n
al
ly
 v
ar
ia
b
le
 t
en
u
re
. 
  
  
  

T
h
e 
p
o
li
cy
 w
il
l 
in
 p
ra
ct
ic
e 
af
fe
ct
 o
n
ly
 l
ar
g
e 
p
ro
p
er
ti
es
 a
n
d
 n
ew

 b
u
il
d
 s
ch
em

es
. 
 N
ew

 b
u
il
d
 s
ch
em

es
 o
ff
er
 

o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s 
to
 r
ai
se
 s
ta
n
d
ar
d
s 
o
f 
ac
co
m
m
o
d
at
io
n
 a
n
d
 m

an
ag
em

en
t.
  
A
 p
o
li
cy
 t
h
at
 p
re
cl
u
d
es
 s
u
ch
 d
ev
el
o
p
m
en
t 

b
u
t 
is
 u
n
ab
le
 t
o
 p
re
v
en
t 
fu
rt
h
er
 c
o
n
v
er
si
o
n
 o
f 
te
rr
ac
ed
 h
o
u
si
n
g
 d
o
es
 n
o
t 
se
em

 p
ar
ti
cu
la
rl
y
 u
se
fu
l.
 

F
o
r 
an
y
 p
o
li
c
y
 t
o
 c
ar
ry
 w
ei
g
h
t 
in
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 d
ec
is
io
n
s 
it
 m

u
st
 b
e 
ro
b
u
st
. 
E
st
ab
li
sh
in
g
 a
 r
o
b
u
st
 b
o
u
n
d
ar
y
 i
s 
d
if
fi
cu
lt
 

an
d
 t
h
er
e 
ap
p
ea
rs
 t
o
 b
e 
in
su
ff
ic
ie
n
t 
in
fo
rm

at
io
n
 t
o
 e
n
ab
le
 t
h
e 
C
o
u
n
ci
l 
to
 j
u
d
g
e 
w
h
at
 c
o
n
st
it
u
te
s 
a 
re
as
o
n
ab
le
 

n
u
m
b
er
 o
f 
st
u
d
en
t 
h
o
u
se
s 
in
 a
 p
ar
ti
cu
la
r 
ar
ea
. 
T
h
e 
ju
d
g
em

en
t 
fo
r 
th
e 
p
ro
p
o
se
d
 p
o
li
cy
 h
as
 b
ee
n
 m

ad
e 
o
n
 a
 

p
ro
p
o
rt
io
n
al
 b
as
is
 a
n
d
 a
s 
su
ch
 a
p
p
ea
rs
 t
o
 b
e 
si
m
p
li
st
ic
. 
 T
h
e 
U
n
iv
er
si
ty
 u
rg
es
 t
h
e 
C
o
u
n
ci
l 
to
 f
u
ll
y
 e
x
p
lo
re
 a
ll
 t
h
e 

al
te
rn
at
iv
es
 b
ef
o
re
 d
ef
in
in
g
 f
ix
ed
 a
re
as
 o
f 
co
n
tr
o
l.
 

T
h
e 
w
a
y
 i
n
 w
h
ic
h
 t
h
e 
b
o
u
n
d
ar
ie
s 
o
f 
th
e 
th
re
e 
ar
ea
s 
h
av
e 
b
ee
n
 e
st
ab
li
sh
ed
 i
s 
q
u
es
ti
o
n
ed
 a
s 
th
e
y
 d
o
 n
o
t 
re
p
re
se
n
t 

el
ec
to
ra
l 
w
ar
d
s 
an
d
 t
h
er
e 
ap
p
ea
rs
 t
o
 b
e 
n
o
 c
le
ar
 r
ea
so
n
 f
o
r 
th
ei
r 
d
ef
in
it
io
n
. 
 A
tt
en
ti
o
n
 i
s 
d
ra
w
n
 t
o
 t
h
e 
fa
ct
 t
h
at
 

D
ev
o
n
sh
ir
e 
P
la
ce
 i
s 
n
o
t 
in
cl
u
d
ed
 i
n
 e
it
h
er
 o
f 
tw
o
 a
re
as
 a
n
d
 i
t 
is
 a
sk
ed
 -
 h
o
w
 c
an
 t
h
is
 s
tr
ee
t 
al
o
n
e 
n
o
t 
fo
rm

 p
ar
t 
o
f 

th
e 
ar
ea
 f
o
r 
a 
‘c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 b
as
ed
’ 
p
o
li
c
y
?
 

T
h
e 
U
n
iv
er
si
ty
 q
u
es
ti
o
n
s 
th
e 
as
su
m
p
ti
o
n
 t
h
at
 a
 f
ig
u
re
 o
f 
2
5
%
 o
r 
g
re
at
er
 o
f 
h
o
m
es
 w
it
h
 a
n
 e
x
em

p
ti
o
n
 f
ro
m
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 

T
ax
 d
u
e 
to
 o
cc
u
p
at
io
n
 b
y
 s
tu
d
en
ts
 p
ro
d
u
ce
s 
an
 o
v
er
-c
o
n
ce
n
tr
at
io
n
. 
 I
t 
is
 c
o
n
si
d
er
ed
 t
h
at
 t
h
es
e 
ar
e 
ar
ea
s 
cl
o
se
 t
o
 t
h
e 

u
n
iv
er
si
ty
 t
h
at
 h
av
e 
co
n
si
d
er
ab
le
 m

er
it
s 
fo
r 
st
u
d
en
t 
li
v
in
g
. 
 W

h
er
e 
ar
e 
th
e 
m
o
re
 s
u
it
ab
le
 l
o
ca
ti
o
n
s 
th
at
 s
tu
d
en
t 

d
em

an
d
s 
m
ig
h
t 
b
e 
d
ef
le
ct
ed
 t
o
?
 W

il
l 
th
ey
 b
e 
fu
rt
h
er
 a
w
a
y
 a
n
d
 i
f 
so
 h
o
w
 w
il
l 
th
is
 r
el
at
e 
to
 s
u
st
ai
n
ab
il
it
y
?
 A
n
d
  
- 
Is
 

‘s
p
re
ad
in
g
 t
h
e 
p
ro
b
le
m
s’
 o
f 
st
u
d
en
t 
p
re
ss
u
re
 t
o
 o
th
er
 a
re
as
 p
re
fe
ra
b
le
 t
o
 b
et
te
r 
m
an
ag
em

en
t 
an
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

re
la
ti
o
n
sh
ip
 b
u
il
d
in
g
 w
it
h
in
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 p
re
fe
rr
ed
 l
o
ca
ti
o
n
s.
  
 

It
 i
s 
p
o
in
te
d
 o
u
t 
th
at
 t
h
e 
p
er
ce
n
ta
g
e 
o
f 
h
o
m
es
 e
x
em

p
t 
fr
o
m
 C
o
u
n
ci
l 
T
ax
 i
s 
li
k
el
y
 t
o
 c
h
an
g
e 
o
n
 a
n
 a
n
n
u
al
 b
as
is
 a
n
d
 

as
 s
u
ch
 t
h
e 
p
o
li
c
y
 w
il
l 
re
q
u
ir
e 
co
n
st
an
t 
re
v
ie
w
. 

Page 117



It
 i
s 
co
n
si
d
er
ed
 t
h
at
 T
h
e 
E
x
et
er
 a
n
d
 T
o
rb
a
y
 h
o
u
si
n
g
 M

ar
k
et
 A
ss
es
sm

en
t 
2
0
0
7
 d
o
es
 n
o
t 
p
ro
v
id
e 
re
as
o
n
ab
le
 

ju
st
if
ic
at
io
n
 f
o
r 
su
ch
 a
 p
o
li
cy
. 

T
h
e 
U
n
iv
er
si
ty
 w
o
u
ld
 h
o
p
e 
to
 i
n
cr
ea
se
 t
h
e 
n
u
m
b
er
 o
f 
o
n
-c
am

p
u
s 
b
ed
 s
p
ac
es
 p
ro
v
id
ed
 a
n
d
 w
o
rk
 c
lo
se
ly
 w
it
h
 t
h
e 

C
o
u
n
ci
l 
to
 e
n
su
re
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
p
ri
v
at
el
y
 m

an
ag
ed
 a
cc
o
m
m
o
d
at
io
n
 o
ff
 c
am

p
u
s.
  
T
h
is
 w
il
l 
b
e 
o
f 
b
en
ef
it
 t
o
 l
o
ca
l 

re
si
d
en
ts
 a
n
d
 t
h
e 
lo
ca
l 
h
o
u
si
n
g
 m

ar
k
et
 b
y
 r
ed
u
ci
n
g
 p
re
ss
u
re
 o
n
 t
ra
d
it
io
n
al
 m

ar
k
et
 h
o
m
es
. 
  

P
u
rp
o
se
–
b
u
il
t 
st
u
d
en
t 
ac
co
m
m
o
d
at
io
n
 i
s 
u
n
li
k
el
y
 t
o
 g
iv
e 
ri
se
 t
o
 t
h
e 
sa
m
e 
is
su
es
 a
s 
‘t
ra
d
it
io
n
al
’ 
H
M
O
’s
. 
 A
s 
su
ch
 

th
e 
S
P
G
 s
ee
m
s 
fl
aw

ed
 i
n
 i
ts
 a
im

s 
to
 p
re
v
en
t 
n
ew

, 
ex
te
n
si
o
n
s 
to
 o
r 
co
n
v
er
si
o
n
s 
to
 s
tu
d
en
t 
h
al
ls
. 

F
in
al
ly
 i
t 
is
 s
u
g
g
es
te
d
 t
h
at
 t
h
e 
S
P
G
 i
s 
av
o
id
in
g
 t
h
e 
is
su
e 
o
f 
h
o
w
 a
n
d
 w
h
er
e 
to
 b
es
t 
ac
co
m
m
o
d
at
e 
an
 a
ck
n
o
w
le
d
g
ed
 

d
em

an
d
 f
o
r 
st
u
d
en
t 
ac
co
m
m
o
d
at
io
n
. 
 I
t 
is
 r
ai
si
n
g
 e
x
p
ec
ta
ti
o
n
s 
am

o
n
g
st
 l
o
ca
l 
re
si
d
en
ts
 t
h
at
 s
tu
d
en
t 
d
em

an
d
s 
ca
n
 b
e 

‘c
o
n
tr
o
ll
ed
 o
u
t’
 w
h
er
ea
s 
in
 r
ea
li
ty
 t
h
e
y
 m

u
st
 b
e 
p
ro
p
er
ly
 p
la
n
n
ed
 f
o
r.
  
B
y
 i
n
cr
ea
si
n
g
 ‘
p
ro
te
ct
io
n
’ 
fo
r 
p
ar
ti
cu
la
r 

ar
ea
s 
th
at
 p
o
li
cy
 c
o
u
ld
 t
ra
n
sf
er
 p
re
ss
u
re
s 
fr
o
m
 o
n
e 
co
m
m
u
n
it
y
 w
it
h
in
 E
x
et
er
 t
o
 a
n
o
th
er
 i
n
 a
n
 u
n
p
la
n
n
ed
 w
a
y
. 

 It
 i
s 
re
co
g
n
is
ed
 t
h
a
t 
th
e 
g
u
id
a
n
ce
 w
il
l 
n
o
t 
re
m
o
ve
 t
h
e 
u
n
d
er
ly
in
g
 n
ee
d
s 
a
n
d
 d
em
a
n
d
s 
fo
r 
st
u
d
en
t 
a
cc
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
. 

S
P
G
 w
a
s 
a
d
o
p
te
d
 i
n
 J
u
n
e 
o
f 
th
is
 y
ea
r 
fo
r 
th
e 
‘E
xp
a
n
si
o
n
 o
f 
U
n
iv
er
si
ty
 o
f 
E
xe
te
r’
 i
n
 r
ec
o
g
n
it
io
n
 o
f 
th
e 
si
g
n
if
ic
a
n
t 

ex
p
a
n
si
o
n
 o
f 
a
b
o
u
t 
3
6
%
 i
n
 s
tu
d
en
t 
n
u
m
b
er
s 
o
ve
r 
th
e 
n
ex
t 
1
0
 y
ea
rs
. 
 T
h
e 
S
P
G
 c
o
n
si
st
ed
 o
f 
n
in
e 
g
en
er
a
l 
p
ri
n
ci
p
le
s 

th
a
t 
w
o
u
ld
 g
u
id
e 
fu
tu
re
 s
tu
d
en
t 
a
cc
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
. 
T
h
is
 a
d
o
p
te
d
 g
u
id
a
n
ce
 r
ef
le
ct
s 
th
e 
C
o
u
n
ci
l’
s 
p
o
si
ti
ve
 a
p
p
ro
a
ch
 t
o
 

th
e 
is
su
es
 a
ri
si
n
g
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e 
p
ro
vi
si
o
n
 o
f 
st
u
d
en
t 
a
cc
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 n
ee
d
s 
to
 b
e 
se
en
 i
n
 c
o
n
ju
n
ct
io
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e 

cu
rr
en
t 
p
ro
p
o
se
d
 S
P
G
. 

T
h
e 
C
o
u
n
ci
l 
w
il
l 
co
n
ti
n
u
e 
to
 w
o
rk
 c
lo
se
ly
 w
it
h
 E
xe
te
r 
U
n
iv
er
si
ty
 t
o
 e
n
su
re
 t
h
a
t 
th
e 
n
ee
d
s 
fo
r 
st
u
d
en
t 

a
cc
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 a
re
 m
et
. 
  
  

It
 i
s 
co
n
si
d
er
ed
 t
h
a
t 
th
e 
a
im
 o
f 
a
ch
ie
vi
n
g
 ‘
a
 m
ix
ed
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y 
th
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t 
th
e 
ye
a
r’
 m
a
ke
s 
a
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 

co
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e 
ch
a
ra
ct
er
 o
f 
a
 n
ei
g
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 r
ef
er
re
d
 t
o
 i
n
 P
o
li
cy
 H
5
. 
 A
cc
o
rd
in
g
ly
 i
t 
is
 c
o
n
si
d
er
ed
 t
h
a
t 
th
is
 i
s 

a
 r
ea
so
n
a
b
le
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 o
b
je
ct
iv
e 
fo
r 
S
P
G
. 

T
h
e 
C
o
u
n
ci
l 
re
co
g
n
is
e 
th
e 
li
m
it
a
ti
o
n
s 
o
f 
th
is
 g
u
id
a
n
ce
 b
u
t 
co
n
si
d
er
 t
h
a
t 
it
 w
il
l 
h
el
p
 t
o
 a
d
d
re
ss
 t
h
e 
is
su
e 
o
f 
st
u
d
en
t 

d
ev
el
o
p
m
en
ts
 a
d
ve
rs
el
y 
a
ff
ec
ti
n
g
 t
h
e 
ch
a
ra
ct
er
 o
f 
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
r 
a
re
a
s 
o
r 
cr
ea
ti
n
g
 a
n
 i
m
b
a
la
n
ce
 i
n
 t
h
e 
lo
ca
l 

co
m
m
u
n
it
y.
 

  

 

Page 118



SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE 

STUDENT ACCOMMODATION DEVELOPMENT 

IN RESIDENTIAL AREAS 

FEBRUARY 2008 

Page 119



 SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE 

STUDENT ACCOMMODATION DEVELOPMENTS IN RESIDENTIAL  

AREAS 

1 STATUS OF DOCUMENT 

1.1 This supplementary planning guidance (SPG) was agreed by the Council’s 
Executive on 11 February 2008.  This followed a public consultation on draft 
guidance in Autumn 2007.  A copy of the report to Executive on the results of the 
consultation is at http: 
http://committees.exeter.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.asp?CId=112&MId=1636&Ver=4

2 BACKGROUND 

2.1 The University of Exeter expects to have around 12,000 full-time equivalent 
students in Exeter in 2008/9 on the Streatham and St Luke’s campuses. It expects 
this to increase to some 15,000 students by 2015/6 (See 
http://www.admin.ex.ac.uk/be/estatestrategy.shtml ). 

2.2 About 2,000 of the existing students are assumed to live at home in Exeter or 
nearby, about 4,000 in University controlled accommodation either on or off 
campus and about 6,000 in the private rented sector. There are about 1,200 homes 
in the City that are exempt from Council Tax because they are entirely occupied by 
students. Many of these properties are concentrated in areas close to Streatham 
Campus. 67 of the 102 homes in Victoria Street were exempt from Council Tax in 
April 2007. 

2.3  There are also students in the city associated with other academic institutions. 
Students make up over 10% of the total population, much more in certain areas.

2.4 Local residents frequently express concerns about late night noise and disturbance 
and car parking associated with students. Such problems are however not unique 
to this sector of the population. The presence of a proportion of students can 
contribute to the diversity of local communities. However, there may be occasions 
where there are concentrations in such numbers that may have adverse effects on 
the mix and balance of a community. For example, large numbers of properties 
may be vacant outside of term times. The proposed approach in this guidance is 
justified on grounds of maintaining a mixed community throughout the year rather 
than problems such as noise, rubbish and car parking that are not unique to 
students.

3 PLANNING CONTROLS ON STUDENT ACCOMMODATION 

3.1 There are limitations to the ability of the planning system to control the occupancy 
of properties by students. Up to six people can live in a house as a single 
household without the need for planning permission. The Council cannot control the 
acquisition of homes and their use as student accommodation.

Page 120



3.2 The Council does have planning control over material changes of use of homes to 
other forms of accommodation such as houses in multi occupation (HMOs). These 
may be occupied by students or often other low income or transient people. Only a 
small proportion of HMOs (those that are three or more storeys high, have five or 
more people in one household and share amenities such as bathrooms, toilets and 
cooking facilities) are required by law to be licensed by the Head of Environmental 
Health Services. Licences are granted on the basis of standards relating to issues 
such as safety and cannot be refused on grounds of the concentration in an area. 

3.3 New purpose-built student accommodation is normally in the form of cluster flats 
that share communal kitchen/lounge facilities or studios. These are usually limited 
to occupation by students only and may have lower standards of residential 
amenity than properties designed for longer-term occupation. 

3.4 The development, conversion or extension of ordinary dwellings may be in a form 
that is clearly intended for student use, such as extensions to provide a large 
number of bedrooms, with or without en suite facilities and proposals for very large 
rooms that are capable of future subdivision. 

3.5 Proposals that require planning permission may take the following forms: 
 New developments, extensions or conversions into student hall 

accommodation
 Construction, extension or changes of use to HMO accommodation. 
 New dwellings, conversions or changes of use to dwellings that have an 

internal design that may be intended for student occupation. 
 Extensions of existing dwellings where there is evidence of occupation by 

students.

3.6 Changes of use from family dwellings to student occupation is likely to have most 
impact upon the character and balance of a community because of the loss of other 
age groups as well as the introduction of more students. It is proposed to restrict 
further student accommodation in all these forms in areas where there is 
considered to be an over concentration of students. 

4 POLICY JUSTIFICATION FOR PLANNING CONTROL 

4.1 The law requires that planning decisions be in accordance with the development 
plan unless other material considerations indicate otherwise. The main part of the 
development plan relevant to student accommodation is criterion (b) of policy H5 of 
the adopted Exeter Local Plan. This states: 

H5: THE CONVERSION OF DWELLINGS TO FLATS, SELF-CONTAINED 

BEDSITTERS OR HOUSES IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION AND THE 

DEVELOPMENT OF SPECIAL NEEDS OR STUDENT HOUSING WILL BE 

PERMITTED PROVIDED THAT:

             …. 

 (b) THE PROPOSAL WILL NOT CREATE AN OVER 

CONCENTRATION OF THE USE IN ANY ONE AREA OF THE CITY 

Page 121



WHICH WOULD CHANGE THE CHARACTER OF THE 

NEIGHBOURHOOD OR CREATE AN IMBALANCE IN THE LOCAL 

COMMUNITY;  

           …. 

5 AREA TO BE SUBJECT TO RESTRICTION 

5.1 The Council proposes that, for the purpose of interpreting policy H5(b), the three 
areas on the attached plans have an existing concentration of students such that 
further student accommodation developments would adversely affect the character 
of the neighbourhood or create an imbalance in the local community. All forms of 
additional student accommodation that require planning permission will be resisted 
in these areas. 

5.2 The three areas identified all have over 25% of homes that are exempt from 
Council Tax at April 2007 owing to entire occupation by students. All the areas 
have been subject to concerns expressed by local residents that high numbers of 
students are adversely affecting the community. 

6 FURTHER INFORMATION 

6.1 Further information on planning issues relating to students in Exeter can be found 
in the following report to the Council’s Planning Committee in December 2006: 

http://committees.exeter.gov.uk/Data/Planning%20Committee/20061211/Agenda/$I
tem%2004.doc.pdf

6.2 If you wish to discuss the issues or seek further information please contact: 

Nick Bickford on 01392 265283 or nick.bickford@exeter.gov.uk
Jill Day on 01392 265615 or jill.day@exeter.gov.uk

Page 122



31%

Based upon the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office (c) Crown copyright. 
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or Civil proceedings.

Scale 1:5000                             Crown copyright Exeter City Council 100025345 

Planning Services, Exeter City Council, Civic Centre, Paris Street, Exeter, EX1 1NN

ñ 25/07/2007

% Proportion of student properties exempt from Council Tax (April 2007)

Page 123



57%

Based upon the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office (c) Crown copyright. 
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or Civil proceedings.

Scale 1:5000                             Crown copyright Exeter City Council 100025345 

Planning Services, Exeter City Council, Civic Centre, Paris Street, Exeter, EX1 1NN

ñ 25/07/2007

% Proportion of student properties exempt from Council Tax (April 2007)

Page 124



26%

Based upon the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office (c) Crown copyright. 
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or Civil proceedings.

Scale 1:5000                             Crown copyright Exeter City Council 100025345 

Planning Services, Exeter City Council, Civic Centre, Paris Street, Exeter, EX1 1NN

ñ 25/07/2007

% Proportion of student properties exempt from Council Tax (April 2007)

Page 125



Page 126

This page is intentionally left blank



Final 

EXETER CITY COUNCIL 

 

EXECUTIVE 

 

11 FEBRUARY 2008 

 

REPORT OF PANEL  

DRAFT REGIONAL SPATIAL STRATEGY FOR THE SOUTH WEST 

 

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 

1.1 The Government Office for the South West (GOSW) recently published the 

report of the Panel that conducted the Examination in Public of the Regional 

Spatial Strategy (RSS).  The purpose of this report is to agree a proposed 

submission to GOSW indicating that Exeter City Council has significant 

concerns regarding some of the conclusions and recommendations of the 

Panel. 

 

2 BACKGROUND 

 

2.1 The report of the Panel has not been published for public consultation. 

GOSW will consider the Panel report, the 15,000 representations on the 

original draft RSS and any more recent Government guidance before 

recommending changes to the Secretary of State. The Secretary of State will 

then publish proposed changes to the RSS for public consultation around 

May 2008, prior to finalisation of the RSS towards the end of the year. 

 

2.2 The draft RSS was prepared in early 2006, prior to the publication of 

Department of Communities and Local Government revised 2003-based 

household projections that were the first to fully take account of the results of 

the 2001 Census. The projections indicated a significantly greater need for 

additional housing from 23,000 to 28,000 per annum (a 22% increase) 

throughout the South West. 

 

2.3 The Panel report has attempted to respond to the greater housing requirement 

by recommending increasing the level of housing required for the period 

2006-2026 in virtually all areas, including the Exeter housing market area 

(which covers Exeter, Teignbridge, East Devon and Mid Devon). The extent 

that it has been able to make recommendations for changes to the strategy in 

some locations has been limited by the available evidence before it.  

 

2.4 A more detailed briefing note on the Panel report was considered by Planning 

Member Working Group on 5 February and is attached. 

 

3 KEY CONCERNS 

 

3.1 The City Council is concerned that the final RSS should provide an 

appropriate framework for the proper planning of the City and its housing 

market area (HMA) and that it should provide a clear long term context for 

growth to enable authorities to proceed with Local Development 

Agenda Item 9

Page 127



Final 

Frameworks. The Council has key concerns that the Panel report lacks a clear 

long term strategy for growth in the Exeter HMA.  It will require early 

reviews of development plans, hinder long term planning and provide 

uncertainty over future infrastructure requirements. 

 

 

3.2 

Shortfall in recommended housing provision 

The 2003-based household projections identify a requirement for a further 

11,779 dwellings in the Exeter housing market area in excess of the proposals 

that the Panel recommends (these total 46,900). The Panel note that not 

meeting this demand will result in increased housing stress but consider 

meeting the shortfall should be a matter for an early review. This level of 

unmet need is significantly higher than anywhere else in the South West. 

Decisions concerning if and where this requirement is to be met will be 

critical to the future planning of infrastructure. 

 

 

3.3 

Lack of conclusions on a strategy for further strategic growth 

In considering the potential for further growth in the Exeter HMA, the Panel 

recognise that ‘The further expansion of the city is constrained by 

topography, flood plains and environmental factors on the north, west and 

south…it is inevitable that the further strategic growth at the city should be 

on the southern and/or eastern side.’ (para 4.4.9). However, the Panel also 

concluded that the area around junction 30 and the A30 / junction 29 corridor 

were not practical alternatives for further strategic growth. The Panel also 

identified the problems of greater dispersal of growth to surrounding towns. 

The Panel recommends that housing requirements in rural areas be increased 

by about 15% throughout the South West to reflect the locally generated 

element of the revised projections for household growth. There is substantial 

in commuting to Exeter and the towns have limited potential for employment 

growth. The Panel believes that greater growth outside the major centres 

would conflict with the distribution of job growth, therefore exacerbating 

commuting – the main policy thrust of the RSS is therefore to direct 

development to major centres.. The Panel describe growth at Exeter as a 

dilemma that should be a matter for the next review which will need to 

consider how or if further growth can be reconciled with the threat of 

additional commuting in the housing market area (para 4.4.32). 

 

 

3.4 

Unrealistic proposed second new community 

The Panel does make a recommendation for a second new community of 

3,000 homes before 2026 and more thereafter in the area north of Cranbrook, 

which is understood to include inalienable National Trust land. This proposal 

does not appear to have been discussed at the Examination, lacks an evidence 

base and may well be undeliverable.  It also appears to be an unnecessary 

restriction on the area of search to have ruled out any location which may 

impact on Junctions 29 or 30 or on the A30, particularly as this second new 

community will in fact impact on Junction 29. 

 

3.5 The effect of these factors is that no realistic proposals are made for about a 

quarter of the identified housing need in the Exeter HMA. In view of the lack 

of an evidence base to enable the Secretary of State to make proposals to 

remedy this deficiency, an early review seems inevitable. Its timing should be 

Page 128



Final 

such as to enable local planning authorities to proceed with their existing 

development plan documents to enable the requirements that have been 

identified to be delivered. 

 

3.6 The Panel report has not been published for public consultation. There is no 

formal opportunity to make representations to GOSW at this stage of the 

process. GOSW is likely to respond that any letter cannot be considered as 

part of the process. Nevertheless, in view of the importance of the issues, it is 

recommended that a letter be sent to GOSW outlining the City Council’s 

concerns. 

 

4 RECOMMENDATION 

 

4.1 That Exeter City Council writes to the GOSW outlining its significant 

concerns about the Panel report as outlined in section 3. 

 

 

 

JOHN RIGBY 

DIRECTOR ECONOMY & DEVELOPMENT 

 
Local Government (Access to Information) 1985 (as amended)  

Background Papers used in compiling the report:- 

Draft Regional Spatial Strategy for the South West: Panel report (December 2007) 

Page 129



Page 130

This page is intentionally left blank



Final 

EXETER CITY COUNCIL 

 

PLANNING MEMBER WORKING GROUP 

5 FEBRUARY 2008 

 

SOUTH WEST REGIONAL SPATIAL STRATEGY 

PANEL RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

 

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT 

  

1.1 To advise Members of the recommendations of the Panel that held the 

Examination in Public of the Regional Spatial Strategy 

  

2 KEY ISSUES 

  

 Exeter Area 

 

2.1 Provision for housing in the Exeter Area increases from 18,500 dwellings in 

the draft RSS to 24,000 dwellings as follows: 

 

Location Proposal Change 

Exeter 12,000 + 1,000 

Cranbrook (East Devon) 7,500 + 1,000 

Pinhoe Urban Extension 

(East Devon) 

1,000 + 500 

South of Alphington 

(Teignbridge) 

500 - 

Second New Community 

(East Devon) 

3,000 + 3,000 

Total Change  + 5,500 

 

  

2.2 The Panel rejects further diversification to surrounding towns (other than that 

required to meet local needs) due to the impact on commuting, rejects further 

concentration at Exeter because of environmental impacts, and rejects 

development close to Junction 30 because of the flood plain constraint and 

because of pressure on the junction. 

Page 131



  

2.3 In particular, the Panel recognises that Exeter is constrained by topography, 

flood plains and environmental factors to the north, west and south and that 

further strategic growth should be on the southern and/or eastern side of the 

City.  

  

2.4 The proposal for a second new community north of Cranbrook was not 

discussed at the EIP.   

  

2.5 The provision above, together with provision in the remainder of East Devon 

plus Mid Devon and Teignbridge, results in a shortfall with the 2003 DCLG 

projections for the Exeter HMA of 11,700 dwellings.  The Panel recommends 

that this should be the subject of the next RSS review.   

  

2.6 The total employment land provision for the Exeter Area is 160 hectares.  

The draft RSS provision of 40 hectares in Exeter and 100 hectares adjacent to 

the City to be allocated between Exeter and East Devon remains unchanged.  

The draft RSS included reference to 20 hectares to be allocated between 

Exeter, East Devon and Teignbridge in area of search K to the east and south 

of the City but this was interpreted as forming part of the 100 hectares. The 

Panel make clear that this is an additional provision. 

  

2.7 The Panel draw attention to the need for the planning of the Exeter area to 

reflect the needs of existing activities such as the University and the airport. 

  

2.8 Emphasis is also placed on the need to stimulate employment development, 

including as part of mixed development, in the city centre to take advantage 

of the availability of sustainable modes of transport. 

  

2.9 The list of highway infrastructure proposed in the draft RSS for the Exeter 

area is confirmed but reference is added, in line with representations by the 

Highways Agency, to the need for further segregated links across the 

motorway to link the growth areas and the City. 

  

 Development at the SSCTs 

  

2.10 The Panel sets out a hierarchy for the SSCTs that recognises their function 

and characteristics.  Exeter is listed along with the majority of the main urban 

areas, such as Swindon, Gloucester and Bournemouth, as “sub regional focal 

points for economic growth” but below Bristol which is described as 

“Regional centre and major European city” and Plymouth which is described 

as “the economic hub for the far south west”.   

  

 Transport 

 

2.11 The main points are: 

 

 • Priority should be given to the consideration of the benefits of 

congestion charging at Exeter (as well as Bristol, Plymouth, and 

Bournemouth/Poole) – the Panel believe that this may be needed in 

Page 132



response to the rate of development at Exeter and the pressure on the 

urban core. 

• New policy on joint working with the Highways Agency to manage 

demand in a way that minimises congestion on the trunk road network 

while meeting the requirements for development.   

• Regional Assembly to set parking standards to deal with the provision 

of parking associated with new development.   

• Local authorities, working collectively and with transport providers and 

stakeholders, to prepare a transport strategy for each SSCT. 

 

• The “transport corridor approach” in the draft RSS to be widened to 

take “a more strategic and multi-modal approach” – in particular the 

Panel advocate “investment in connectivity” which recognises and 

seeks to manage all the elements that impact on the transport system in 

each strategic corridor e.g. road improvements, rail investment and 

proposals for each SSCT.  In this regard the strategic importance of the 

Exeter to London via Bristol corridor is highlighted, given that it 

includes eight SSCTs that will have important implications for the 

effectiveness of the M4 and M5.  The policy guidance includes the need 

for improvements in the vicinity of M5 junctions 29 and 30 and the 

provision of enhanced segregated crossings of the M5 at Exeter.   

 

• Integrated land use and transport proposals for each SSCT are 

considered vital not only for the areas themselves but also to ensure the 

viability of the transport corridor.   

 

• The Panel also draw attention to the “connectivity” on the Exeter to 

London via Salisbury line in respect of the dependency of the new 

station at Cranbrook (that will serve the new community and the 

proposed second new community) on the achievement of increased 

frequency of service through the provision of passing loops.  

 

• The growth of Exeter airport, as set out in the Air Transport White 

Paper, is supported. 

 

• The need to safeguard rail interchange facilities through the East Devon 

Local Development Framework is reaffirmed. 

  

 Housing 

 

2.12 The draft RSS requirement that 30% of housing should be affordable is 

revised to require that “at least 35% of all housing development annually 

across each local authority area and Housing Market Area to be affordable, 

with authorities specifying rates of 60% or higher in areas of greatest need”. 

  

2.13 The minimum target density of 30 dwellings per hectare with a target of 40 

dwellings per hectare averaged across all new housing provision in each 

Page 133



HMA is maintained but the target at each SSCT is amended from at least 50 

dwellings per hectare to 40-50 dwellings per hectare with higher densities in 

the most sustainable locations.  The target for planned urban extensions at the 

SSCTs is revised from 50 dwellings per hectare or more overall to 40-50 

dwellings per hectare or more overall.   

  

 Environment 

 

2.14 The draft RSS required level 5 of the Code for Sustainable Homes to apply 

across the board for larger scale development.  SWRA then revised this 

element of the policy to require a phased approach to implementation, 

starting at level 4 and rising to level 6 by 2016 for the largest scale 

developments (over 50 dwellings). 

  

2.15 Participants at the Examination were concerned that this policy would 

effectively advance the Code at a faster rate than proposed under Building 

Regulations.  However following advice from GOSW the Panel concluded 

that there was merit in having a single regime that applies across the region 

as a whole, rather than a fragmented approach with each LPA setting its own 

and potentially different standards. Accordingly the Panel endorsed the 

revised policy. 

  

2.16 The original test of the policy on renewable energy required sufficient on-site 

renewables to reduce emissions by 10%.  SWRA then revised this policy to 

require sufficient on-site renewable energy to reduce CO2 emissions by the 

equivalent of 20% of regulated emissions.  The Panel Report endorses this 

approach.   

  

 Economy 

 

2.17 A new policy is added to set out the spatial plan for the economy.  This 

includes the aim to guide investment to the main urban areas, promote 

innovation, and support the development of science parks, innovation centres 

and incubator units through the identification and safe-guarding of sites.   

  

2.18 In view of the limited guidance in the draft RSS and the range of, often 

conflicting, employment studies, further work is recommended to provide a 

sub-regional framework for the provision of employment land. 

  

2.19 Pending this work, the employment policies in the draft RSS are consolidated 

with the addition of a requirement to identify a twenty year supply of 

employment land, including strategic sites.   

  

2.20 The Panel, similarly, remark on the lack of guidance on the provision of 

office floorspace in the draft RSS but conclude that they do not have the 

information to provide that guidance.  Further work is recommended for the 

next review.  The text and policy on town centres is, however, amended to 

specifically promote office development and to require out of town 

development to be assessed in terms of the sequential approach and any 

detriment to more central locations.    

Page 134



2.21 The Panel also note the lack of guidance on retail provision and propose 

further work to provide a hierarchy based distribution. In this respect the 

Panel comment that the hierarchy noted above (which places Plymouth above 

all other centres except Bristol) would provide a reasonable starting point for 

this work.   

  

2.22 Further work is also required on tourism.  The policy is amended to support 

“iconic” tourism attractions at the SSCTs.   

  

 Implementation Plan 

  

2.23 The Panel recommend that “time lines” showing the key stages and dates 

leading to the commencement of development within each of the areas of 

search for urban extensions be included in the Implementation Plan. 

  

2.24 Further work is also recommended in the form of a systematic evaluation of 

infrastructure bids and priorities to inform infrastructure policy formulation 

and the related identification of time scales and delivery mechanisms in the 

Implementation Plan.   

  

3 NEXT STEPS 

  

3.1 The recommendations of the Panel will now be considered by Government 

Office South West and proposed changes will be published in the Spring.  

There will then be a 12 week consultation period. 

  

3.2 The Council’s Local Development Framework will aim to implement the 

policies and proposals of the RSS as they affect Exeter.  The Core Strategy 

has been prepared in line with the draft RSS.  It will be revised and submitted 

to the Secretary of State when there is sufficient certainty on the final content 

of the RSS.  

  

4 RECOMMENDATION 

  

4.1 Members are requested to note the content of this report.  

  

 

 

 

RICHARD SHORT 

HEAD OF PLANNING SERVICES 

 

ECONOMY AND DEVELOPMENT DIRECTORATE 

  

 

Page 135



Page 136

This page is intentionally left blank



EXETER CITY COUNCIL 

 

EXECUTIVE 

11 FEBRUARY 2008 

 

AUTHORISED SIGNATORIES FOR COUNCIL AND JOINTLY FUNDED 

AFFORDABLE HOUSING SCHEMES INVOLVING THE HOUSING 

CORPORATION’S INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 

 

1 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

 

1.1 To agree signatories to enable the Council to administer, validate and authorise the 

payment of Other Public Subsidy (OPS), Social Housing Grant (SHG) and 

Transitional Local Authority Social Housing Schemes (TLASHG), to Registered 

Social Landlords (RSLs) and developers through the Housing Corporation’s online 

Investment Management System (IMS).   

 

2 BACKGROUND 

 

2.1 Where the Council is funding or supporting affordable housing through an RSL or 

developer, either by way of capital funding or free or discounted land/property, it is 

sometimes required to validate schemes and authorise expenditure via the Housing 

Corporation’s Investment Management Computer System (IMS). Signatories, 

renewable on an annual basis, are needed for these purposes. The signatories were last 

approved for the period 2007/08 at Executive on 23 January 2007. Due to changes in 

the funding regime, the signatories should be approved for the remainder of this 

financial year. 

 

2.2 The IMS system also requires an authorised administrator able to designate users. 

 

2.3 The IMS system is an essential tool for monitoring expenditure and progress on 

affordable housing schemes in the city. 

 

3 PROPOSAL 

 

3.1 That the Council appoint signatories to authorise and validate claims from RSLs and 

developers for OPS, SHG and TLASHG during the financial year 2008/09 and the 

remainder of 2007/08, agree an authorised administrator for IMS and arrangements for 

facilitating monitoring. 

 

4 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

 

4.1 If the Council does not validate and approve claims, as required, it may find itself 

liable to meet them from its reserves. 

 

5 RECOMMENDED 

 

1) that the following officers be designated as authorised signatories for the 

purposes set out in paragraphs 1 and 2 and that the Housing Corporation be 

informed. 

Agenda Item 10

Page 137



 

All Financial Grant Claims Head of Treasury Services (Andrew Stark) or 

  Service Finance Manager (Brenda Steer) 

  Strategic Housing Manager (Ron Mayers) 

  

Scheme-work Approvals Head of Housing Services (Steve Warran  

  Strategic Housing Manager (Ron Mayers) or 

  Housing Enabling Manager (David Gibbens) or 

Housing Enabling Officers (Gary Stenning and 

Bryony Stevens) 

 

Monitoring As per scheme-work approvals plus Strategy and 

Enabling Assistant (Duncan Brownlie) 

 

(2) that the Strategic Housing Manager (Ron Mayers) be designated as Systems 

Administrator for these purposes on the IMS Computer System 

 

HEAD OF HOUSING SERVICES 
 

S:LP/Committee/208EXEC1 

30.1.08 

COMMUNITY & ENVIRONMENT DIRECTORATE 

 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 (as amended)  

Background papers used in compiling this report: 
 

None 

 

 
 

Page 138



EXETER CITY COUNCIL 

 

EXECUTIVE 

11 FEBRUARY 2008 

 

COUNCILLORS’ ALLOWANCES 2008/09 

 

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 

1.1 To consider the report and recommendations of the Independent Panel on Members’ 

Allowances in relation to Councillors’ allowances for 2008/09 and to consider the 

future membership and remuneration of the Panel. 

 

2 BACKGROUND 

 

2.1 The Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2001 and 2003 

require Councils to establish and maintain an Independent Remuneration Panel to 

provide the local authority with advice on its scheme of members’ allowances and 

recommend the amounts to be paid. 

  

2.2 The Panel, comprising representatives of the business and voluntary sectors, met on 

12 December 2007 and on 16 January 2008.  All Councillors were invited to respond 

to a survey inviting their views on general and specific aspects of the allowances 

scheme.  This was followed by seventeen face-to-face and telephone interviews 

between Panel members and Councillors, giving Councillors a further opportunity to 

express their views on the scheme.  

 

2.3 The Panel’s report is attached at Appendix I.  In arriving at its recommendations, the 

Panel reflected on the principles and methodology set out in the earlier report of the 

independent adviser on members’ allowances submitted to the Council in March 

2001. They were also aware of the report of the Councillors Commission – 

“Representing the Future” on the incentives and barriers to becoming a Councillor. 

The Commission has put forward 61 recommendations, covering a wide range of 

issues. The Panel gave particular consideration to those relating to allowances for 

Councillors and took the opportunity to explore particular issues with Councillors in 

the interviews.  

  

2.4 In accordance with the Regulations, a notice was published in a local newspaper 

setting out the Panel’s recommendations and notifying the public that copies of their 

report were available for inspection at the Civic Centre and on the Council’s website.  

 

3 RECOMMENDATIONS OF INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL 

 

3.1 The Independent Remuneration Panel has made the following recommendations to 

Council in respect of members’ allowances for 2008/09, that:- 

 

(1) the basic structure of the current members’ allowances scheme be retained for 

2008/09, pending a more fundamental review in the following year; 

 

Agenda Item 11

Page 139



(2) the basic allowance continue unchanged in 2008/09, updated for inflation 

using the index previously agreed; 

 

  (3) a Special Responsibility Allowance of 25% of the basic allowance be 

introduced for the independent Chair of the Standards Committee with effect 

from 1 April 2008; 

 

(4) subject to updating for inflation, the other Special Responsibility Allowances 

continue unchanged; 

 

(5) the principle that any member qualifying for more than one Special 

Responsibility Allowance is paid the higher allowance only should be retained; 

 

(6) for the year 2008/09 Councillors’ basic and Special Responsibility Allowances 

should be updated in line with the annual local government staff pay award for 

the previous year; 

 

  (7)  the Council request a further report on the implications and benefits of 

allowing Councillors to joint the LGPS and give further consideration to the 

Panel’s recommendation to extend the opportunity to all Councillors;   

 

(8) the travel and subsistence allowances provisions for staff continue to apply to 

Exeter City Councillors, where appropriate; 

  

(9) the current Dependants’ Carers’ Allowance scheme be maintained and the 

level of allowance, currently £5.52 per hour, continue to be linked to and 

updated in line with the minimum wage; and 

 

 (10) the co-optees’ allowance payable to the co-opted member of the Standards 

Committee continue at £25 per session for 2008/09. 

  

4 MEMBERSHIP AND REMUNERATION OF INDEPENDENT PANEL 

 

4.1 The Independent Remuneration Panel was established in 2001 and, with the exception 

of the current voluntary sector representative who was appointed in December 2005, 

the three other members of the panel have not changed since that time. Whilst the 

commitment and experience of the Panel members is acknowledged and greatly 

appreciated by the Council, it is considered best practice that the Panel is refreshed at 

intervals. Current practice in most authorities is to appoint members for a fixed term, 

normally 4 years. It is proposed that the existing Panel members should be requested 

to serve for one further year in order to complete the review exercise which they have 

commenced this year. Two new Panel members should then be sought, through public 

advertisement, to replace two existing members for the 2009/10 year and two in the 

subsequent year. 

 

 

 

Page 140



 4.2 A payment of £25 per session is payable to members of the Independent 

Remuneration Panel in respect of expenses. This rate was approved when the Panel 

was established in 2001.  It is proposed that the rate is reviewed in line with the 

overall review of the 2009/10 scheme.   

 

5 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 

5.1 The cost of the proposed allowances scheme for 2008/09 is £251,403. A budget of 

£250,860 has been included in the estimates for 2008/09, subject to approval by 

Council on 19 February 2008.   The scheme recommended by the Panel for 2008/09 is 

attached at Appendix 2 to this report. 

 

6  RECOMMENDED:- 

 

(1) That the Independent Remuneration Panel’s recommendations as set out in paragraph 

3 above are considered and an appropriate recommendation made to Council.   

 

(2) That the membership of and expenses payable to the members of the Independent 

Remuneration Panel be reviewed as set out in the report. 

 

 

 

ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 

 

 
18 January 2007 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1972 (as amended) 

Background papers used in compiling this report:- 

 

Report of the Independent Adviser on Members’ Allowances, March 2001 

 

  

 

 

Page 141



Page 142

This page is intentionally left blank



           Appendix 1 

 

 

EXETER CITY COUNCIL 

 

Report of the Independent Remuneration Panel 

on Councillors’ Allowances for 2008/09 

12 December 2007 

 

1 Introduction 

 

1.1 The Independent Remuneration Panel met on 12 December 2007 and 16 January 2008 

to consider Exeter City Council’s Members’ Allowances scheme for 2008/09. The 

Panel comprises: 

 

 Ian McGregor (Chair) - business sector representative 

 Peter Lacey - business sector representative 

 Derek Phillips – business sector representative 

 Elizabeth Hubbick – voluntary sector representative  

 

1.2 Bindu Arjoon (Assistant Chief Executive), Rowena Whiter (Member Services 

Manager) and Sharon Sissons (Member Services Officer) provided the Panel with 

general advice and support.  

 

1.3 The Panel’s deliberations related to the following main areas as required by the Local 

Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003: 

 

 (i) the structure of the scheme and the level of basic allowances  

 (ii) special responsibility allowances 

 (iii) updating of allowances 

 (iv) pensions 

 (v) travel and subsistence allowances 

 (vi) the Dependants’ Carers’ scheme 

 (vii) co-optees’ allowances 

 

1.4 In considering the existing Members’ Allowances Scheme for 2007/08, the Panel had 

been mindful of Exeter City Council’s submission for Unitary Status and had 

anticipated the need for a fundamental review of Councillors Allowances in the lead 

up to the establishment of the new Council.  They were aware of the Government’s 

subsequent decision to put Exeter’s case on hold, pending a referral to the Boundary 

Committee for England, seeking a solution for the whole of Devon including 

Plymouth and Torbay. The Panel felt, nevertheless, that a more in-depth review of the 

scheme should be undertaken over the next year, including the principles on which it 

was originally based, in order to fairly reflect the changed role and responsibilities of 

councillors in the present day. In the meantime a survey of Exeter City Councillors 

was conducted as detailed below. 

 

 

 

Page 143



 

2. Methodology 

 

2.1  Reference was made to The Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) 

Regulations 2001 and 2003 and the Office of the Deputy Prime Minister’s Guidance 

on Consolidated Regulations for Local Authority Allowances.    

 

2.2 The Panel examined the results of the 2006/07 regional survey undertaken by the 

South West Provincial Employers which provided useful benchmarking information 

relating to similar types and sizes of authority. They also noted the report of the 

meeting of the Chairs of Independent Remuneration Panels in the region which 

highlighted good practice. 

 

2.3 Pending a more fundamental review next year, a survey was conducted on behalf of 

the Panel inviting Councillors to comment on a number of specific aspects of the 

allowances scheme as well as providing any general comments. Twenty-two responses 

were received. The survey was followed up with a number of one-to-one interviews 

between the Panel members and seventeen Councillors representing a cross-section of 

the Council. 

  

2.4 Discussions with Councillors were wide-ranging and views were diverse. A number of 

the issues raised extended beyond the remit of the Remuneration Panel but were 

clearly of importance to Councillors and significant in terms of their ability to 

undertake their roles effectively. Panel members reported on the broad themes that 

emerged to the Assistant Chief Executive who will consider them for appropriate 

action in due course. 

  

3. Councillors’ Commission Report – Representing the Future  

 

3.1 The Panel was aware of the recent publication of the Councillors’ Commission report 

– Representing the Future. The Commission had been tasked with looking at the 

incentives and barriers for attracting a wide range of people to become local 

government Councillors. Over 61 recommendations had been made in the report 

aimed at local authorities, the government and political parties and the Government’s 

response was awaited. The proposals covered a broad range of issues and the Panel 

were mindful of those recommendations relating specifically to Councillors’ 

allowances in their deliberations on the scheme. 

 

4. Structure of scheme and basic allowances 

 

4.1  The formula for calculating allowances was developed in 2001 based on the advice of 

an independent consultant.  This was calculated on an assumed number of days work 

(4 per month) undertaken by Councillors on Council business, which equated to 32 

hours per month. From this was deducted a proportion (one third) of the total number 

of days to reflect an assumed voluntary element to the work.  

 

 

 

 

Page 144



4.2 On the evidence of the survey and follow-up interviews, the Panel noted that the 

average number of hours estimated by Councillors to be spent each month on Council 

business was now in the region of 65 - roughly twice the amount of time assumed 

when the original formula was agreed. Even accepting a possible increase in workload 

over the last year resulting from the Council’s proposals for unitary status, this 

represented a very significant increase in hours, which the Panel felt required further 

exploration. For many councillors, case work appeared to be the most time-consuming 

element of their work.  

 

4.3 Concern about loss of earnings, career opportunities and impact on job security 

emerged as a strong theme, particularly amongst younger councillors. A number felt 

that the current scheme did not adequately compensate for these factors and precluded 

a broader range of candidates coming forward. The majority of Councillors accepted 

that it was right to have a voluntary element to the allowances but there was some 

discussion around the appropriate proportion for the voluntary element of the work. 

Strong views were also expressed about “professionalising” Councillors. The Panel 

planned to give these issues further consideration prior to next year’s review. 

  

4.4 Whilst minded to undertake a more fundamental review of the scheme, including a 

review of the original formula on which allowances are based, the Panel were 

conscious that these figures were based on estimated rather than recorded time and 

were also reflective of the experiences of only around half of the members of the 

Council. They recommended therefore that a more fundamental review be deferred 

until next year and that in the meantime efforts be made to obtain a more accurate 

analysis of councillors’ responsibilities using more consistent methodology. 

 

4.5 The Panel noted that the basic structure of the scheme had attracted no adverse 

comment from either the public or Councillors.  The current allowances appeared to 

be in line with those paid by authorities of a comparable size and type. The Panel 

agreed that there was merit in the recommendation of the Councillors’ Commission 

for the development of a national framework of guiding principles for members’ 

allowances schemes which would specify a national minimum basic allowance for 

each type and size of authority.  

 

4.6 Taking account of these various factors the Panel recommended that the current 

structure of the scheme and the level of the basic allowance should continue for the 

forthcoming year on the current basis pending a more fundamental review of the 

scheme, including the formula on which it should be based, next year. Clarification of 

what the basic allowance was intended to cover should also be agreed. 

 

Recommendation 1: 

 

That the basic structure of the current members’ allowances scheme be retained 

for 2008/09, pending a more fundamental review in the following year.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 145



 

Recommendation 2: 

 

That the basic allowance continue unchanged in 2008/09, updated for inflation 

using the index previously agreed. 

 

5. Special Responsibility Allowances 

 

5.1 At their meeting the previous year, the Panel had considered the impact of the 

Licensing Act 2003 which had transferred responsibility for alcohol licensing from the 

Magistrates Court to local authorities. The Panel resolved to keep under review the 

workload on Councillors emanating from the change. 

  

5.2  The Panel noted that the number of Licensing Sub-Committee meetings over the 

period 1 December 2006 to 30 November 2007 had continued to decline in 

comparison with the previous year. Whilst acknowledging the time commitment 

required of members by the licensing legislation, it still remained considerably less 

than that required of the members of the Planning Committee which met roughly 

monthly and had longer meetings. On this basis the Panel did not consider it 

appropriate to pay a Special Responsibility Allowance to Licensing Committee 

members but considered it appropriate to retain for the time being the payment of an 

allowance to the Chair of the Licensing Committee in view of the additional 

responsibilities of that position. 

 

5.3 The South West regional analysis indicated that the majority of Councils pay the 

Chairs of their Standards Committees, and in some authorities the members, a Special 

Responsibility Allowance. In the South West, there was significant variation with 

allowances ranging from £624 to £5767 per annum for Chairs of the Committee and 

between £100 to £2010 for co-optees and independent members.  In this respect 

Exeter City Council appeared to be out-of line in paying a flat rate of £25 per meeting 

to the two independent members of the Committee.  The workload of the Committee 

was likely to increase significantly with effect from April 2008 from which time the 

Standards Board for England would be referring all cases for determination to local 

Standards Committees.  The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 

would also require the Committee to be chaired by an independent member.  In view 

of the extended role and responsibilities of the Committee, the Panel recommend the 

payment of a Special Responsibility Allowance equivalent to one quarter of the basic 

allowance to the independent Chair of the Standards Committee with effect from 

April 2008, subject to review in the forthcoming year.  

 

5.4 The Panel agreed on the need to keep under review the levels of all Special 

Responsibility Allowances paid by the Council to ensure that they remained reflective 

of the responsibilities of the positions. With this in mind, they requested an analysis of 

the role and responsibilities of these positions to inform their review in 2009/10. With 

regard to the current year, the Panel considered that the existing structure and level of 

the Special Responsibility Allowances remained appropriate at present, subject to the 

introduction of an allowance for the independent Chair of the Standards Committee.  

The Panel also endorsed the principle that any member qualifying for more than one 

Special Responsibility Allowance should be paid the higher allowance only. 

Page 146



 

Recommendation 3: 

 

  That a Special Responsibility Allowance of 25% of the basic allowance be 

introduced for the independent Chair of the Standards Committee with effect 

from 1 April 2008. 

 

  Recommendation 4: 

 

That, subject to updating for inflation, the other Special Responsibility 

Allowances remain unchanged. 

 

Recommendation 5: 

 

That the principle that any member qualifying for more than one Special 

Responsibility Allowance is paid the higher allowance only should be retained. 

 

6. Updating of allowances 

 

6.1 In 2004 the Panel had reviewed the mechanism by which the allowances were updated 

annually. They had proposed that the link with the mean male non-manual wage as set 

out in the annual New Earnings Survey was no longer appropriate for a number of 

reasons and the Council had agreed that this should be abandoned and a link 

established in future years with the annual local government staff pay award for the 

previous year.    

  

6.2 The Panel considered whether this link, as opposed to the Retail Price Index or other 

factor, remained appropriate. They recognised that it reflected wages in the relevant 

sector as well as being transparent and easily understood.  Furthermore, linking the 

allowances to the settlement agreed in the previous year also ensured that the 

additional resources would generally be known in good time for the formulation of the 

budget. They recommended that this link should be retained for the current year.  They 

noted that the award applicable to the 2008/09 Councillors’ Allowances scheme was 

2.475%. 

 

Recommendation 6: 

 

For the year 2008/09, Councillors’ basic and Special Responsibity Allowances 

should be updated in line with the annual local government staff pay award for 

the previous year. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 147



7. Pensions 

 

7.1 The Panel were reminded that the Local Government Act 2000 and subsequent 

regulations make provision for the payment of pensions to Councillors and the role of 

the Independent Remuneration Panel in deciding who may be eligible for membership 

of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). The Council can only make 

membership of the pension scheme available to those elected members who are 

recommended for membership by the Independent Remuneration Panel, but the 

Council can decide not to offer membership to some or all of the recommended 

Councillors. 

 

7.2 At their meeting in December 2003 and in subsequent years the Panel had 

recommended that the opportunity to join the LGPS should be extended to all 

Councillors and that benefits should be based on both basic and special responsibility 

allowances. They were disappointed that the Council had not accepted their 

recommendations. The Panel noted the recommendation of the Councillors’ 

Commission that all Councillors should be entitled to access to the local government 

pension scheme. 

   

7.3 Whilst fully endorsing the view expressed by a number of Councillors that 

remuneration should not be the primary motivational factor, the Panel strongly 

reiterated their support for creating a package of measures that might encourage 

people from across a broad spectrum of the community to consider standing for 

Council and remove potential barriers. This would ultimately further enhance the 

diversity and quality of Councillors. They were aware of the difficulty already 

experienced in attracting candidates who would maintain the high calibre of existing 

Councillors, which they felt the community had the right to expect. The Panel felt that 

a pensions facility would be of particular benefit to Councillors who, for a variety of 

reasons, had not had the opportunity to build up contributions in other pension 

schemes, including those whose potential earnings may have been restricted by their 

Council commitments through loss of earnings or career prospects.  The decision of 

individual Councillors on whether to join the pension scheme was entirely voluntary.  

 

7.4 For these reasons, the Panel, once again, strongly recommended the Council to extend 

to all Councillors the opportunity to join the LGPS.   

  

 Recommendation 7: 

 

 That the Council request a further report on the implications and benefits of 

allowing Councillors to join the LGPS and give further consideration to the 

Panel’s recommendation to extend the opportunity to all Councillors.   

 

8. Travel, Subsistence and other Allowances 

 

8.1 Section 8 of the Local Authorities (Members Allowances) (England) Regulations 

2003 had formalised the provisions relating to the payment of travel and subsistence 

allowances to Councillors and had specified the particular purposes for which they 

could be claimed. 

 

Page 148



8.2 The Panel noted that the general principles applying to the receipt of travel, 

subsistence and other allowances by Councillors were the same as those for staff of 

the Council.  Reasonable expenses incurred in respect of travel outside the City, meals 

and accommodation will be reimbursed subject to appropriate documentary evidence 

being produced.  

 

 Recommendation 8: 

 

That the travel and subsistence allowances provisions for staff continue to apply 

to Exeter City Councillors, where appropriate. 

  

9.  Dependants’ Carers’ Allowance  

 

9.1 The Panel noted that Section 7 of the Local Authorities (Members Allowances) 

(England) Regulations 2003 had formalised the provisions for the payment to 

Councillors of a Dependants’ Carers’ Allowance in respect of such expenses of 

arranging for the care of their children or dependants as are necessarily incurred and 

had specified the particular purposes for which this could be claimed. 

 

9.2 They considered that the current Dependants’ Carers’ Allowance Scheme accorded 

with the regulations and remained a good scheme. The level of the allowance 

appeared to be in line with that paid by similar authorities and the Panel considered 

that this should continue to be linked to the minimum wage.  

 

 Recommendation 9: 

 

That the current Dependants’ Carers’ Allowance scheme be maintained and that 

the level of allowance, currently £5.52 per hour, continue to be linked to and 

updated in line with the minimum wage.   

 

10. Co-opted members 

 

10.1 The payment of allowances to co-optees has been formalised by Section 9 of The 

Local Authorities (Members Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003.  

 

10.2 The Panel had recommended that a Special Responsibility Allowance be paid to the 

independent Chair of the Standards Committee to reflect the responsibilities of the 

post. They considered at present that the payment of the allowance of £25 per session 

should be retained for the other co-optee(s) for 2008/09.  

 

Recommendation 10: 

  

That the co-optees’ allowance payable to the co-opted member of the Standards 

Committee continue at £25 per session for 2008/09. 

 

 

Ian McGregor, Chair 

The Independent Remuneration Panel for Exeter City Council 

January 2008 

Page 149



Page 150

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 

 

 

 
 

 

   EXETER CITY COUNCIL 

 

   MEMBERS ALLOWANCES SCHEME 2008/2009 

 

 

Proposed allowances payable with effect from 1 April 2008 

 

 

Basic Allowance payable to all Councillors - £4430 per annum      

 

*Special Responsibility Allowances:- 

 

 

 

08/09 

£ 

 

Leader (basic x 300%) 13,290  

Other Executive members with portfolios  

(basic x 150%) (x 5) 

  6,645 each 

Other  Executive members without portfolios (basic x 50%) 

 (x 3)  

  2,215 each 

Chairs of Scrutiny Committees (basic x 100%)  (x 3)   4,430 each 

Chair of Planning Committee (basic x 100%) 

(x 1) 

  4,430  

Chair of Licensing Committee (basic x 50%) (x 1)   2,215  

Independent Chair of Standards Committee (basic x 25%) (x 

1) 

  1,108  

 

 * any member qualifying for more than one special responsibility allowance is paid 

the higher allowance only 

 

Dependants’ Carers’ Allowance 

 

An allowance in line with the minimum wage (currently £5.52 per hour) is payable to 

Councillors whilst on “approved duties”, in accordance with the agreed scheme (see 

Appendix attached) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

April 2008 

 

Page 151



 

 

 Exeter City Council 

 

 Dependants’ Carers’ Allowance Scheme 

  

 

An allowance of up to £5.52 per hour (pro rata for part of an hour) may be claimed in 

respect of expenses incurred by a Councillor when a carer for a dependent has been 

engaged to enable a councillor to carry out an approved duty.  

  

A carer will be any responsible person who does not normally live with the councillor 

as part of that councillor’s family. 

 

An allowance will be payable if the dependant being cared for: 

• is a child under the age of 14 

• is an elderly person; or 

• has a recognised physical or mental disability 

 

who normally lives with the councillor as part of that councillor’s family and should 

not be left unsupervised. 

 

Qualifying duties are defined as meetings of the Council, its Committees and Sub-

Committees, training events, briefings and such other duties as are specified by the 

relevant regulations*. 

 

For meetings or duties within the Council’s boundaries, the allowance will be paid for 

the duration of the meeting or otherwise approved duty plus an allowance for up to 

one hour’s total travelling time before and after the meeting.  

 

The actual cost of care will be reimbursed, up to a maximum of £5.52 per hour. 

 

This allowance will be updated annually in line with the minimum wage. 

 

 

*Payment of allowance will be made under the powers of Section 100 of the Local 

Government Act 2000 and Section 7 of Part 2 of the Local Authorities (Members 

Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003. 

 

 

 

 

 

April 2008 

 

Page 152


	Agenda
	3 General Fund Revenue Estimates and Capital Programme 2008/09 to 2010/11(Minute 14)
	Estimates Report App 1
	Estimates Report App 2
	Estimates Report App 3
	Estimates Report App 4
	Estimates Report App 5 GF
	Estimates Report App 5 HRA
	Estimates Report App 6
	Estimates Report App 7

	4 Annual Investment Strategy 2008-2009 (Minute 15)
	5 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (Minute 16)
	Prudential Indicators

	6 Review of the Council's General Policy in respect of Health and Safety at Work (Minute 17)
	Review of Health and Safety at Work Policy Appendix 1
	Review of Health and Safety at Work Policy Appendix 2

	7 Draft Supplementary Planning Document - Householder Extensions Design Guide (Minute 18)
	Householder Extension Design Guide

	8 Adoption of Supplementary Planning Guidance - Student Accommodation Developments in Residential Areas (Minute 19)
	SPG Student Accommodation in Residential Areas Appendix 1
	SPG Student Accommodation in Residential Areas Appendix 2

	9 Report of Panel - Draft Regional Spatial Strategy for the South West (Minute 20)
	Draft Regional Spatial Strategy for the South West Appendix 1

	10 Authorised signatories for affordable housing schemes (Minute 21)
	11 Councillors Allowances 2008/09 (Minute 22)
	Councillors Allowances 08-09 Appendix1
	Councillors Allowances 08-09 Appendix2


